UNIVERSITÉ DU QUÉBEC À TROIS-RIVIÈRES

ÉTUDE DES PROPRIÉTÉS RHÉOLOGIQUES, THERMIQUES ET MÉCANIQUES DES NANOCOMPOSITES PRÉPARÉS À PARTIR DE POLYACRYLAMIDE/HYDROXYPROPYLE GAUR/OXYDE DE GRAPHÈNE, ET LEURS APPLICATIONS DANS LA RÉCUPÉRATION AMÉLIORÉE DU PÉTROLE

INVESTIGATION OF RHEOLOGICAL, THERMAL, AND MECHANICAL PROPERTIES OF NANOCOMPOSITES PREPARED FROM POLYACRYLAMIDE/HYDROXYPROPYL GAUR/GRAPHENE OXIDE, AND THEIR APPLICATIONS IN ENHANCED OIL RECOVERY

THÈSE PRÉSENTÉE COMME EXIGENCE PARTIELLE DU DOCTORAT EN SCIENCES DE L'ÉNERGIE ET DES MATÉRIAUX

> PAR AMIR NARIMANI

> > JUILLET 2022

## Université du Québec à Trois-Rivières

Service de la bibliothèque

## <u>Avertissement</u>

L'auteur de ce mémoire, de cette thèse ou de cet essai a autorisé l'Université du Québec à Trois-Rivières à diffuser, à des fins non lucratives, une copie de son mémoire, de sa thèse ou de son essai.

Cette diffusion n'entraîne pas une renonciation de la part de l'auteur à ses droits de propriété intellectuelle, incluant le droit d'auteur, sur ce mémoire, cette thèse ou cet essai. Notamment, la reproduction ou la publication de la totalité ou d'une partie importante de ce mémoire, de cette thèse et de son essai requiert son autorisation.

## UNIVERSITÉ DU QUÉBEC À TROIS-RIVIÈRES

## DOCTORAT EN SCIENCES DE L'ÉNERGIE ET DES MATÉRIAUX (PH. D.)

# **Direction de recherche :** Directeur de recherche Adam Duong Jury d'évaluation de la thèse : Directeur de recherche Adam Duong Phuong Nguyen-Tri Président de jury Samaneh Shahgaldi Évaluatrice interne

Mohammad Behnood

Thèse soutenue le 8 juin 2022.

Évaluateur externe

"Energy is this invisible link that connects everything;

the materials provide us the evidence".

-DuongLab

#### Summary

With the continuous rise in energy demand and decline in conventional reserves, the oil industry is constantly in searching for inventive and novel approaches to optimize hydrocarbon recovery. Oil enhance recovery (EOR) is one of the most important methods to increase the capacity of oil production in the energy sector. One of the EOR methods is polymer injection. Indeed, a gel polymer system can avoid water production by obstructing the high permeability zones and diverting to the low permeability zones in the reservoir. As well, owing to the slow movement of this sort of gel, it can be employed as a viscosity modifier for oil displacement by soaring the viscosity of the fluid, which helps to decrease the mobility ratio. Gel polymer with a suitable viscosity is a key function in EOR applications. This allows the potential to seal problem zones that are producing excess water, even when the fractures conducting water have narrow apertures. By preventing water production, the gel system developed here can effectively delay water loading, thereby avoiding the abandonment or installation of expensive equipment with increased operational costs. This research intended to develop and alter polymer gel chemistry in the reservoir. The new gellant formulation and systems should be able to pass through the narrow fracture apertures and effectively seal the fractures connected to water sources, and also be able to displace the oil to the front. Polyacrylamide (PAM), partially hydrolyzed polyacrylamide (HPAM), and hydroxypropyls gaur (HPG) as polymer solution along with chromium (III) acetate as a crosslinker is often used in EOR applications. However, these polymer gel systems show low viscosity and thermal instability, at high temperatures. Therefore, graphene oxide (GO) can be added to the polymer solution to enhance the properties of gel polymer systems.

The first stage of this study is to enhance the thermal stability and rheological properties of semiinterpenetrating polymer network (IPN) hydrogel. This novel hydrogel is based on partially hydrolyzed polyacrylamide/hydroxypropyl guar (HPAM/HPG) nanocomposite reinforced with graphene oxide (GO) at high temperatures. The morphological observations by scanning electron microscopy were presented in conjunction with the electrical conductivity and rheological properties of HPAM/HPG/GO nanocomposites. FTIR spectra of the IPN nanocomposite hydrogels revealed interactions of GO with HPAM/HPG chains. The IPN nanocomposite hydrogels showed high viscosity stability, and also had higher thermal stability and flow activation energy as compared to IPN hydrogel without GO. The conductivity of nanocomposites was enhanced by increasing the GO concentration up to 0.1 wt.%. But, the effect of GO was not noticeable by further increasing its concentrations. The complex viscosity was increased by increasing the GO contents.

The second stage of this research is to investigate the synthesis of novel graft copolymer nanocomposite based on hydroxypropyl guar (HPG) graft acrylamide (AM) and 2-acryloamido-2-methyl propane sulfonic acid (AMPS) which was reinforced with graphene oxide (GO), and its suitability for the development of the copolymer-based hydrogel systems by chromium triacetate crosslinker to use in oil recovery applications. Therefore, the effect of the incorporation of synthesized GO on the rheological behaviour of the nanocomposite hydrogel system in terms of viscoelastic behavior, long-term aging, viscosity loss, and thermal stability have also been investigated to determine the flow behavior in the reservoir. Finally, the affecting of the graft copolymer nanocomposite and cross-linker concentrations on viscosity, storage modulus, and strength of the hydrogel system were evaluated to determine an optimum gel formation in electrolyte media and EOR application. The original contributions to knowledge from this research are 1) development of new IPN hydrogel which enhanced oil recovery, 2) formulation of new synthesized graft copolymer nanocomposite hydrogel, which was improved by the dispersivity of the GO into the graft copolymer and to develop the hydrogel system, as well as resistance to salinity and temperature, and 3) a better understanding of the mechanisms contributing to the nanocomposite hydrogel in chemical flooding.

**Keywords:** Rheological behavior, graphene oxide, enhanced oil recovery, graft copolymer nanocomposite, polymer gel system.

#### Résumé

Avec l'augmentation continue de la demande en énergie et la diminution des réserves conventionnelles, l'industrie pétrolière est constamment à la recherche d'approches innovantes et nouvelles pour optimiser la récupération des hydrocarbures. La récupération améliorée du pétrole (EOR) est l'un des moyens les plus importants d'augmenter la capacité de production de pétrole dans le secteur de l'énergie. L'une des méthodes EOR est l'injection de polymère. En fait, un système gel-polymère peut empêcher la production d'eau en bloquant les zones à haute perméabilité et en la détournant vers les zones à faible perméabilité du réservoir. De plus, en raison du mouvement lent de ce type de gel, il peut être utilisé comme modificateur de viscosité pour le transfert d'huile, en augmentant la viscosité du fluide, ce qui contribue à réduire le taux de mobilité. Les polymères de gel de viscosité appropriée sont une fonction clé dans les applications EOR. Cela permet de bloquer les zones problématiques qui produisent un excès d'eau, même lorsque les fractures conductrices d'eau ont des pores étroits. En empêchant la production d'eau, le système de gélation développé ici peut effectivement retarder le chargement de l'eau, évitant ainsi l'abandon ou l'installation d'équipements coûteux avec des coûts d'exploitation accrus. Le but de cette étude était de développer et de modifier la chimie du gel polymère dans le réservoir. Les nouvelles formulations et systèmes de gellane doivent être capables de traverser des pores de fractures étroits et de sceller efficacement les fractures reliées aux sources d'eau, ainsi que de transporter le pétrole vers l'avant. Le polyacrylamide (PAM), le polyacrylamide semi-hydrolysé (HPAM) et l'hydroxypropyl guar (HPG) en solution polymère avec de l'acétate de chrome (III) comme réticulant sont souvent utilisés dans les applications EOR. Cependant, à des températures élevées, ces systèmes de gel polymère présentent une faible viscosité et une instabilité thermique. Pour augmenter les propriétés des systèmes de gel polymère, l'oxyde de graphène (GO) peut être ajouté aux mélanges.

La première étape de cette étude consiste à augmenter la stabilité thermique et les propriétés rhéologiques des hydrogels à réseau de polymères semi-réticulés (IPN). Ce nouvel hydrogel est à base de nanocomposite semi-hydrolysé polyacrylamide / hydroxypropyl guar (HPAM / HPG) graphène oxyde (GO). Des observations morphologiques par microscopie électronique à balayage concernant la conductivité électrique et les propriétés rhéologiques des nanocomposites HPAM /HPG/GO ont été présentées. Les spectres FTIR des hydrogels nanocomposites IPN ont montré des interactions GO avec les chaînes HPAM / HPG. Les hydrogels nanocomposites IPN ont montré une stabilité de viscosité plus élevée ainsi qu'une stabilité thermique et une énergie d'activation du flux par rapport aux hydrogels IPN sans GO. La conductivité des nanocomposites a augmenté avec l'augmentation du pourcentage de GO à 0.1wt. %. Cependant, l'effet de GO n'était pas significatif au-delà de 0.1wt.%. La viscosité complexe est augmentée avec l'augmentation du pourcentage de GO.

La deuxième phase de cette recherche est l'étude de la synthèse d'un nouveau nanocomposite copolymère greffé à base de liaisons hydroxypropyl guar (HPG) acrylamide (AM) et acide 2-acryloamido-2-méthylpropane sulfonique (AMPS) renforcées par de l'oxyde de graphène (GO), et son aptitude au développement de systèmes hydrogels à base de copolymères par liant triacétate de chrome pour une utilisation dans des applications de recyclage d'huile. Par conséquent, l'effet de l'intégration de GO synthétisé sur le comportement rhéologique du système d'hydrogel nanocomposite en termes de comportement viscoélastique, de vieillissement à long terme, de perte de viscosité et de stabilité thermique a également été étudié pour déterminer le comportement d'écoulement dans le réservoir. Enfin, l'effet du nanocomposite de copolymère lié et de la concentration de liaisons croisées sur la viscosité, le module de stockage et la résistance du système d'hydrogel pour déterminer la formation de gel optimale dans l'environnement électrolytique et l'application de l'EOR ont été évalués.

Les contributions originales aux connaissances issues de cette recherche sont 1) le développement d'un nouvel hydrogel IPN qui améliore la récupération du pétrole, 2) la formulation d'un nouvel hydrogel nanocomposite de copolymère greffé synthétisé qui est amélioré par dispersivité du GO dans le copolymère greffé et de développer le système hydrogel, ainsi que la résistance à la salinité et à la température, et 3) une meilleure compréhension des mécanismes contribuant de l'hydrogel nanocomposite dans les *flooding* chimiques.

**Mots clés :** Comportement rhéologique, oxyde de graphène, récupération améliorée du pétrole, nanocomposite de copolymère greffé, système de gel

## Table of contents

Summary	iv
Résumé	vii
Table of contents	X
List of tables	xiii
List of charts	xiv
List of schemes	XV
List of figures	xvi
List of abbreviations	xix
Achievements as a Ph. D student	xxi
Acknowledgment	xxiii

## Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1.	Introduction	2
1.2.	Enhanced oil recovery	4
1.3.	Gel polymer injection	6
1.4.	Hydrogel system in EOR applications	8
1.5.	Effective parameters in hydrogel injections	9
1.5.1.	Polymer behavior in porous media	9
1.5.2.	The reservoir permeability	9
1.5.3.	Rheological behavior and shear stability	10
1.5.4.	Polymer molecular weight	11
1.5.5.	Salinity	12
1.6.	Polymer materials in hydrogel system	13
1.6.1.	Partially hydrolyzed polyacrylamide	14
1.6.2.	Polysaccharides	16
1.7.	Preparation of hydrogel system by interpenetrating polymer network and graft copolymerization method	17
1.8.	Hydrogel nanocomposite and nanotechnology	20
1.9.	Graphene oxide	23
1.10.	Project overview	25
1.11.	References	28

Chapter 2:	Materials and methods	
2.1.	Materials and methods	39
2.2.	Chemicals and reagents	39
2.3.	Experimental procedure	39
2.3.1.	Preparation of (HPAM/HPG/GO) IPN nanocomposite hydrogels	39

2.3.2.	GO preparation	40
2.3.3.	Synthesis of the HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO	40
2.3.4.	Preparation of nanocomposite hydrogel	42
2.4.	Equipment and characterization used	42
2.4.1.	Fourier transform infrared (FTIR)	42
2.4.2.	X-ray diffraction (XRD) characterization	42
2.4.3.	Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA)	42
2.4.4.	Morphological characterization	42
2.4.5.	Rheological measurements	43
2.4.6.	Aging effect	43
2.4.7.	Electrical characterization	43

#### Chapter3: Rheological and thermal stability of interpenetrating polymer network hydrogel based on polyacrylamide/hydroxypropyl guar reinforced with graphene oxide for application in oil recovery

3.1.	Introduction	45
3.2	Objectives	45
3.3.	Article 1: Rheological and thermal stability of interpenetrating polymer network hydrogel based on polyacrylamide/hydroxypropyl guar reinforced with graphene oxide for application in oil recovery	47
3.4.	Author's contribution	48
3.5.	Conclusion	75

Chapter 4: Synthesis and preparation of poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO nanocomposites hydrogel as a rheology modifier and fluid loss controller for use in oil well cementing

4.1.	Introduction	77
4.2.	Article 2: Synthesis and preparation of poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO nanocomposites hydrogel as a rheology modifier and fluid loss controller for use in oil well cementing	78
4.3.	Author's contribution	79
4.4.	Supporting information	117
4.5.	Conclusion	122

Chapter 5:	Synthesis, characterization, and rheological behavior of H (AM-co-AMPS)/GO nanocomposite hydrogel system for recovery	PG graft poly enhanced oil
5.1.	Introduction	124
5.2.	Article 3: Synthesis, characterization, and rheological behavior of HPG graft poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO nanocomposite hydrogel system for enhanced oil recovery	125
5.3.	Author's contribution	126
5.4.	Conclusion	166

## Chapter 6: Conclusions and perspectives

6.1.	Conclusions	168
6.2.	Perspectives	172

## List of tables

Chapter 1:	Introduction	
Table 1.	Classification of EOR technologies	5
Chapter 3:	Article 2: Synthesis and preparation of poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO nanocomposites hydrogel as a rheology modifier and fluid loss controller for use in oil well cementing	
Table 1.	The compositions of CMT/CPNHG	111
Table 2.	Rheological properties of CMT/CPNHG	111

## List of charts

4

Chapter 1: Introduction

Chart 1. Oil production

## List of schemes

Chapter 2:	Materials and methods
------------	-----------------------

Scheme 1.	The schematic of structure HPAM/HPG/GO IPN nanocomposites									s	40		
	hydı	ogel											
Sahama 2	<b>T</b> 1	1		CIDO	1	(				0	1		4.1

Scheme 2. The schematic of HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO graft copolymer 41 nanocomposite

## List of figures

Chapter 1:	Introduction	
Figure 1.	The oil reservoir	3
Figure 2.	Thermal recovery process	5
Figure 3.	CO <sub>2</sub> recovery process	6
Figure 4.	a) Polymer flooding and b) polymer injection process	7
Figure 5.	Hydrogel polymers	9
Figure 6.	Reservoir permeability	10
Figure 7.	Polymer rheology behavior	11
Figure 8.	Polymer behavior in saline solution	12
Figure 9.	Chemical structure of HPAM	14
Figure 10.	Chemical structure of guar gum	17
Figure 11.	Semi and full interpenetrating polymer network	18
Figure 12.	Graft copolymerization structure	19
Figure 13.	Schematic representation of the synthesis of PAM-GO hydrogels	22
Figure 14.	Chemical structure of GO	23
Figure 15.	Schematic of GO dispersion	24
Chapter 3:	Article 1: Rheological and thermal stability of interpenetrating polymer network hydrogel based on polyacrylamide/hydroxypropyl guar reinforced with graphene oxide for application in oil recovery	
Figure 1.	The schematic of the preparation procedure of HPAM/HPG/GO semi IPN nanocomposites hydrogel	54
Figure 2.	FTIR spectra of GO, IPN (0, 0.1, and 0.5) wt.% of GO	57
Figure 3.	Viscosity vs. shear rate of IPN nanocomposite hydrogels at A) 200 and B) 240 $^{\rm o}{\rm F}$	58
Figure 4.	Viscosity versus GO contents at A) 200 and B) 240 °F	60

Figure 5.	Flow activation energy versus GO contents	61	
Figure 6.	The dependency of the viscosity on the temperature of IPN nanocomposite hydrogels, at 200 and 240 °F	62	
Figure 7.	The influence of time on the viscosity stability of IPN nanocomposite hydrogels at A) 200 $^{\circ}$ F, B) 240 $^{\circ}$ F, and C) shear rate at 100 1/s		
Figure 8.	SEM images of IPN nanocomposites hydrogel; a) 0.1; b) 0.3; c) 0.5 wt.% of GO; and d) Agglomeration of GO particles at 0.5 wt.%	64	
Figure 9.	Electrical conductivity versus GO contents	65	
Figure 10.	Viscosity vs shear rate of IPN nanocomposite hydrogels after aging at A) 200°F and B) 240°F	67	
Chapter 4:	Article 2: Synthesis and preparation of poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO nanocomposites hydrogel as a rheology modifier and fluid loss controller for use in oil well cementing		
Figure 1.	The schematic of the copolymer nanocomposite hydrogel structure	112	
Figure 2.	FTIR spectra of a) AM, b) AMPS and c) CPH	112	
Figure 3.	XRD of (a) AM, AMPS, CPH, and (b) GO, CPNHG with $(0.05; 0.1; 0.3 \text{ wt.\%})$ of GO	113	
Figure 4.	(a) SEM images of GO and (b) EDX of GO	114	
Figure 5.	SEM micrographs of (a) CPH and CPNHG with (b) 0.05, (c) 0.1 and (d) 0.3 wt.% of GO	114	
Figure 6.	Shear stress vs shear rate of CMT/CPNHG	115	
Figure 7.	Influence of CPNHG concentrations on the free water and fluid loss of cement slurry	115	
Figure 8.	Effect of copolymer nanocomposites hydrogel a) on the thickening time	116	
	and b) transition time of cement slurry		
Figure S1.	FTIR spectra of a) GO, b) CPH, and CPNHG with c) 0.05; d) 0.1; e) 0.3 wt.% of GO	118	
Figure S2.	Thermal stability of CPH and CPNHG with (0.05 to 0.3) wt.% of GO	118	
Figure S3.	SEM micrographs agglomeration of CPNHG with GO at 0.3 wt.%	119	
Figure S4.	EDX spectrum and element mapping of a) CPH and, b) CPNHG with 0.1 wt.% of GO.	119	
Figure S5.	Influence of CPNHG concentrations on the PV and YP of cement slurry	120	
Figure S6.	Shear stress vs CPNHG concentrations	120	
Figure S7.	Compressive strength vs CPNHG concentrations at 196 °F	121	

Figure S8.	UCA compressive strength of cement slurry at 196 °F as a function of time	121
Chapter 5:	Article 3: Synthesis, characterization, and rheological behavior of HPG graft poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO nanocomposite hydrogel system for enhanced oil recovery	
Figure 1.	a) Schematic of the preparation procedure of HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO; b) TEM of HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO at 0.1 wt.% of GO	158
Figure 2.	XRD of GO, graft copolymer, and graft copolymer nanocomposites	159
Figure 3.	FTIR spectra of a) GO, graft copolymer nanocomposite b) 0; c) 0.1 and d) 0.3 wt.% of GO	159
Figure 4.	(a) SEM, (b) TEM and (c) EDX of graphene oxide	160
Figure 5.	SEM images of HPG-g- poly (AMPS-co-AM)/GO a) 0; b) 0.1; c) 0.3 wt.% of GO	160
Figure 6.	TEM images of HPG-g- poly (AMPS-co-AM)/GO at 0.3 wt.% of GO	161
Figure 7.	EDX spectrum and element mapping of HPG-g- poly (AMPS-co-AM)/GO	161
Figure 8.	Influence of GO on a) viscosity vs. shear rate of hydrogels; b) storage and c) loss modulus vs. frequency	162
Figure 9.	The influence of time on the viscosity stability	163
Figure 10.	Viscosity vs shear rate of hydrogel after aging	163
Figure 11.	Thermal stability of hydrogel and nanocomposite hydrogel	164
Figure 12.	Effect of graft copolymer nanocomposites concentration on a) gel viscosity and b) on the storage modulus	164
Figure 13.	Influence of cross-linker concentration on gel viscosity	165

## List of abbreviations

#### Abbreviations

## Expansion

AM	Acrylamide
AA	Acrylic acid
AM-AMPS	Acrylamide-co-2-acrylamide-2-methyl propane
AM-VP	Acrylamide-co-vinylpyrrolidone
AMPS	2-acrylamide-2-methyl propane sulfonate
PAM	Polyacrylamide
HPAM	Partially hydrolyzed polyacrylamide
CMC	Carboxymethyl cellulose
EOR	Enhanced oil recovery
CEOR	Chemical enhanced oil recovery
VP	Vinylpyrrolidone
CMG	Carboxymethyl guar
HPG	Hydroxypropyl guar
CMHPG	Carboxymethyl hydroxypropyl guar
IPN	Interpenetrating polymer network
GO	Graphene oxide
PEGDA	Polyethylene glycol diacrylate
MA	Maleic anhydride
SA	Sodium alginate
DMAEMA	2-(Dimethylamino) ethyl methacrylate
BA	Butyl acrylate
DEAM	N, N-ethyl acrylamide
DMAM	N, N-dimethyl acrylamide
HTHP	High-temperature high pressure
TGA	Thermogravimetric analysis
FTIR	Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy
SEM	Scanning electron microscopy

TEM	Transmission electron microscopy
EDX	Energy-dispersive X-ray spectroscopy
XRD	X-ray diffraction
KBr	Potassium bromide
FLC	Fluid loss control
NMBA	N, N-methylene-bis-acryl-amide
CPNHG	Copolymer nanocomposite hydrogel
CMT	Cement
YP	Yield point
PV	Plastic viscosity
UCA	Ultrasonic cement analyzer
APS	Ammonium persulfate

## **Symbols**

lb/SK	Pounds per sack
gal/SK	Gallon per sack
bbl/SK	Barrel per sack
Bc	Bearden units of consistency
d	Darcy
md	Millidarcy
G'	Storage Modulus
G"	Loss Modulus
ppm	Parts per million
F	Fahrenheit
С	Centigrade
FL	Filter press

#### Achievements as a Ph. D student

During my 3 years of Ph.D. studies, I have published three research articles, as 1<sup>st</sup> author in ISI journals with relevant impact factors. I also received best poster award at the 10<sup>th</sup> annual sur concours d'affiches a UQTR in 2020, held at Université du Québec à Trois-Rivières, Québec, Canada. In total since my academic study, I have published 9 articles in ISI journals.

#### List of articles published

- A. Narimani, F. Kordnejad, M. Hemmati, A. Duong. Synthesis, characterization, thermal and rheological properties of nanocomposites hydrogel based on HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO for enhanced oil recovery. Journal of Dispersion Science and Technology, In reviewing.
- A. Narimani, F. Kordnejad, P. Kaur, J. Trivedi, F. Najmeddine, M. Hemmati, A. Duong. Synthesis and preparation of poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO nanocomposites hydrogel as a rheology modifier and fluid loss controller for use in oil well cementing. Journal of Dispersion Science and Technology. Published online: 21 Feb 2022.
- 3. A. Narimani, F. Kordnejad, P. Kaur, S Bazgir, M. Hemmati, A. Duong. Rheological and thermal stability of interpenetrating polymer network hydrogel based on polyacrylamide/hydroxypropyl guar reinforced with graphene oxide for application in oil recovery. Journal of Polymer Engineering. 2021, 41, 788-798.
- A. Narimani, H. Hemmati. Electrical and steady shear rheological behavior of polypropylene composites reinforced with single-walled carbon, Polymers, and Polymer Composites, 2014, 22,533-540.
- A. Narimani, M. Hemmati. Effect of single-walled-carbon nanotube (SWNT) on mechanical, rheological, and physical properties of thermoplastic elastomer based on PP/EPDM, Science, and Engineering of Composite Materials, 2014, 21, 15-21.

- A. Narimani, H. Hemmati. Study on the electrical and rheological percolation threshold of single-walled - carbon nanotube reinforced thermoplastic elastomer based on PP/EPDM, Journal of Thermoplastic Composite Materials, 2013, 1-20.
- A. Narimani, M. Hemmati, H. Shariatpanahi, A. Fereidoon, and M. Ghorbanzadeh. Effect of polypropylene-grafted-maleic-anhydride compatibilizer on the physical properties polypropylene/carbon nanotube composites, Polymers, and Polymer Composites, 2012, 20, 559-566.
- M. Hemmati, A. Fereidoon, H. Shariatpanahi, M. Ghorbanzadeh, A. Fereidoon, A. Narimani. Effects of nanoclay on morphology, rheological, and mechanical properties of PVC/ABS, Polymer Plastic Technology and Engineering, 2012, 51,413-418.
- 9. M. Hemmati, A. Narimani, H. Shariatpanahi, A. Fereidoon, M. Ghorbanzadeh. Study on morphological, rheology, and mechanical properties of a thermoplastic elastomer polyolefin (TPO)/carbon nanotube composites with reference to the effect of PP-g-MA as a compatibilizer, International Journal of Polymeric Material, 2011, 60, 384-397.

#### Acknowledgment

First of all, I would like to thank my parents, particularly my mother and also my wife, without whom I would have never been able to be where I am. I will be forever grateful for the privilege they have given me, their trust and their continuous and never-ending support.

I would also like to express my gratitude to my supervisor, Prof. Adam Duong for giving me this opportunity to pursue a doctorate in Canada and also for his inspiring guidance, motivation, support, and encouragements. His strenuous efforts and valuable advice for my endeavour without which it would have been impossible for me to complete this work in time. He has supported me not only in my research but also has given me the confidence to do complementary teaching activities, which will surely help me to move forward in my academic career and my professional life.

My sincere gratitude to the thesis evaluation committee for their valuable time and suggestions.

I would like to express my sincere thanks to Prof. Saeed Bazgir from the Islamic Azad University Science and Research Branch for his valuable support for my project work. Profound gratitude goes to Prof. Mahmood Hemmati from Islamic Azad University Science and Research Branch for all the support and time he has spent with me. I also thank Farid Kordnejad for his consultation in this study. I am thankful to Prof. Japan Trivedi for his collaborative works. I am grateful to all my past and present colleagues from DuongLab and especially Dr. Prabhjyot Kaur for the constructive suggestion and comment on my thesis. Also, I would like to thank all the members of the DuongLab who were always ready to help. I take this opportunity to express my sincere thanks to all the members of the Département de chimie, biochimie et physique (DCBP), and Institut de Recherche sur l'hydrogène (IRH) for providing me with the facilities to carry out my works.

## **Chapter 1**

Introduction

#### **1. Introduction**

Globally, with the continuous growth of energy demand, it seems that the dominant option among energy sources is renewable energy options. Undoubtedly, the use of these new energy sources such as wind, geothermal and solar are effective measures that can address energy shortages. However, they are not yet a viable alternative to the role of oil in meeting growing energy demand. To date, these demands are now being met by hydrocarbon resources, especially oil, because oil is still the most valuable commodity with a major global economic impact. Therefore, protecting oil reserves as wealth and future heritage is one of the most important and strategic assets in the energy sector. Unconventional oil and gas wells along with the new techniques of oil recovery are becoming a major energy issue. However, at reasonable gas prices and increasing demand for clean fuel, unconventional reservoirs can be developed and produced at economical rate. The oil and gas industry is the most lucrative economic resource but it is facing challenges due to the high cost of drilling and extracting with the price of oil continuously declining in the world [1-2]. On the other hand, excessive water extraction during the life of production wells and oil recovery in mature oil fields leads to a decline in the oil production efficiency, especially for lower pressure reservoirs (Figure 1) [2-3]. The main reason for water production is that the highly permeable layers of the reservoir are connected to an underground aquifer through the existence of fractures in the reservoir rocks, which results in the mixing of water and oil, causing problems in the reservoirs productions [4-6]. Indeed, excessive water production renders the well uneconomical, especially for lower pressure reservoirs, leading to premature abandonment and large volumes of unrecovered reserves. Thus, more efficient, yet cost-effective, environmentally friendly, and novel alternatives are constantly being searched for the process feasibility to meet the current global high-energy demand, as reserve replacement is continuously in decline [1,6].



Figure 1. The oil reservoir [3].

Mobilizing and recovering hydrocarbons from geological formations is crucial to meet the unceasing global energy needs. Hydrocarbon can be recovered in three production stages primary, secondary and tertiary processes. However, the conventional recovery methods (primary and secondary) are insufficient. During the production period of the oil reservoir, because of the gradual pressure drop in a reservoir, only about 30-40% of the reservoir oil is available to be extracted by conventional methods, while most of the oil in the reservoirs cannot be extracted by the usual methods, especially when the oil is heavy (high viscosity) as shown in chart 1. With oil fields development and water breakthrough in oil wells, water wells have become predominant and water injection into such formations is less effective as a substantial amount of oil is left behind after recovery, thus creating the need for EOR. On average, oil recovery from the primary and secondary production stage is approximately one third of the original oil in place, while the remaining two third can be partially recovered through EOR which are key drivers for incremental oil recovery. However, in most conventional reservoirs, the produced water is re-injected into the reservoir to keep the pressure up or for increased recovery. The goal of this work is to formulate a potential gel polymer systems and reinforcement of polymer solutions for use in EOR applications [1-2,6-7].

#### **Oil Production**



Chart 1. Oil production.

#### 1.2. Enhanced oil recovery (EOR)

Enhanced oil recovery (EOR) technologies (Table 1) are known for increasing oil recovery, however, the selection of the most suitable method to adopt for specific field applications is challenging. It is not only the current decline in conventional reserves but also the continuous rise in energy demand, several processes and technologies have been used in this regard to enhance or maintain recovery from reservoirs and fields. EOR processes facilitate effective displacement of oil towards the producing well, thus production from matured fields is enhanced as the injected chemicals or gases interact with the formation rock and oil systems thereby creating a favorable condition for better recovery [1,6,8-9]. However, it is also essential to evaluate qualitatively mechanisms that influence recovery potentials [1]. EOR processes involve the injection of steams (thermal EOR), chemical based fluids (chemical EOR), and gases into a reservoir (gas EOR) have also been applied in oil fields [1, 9].



Table 1. Classification of EOR technologies [9].

#### 1- Thermal recovery

Thermal recovery introduces heat to the reservoir to reduce the viscosity of the oil, as highlighted in Figure 2. Many times, steam is applied into the reservoir, thinning the oil and enhancing its ability to flow. First applied in Venezuela in the 1960s, thermal recovery now accounts for more than 50% of applied EOR in Canada and USA.



Figure 2. Thermal recovery process [9].

#### 2- Chemical injection

Chemical injection EOR helps to free trapped oil within the reservoir. This method introduces long-chained molecules called polymers into the reservoir to increase the efficiency of waterflooding or to boost the effectiveness of surfactants, which are cleansers that help lower surface tension that inhibits the flow of oil through the reservoir. The most common chemicals EOR are polymer injection, surfactant, alkaline, surfactant-polymer, and alkaline-surfactant-polymer flooding.

#### 3- Gas injection

Figure 3 depicts the gas injection in EOR application. It is used by injecting natural gas, nitrogen, or carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) into the reservoir. The gases can either expand and push gases through the reservoir or mix with or dissolve within the oil, decreasing viscosity and increasing flow [10].



Figure 3. CO<sub>2</sub> recovery process [10].

#### 1.3. Gel polymer injection

Polymers are often applied in oil recovery applications not only as gel polymers for water production control in-depth reservoir formation but also for oil displacement in polymer flooding as shown in Figure 4 [11]. The hydrophilic polymers boost remarkably the viscosity of the injection water and decrease the mobility ratio of water to oil, to enhance the sweep efficiency in the reservoir [12]. On the other hand, EOR methods assisted with other techniques including mechanical separation, cement injection, and water shut-off treatment to reduce unwanted water from the reservoirs, and help to increase oil efficiency [13]. Among the available techniques, an injection cross-linked polymer system comprising of a polymer or copolymer solution and a water-soluble crosslinker is extensively employed in EOR applications and treatments [3]. Under specific conditions (temperature and time), polymer chains are linked together by a crosslinker as a bridging agent to generate a three-dimensional hydrophilic network structure. Gel treatments are the most effective means of reducing water channeling through fractures or high permeability layers. In fractured reservoirs, formed gels can be extruded into fractures. Nevertheless, typical water shut-off gel formulations are too concentrated to extrude through the narrower fractures prevalent in tight gas and shale formations.



1) Oil Zone 2) Polymer Solution 3) Water



Figure 4. a) Polymer flooding, and b) Polymer injection process [7-8].

#### 1.4. Hydrogel systems in EOR application

Hydrogels are a sort of hydrophilic polymers, which can be constituted by physical and chemical as a crosslinker with water-soluble monomers, and they can absorb and keep a large volume of water or other aqueous fluids for several hours while being under pressure as illustrated in Figure 5. The low viscosity solution containing the polymer and the crosslinker often called the gellant, is converted into a rigid structure due to the cross-linking reaction. The crosslinker is a compound that links polymer molecules together to form a network structure [14]. Cross-linking is a stabilizing process in polymer chemistry that creates a network structure, and as a result, they harden and form an immobile gel. Gel systems with metallic crosslinkers have been used in EOR applications. The commonly used metallic crosslinkers are multivalent cations such as Cr<sup>3+</sup>, Al<sup>3+</sup>, or Zr<sup>4+</sup> [11]. A metallic crosslinking agent links to the polymer through ionic bonds. The gel polymer properties depend directly on the degree of cross-linking. However, the gelling time and gel strength would alter according to changing two parameters of polymer and crosslinker concentration. Then, the percentage change between these two parameters leads to a variety of hydrogel systems and gel treatment. In fact, this hydrogel acts as a flow blocking or diverting agent in the reservoir [14-15]. Indeed, a gel polymer system can avoid water production by obstructing the high permeability zones and diverting to the low permeability zones in the reservoir. As well, owing to the slow movement of this sort of gel, it can be employed as a viscosity modifier for oil displacement, by soaring the viscosity of the fluid which helps to decrease the mobility ratio [15-16]. However, some of the limitations of polymer solution and gel systems are the sensitivity of polymers to thermal (i.e., high-temperature reservoir), chemical (i.e., high salinity), and mechanical degradation that may cause problems of injectivity and formation plugging [1, 9].



Figure 5. Hydrogel polymers [16].

#### 1.5. Effective parameters in hydrogel injections

In this section, the definitions and factors affecting the polymer gel systems in EOR are discussed which are as follows:

#### 1.5.1. Polymer behavior in porous media

The oil reservoir is a porous media consisting of interconnecting pores. The viscosity obtained from the polymer flow in the porous media indicates that the viscosity is higher than the results obtained from the laboratory measurements. In other words, the mobility of the polymer will be less than expected. This unexpected decrease in mobility is due to a significant reduction in the relative permeability of the pores. Therefore, the use of polymer systems with correct viscosity for oil extraction and water production control has been extensively important [17-18].

#### 1.5.2. The reservoir permeability

The reservoirs have different permeabilities which are defined as the capacity of a rock layer to transmit water or other fluids, including oil as shown in Figure 6. The standard unit for permeability is the Darcy (d) or, more commonly, the millidarcy (md). It is categorized between low to high and by porosity (amount of interconnection of pore space). Permeability plays a major role in oil recovery processes as adequate permeability can improve reservoir fluid displacement. Permeability-porosity relationships depend on the complexity of the geometry of the porous media which makes it difficult to anticipate the fluid behavior. The reservoir is divided into two main rock formations, including limestone and sandstone. In EOR, reservoir permeability is an important factor. The presence of gaps and changes in permeability can have a great impact on the fluid flow in a reservoir and thus affect oil recovery. Because areas of high-permeability reservoirs, as well as high gaps, have less resistance to flow, most injectable fluids follow this path while on the contrary, most of the remaining oil is in areas with low permeability [19-20].



Figure 6. Reservoir permeability [17].

#### 1.5.3. Rheological behavior and shear stability

The fluid deforms or flows by exposing a Newtonian fluid to shear force (stress). The ratio of shear stress to shear rate for a Newtonian fluid is a constant value called viscosity. Polymeric solutions for all concentrations used are non-Newtonian fluids and are classified in the group of pseudoplastic fluids. The pseudoplastic fluid is a fluid that creates less resistance to flow by increasing the shear rate. Long flexible polymer chains are susceptible to shear rate resulting in the breaking of the polymer chains and a reduction in viscosity. Laboratory studies show that most polymer solutions in reservoirs must be at a temperature of less than 250 °F because severely broken polymer chains lose their effectiveness [18]. If we consider the ratio of shear stress to shear velocity as the apparent viscosity of a pseudoplastic fluid has a higher viscosity at a low shear rate and a lower viscosity at a high shear rate [18-19].



Figure 7. Polymer rheology behavior [19].

As observed in Figure 7, polymer chains, especially polyacrylamide, are susceptible to untwine by shear rate. It means that the polymer chains tend to break into several smaller molecular chains. Due to the disentanglement of the polymer chains and their arrangement in the direction of flow, the shear rate of this failure increases. But the severity of the shear rate has a big impact on the break of polymer chains. Such a breaking causes changes in the molecular weight, and the viscosity of the polymer solution. In addition, this effect when applied to equipment such as injection pumps can be more [2,18,20]. Assuming that the fractures in unconventional reservoirs are very narrow, a water shut-off agent for the fractured unconventional reservoir will need to be of lower initial viscosity than those of the higher concentration, partially crosslinked gels used in conventional fractured reservoir [20].

#### 1.5.4. Polymer molecular weight

Polymer molecular weight is an important factor that leads to a change in fluid viscosity. Under similar conditions, a high molecular weight polymer results in a better property such as mechanical, rheological than a low molecular weight polymer. The distilled water is a good solvent for most polymers because the polymer molecule expands completely in water and increases its contact with the solvent, resulting in increasing the viscosity. But, by adding salt to the water, the electrolytes of salt neutralize the charge of the polymer molecule, making the polymer incapable to expand as a result, the polymer solution has lesser viscosity (Figure 8). Salinity and hardness such as cations Mg<sup>2+</sup> and Ca<sup>2+</sup> also greatly reduce the viscosity of polyacrylamide-based polymer hydrogel systems. Salinity prevents the opening of chains of the polymer when the polymer is dissolved in water. It is because the salt limits the accessibility of polymer to enough water for the formation of the structure [19-20]. Studies show that at high temperatures, the acrylamide groups in polyacrylamide decompose, particularly in saltwater [21-22].



Figure 8. Polymer behavior in saline solution [22].

As a result, the reservoirs have a heterogeneous structure with different natural fractures that differ in terms of porosity, permeability, and porous media [7]. Furthermore, the flow rate corresponds to the shear rate of the polymer solution, which would alter from the well surface to the reservoir [7]. As well, harsh conditions of reservoirs such as salinity and high temperature, affect the stability and viscosity of solutions during the recovery process [8]. Therefore, all these factors can reduce the efficiency of oil recovery and production.
Gel polymer represents a convenient performance when their viscosity stability, salinity resistance, gel strength, gelation time, and thermal stability are at the desired level. Hence, rheological behaviors and thermal properties of the gel polymer solution play an important key in EOR applications [23-24]. The knowledge of these properties assists in the selecting, designing, and processing of the fluid into porous media like the oil reservoir [24-25]. As a consequence, the proper selection of gel polymer system is a key point and it depends on the reservoir conditions including lithology of formation, salinity, water hardness, and temperature [2, 4, 26].

#### 1.6. Polymer materials in hydrogel system

Synthetic polymers such as polyacrylamide (PAM), partially hydrolyzed polyacrylamide (HPAM) [26] and natural polymers including xanthan, [27] guar [28] as common waterdissolvable polymers that have been used in oil fields including drilling fluid and oil well cementing as well in EOR applications such as control of water production (water shutoff) and polymer flooding [26,28].

However, there are some requirements for the use of water-soluble polymers in the oil sector, such as solubility, stability viscosity, compatibility with water for injections and formations, long-term resistance to hydrolysis, thermal stability, etc. Only a small number of polymers, copolymers, or polymer systems have these features. As a result, it is important to choose the right polymer and to use it in the propagation method. Since polyacrylamides and their families meet the above-mentioned specifications, they are the main choice for use in EOR applications, drilling fluid, and also oil well cementing [26-28].

#### 1.6.1. Partially hydrolyzed polyacrylamide (HPAM)

HPAM belongs to the family of polyacrylamide (PAM) as a synthetic polymer, which is the final product of the copolymerization of acrylamide and sodium acrylate (Figure 9). Sodium acrylate can be obtained by neutralizing acrylic acid [21]. Both hydrolyzed and non-hydrolyzed polyacrylamides are highly polar due to the presence of carboxyl and amide groups. Ebrahim et al. [21] reported the preparation of partially hydrolyzed polyacrylamide by copolymerization of acrylamide and sodium acrylate. A redox system including sodium metabisulphite and potassium persulphate was used to initiate free-radical copolymerization.



Figure 9. Chemical structure of HPAM.

With an increasing temperature, the degree of hydrolysis also increases, so to achieve the best condition of the product, it is necessary to control the temperature during polymerization and acrylamide hydrolysis. The amount of amide groups that are converted to carboxylate is called the degree of hydrolysis. Rabiee et al. [29] showed that the ratio of carboxyl and amide groups as well as the molecular weight influence the HPAM properties. Borthakur et al. [30] explained the copolymerization of polyacrylamide with sodium acrylate and hydro groups creates an anionic polymer that makes it soluble in water. The ratio of the two functional groups in the final copolymer is determined by the ratio of sodium polyacrylate to acrylamide at the beginning of the process. Nasiri et al. [22] showed that there is a sample of HPAM that has a high molecular weight and contains 65% to 70% acrylamide and the rest of acrylate. HPAM with a cross-linker is mixed to create a gellant that is injected from the surface into the

reservoir for shut-off purposes to block thief zones producing excessive water. Under the effect of temperature and time, HPAM and crosslinker react to make a three-dimensional network structure [14]. However, HPAM is sensitive to the salinity and has poor shear resistance, as well as its molecular chain breaks while passing through the porous media at high speed, both of which affect the shear stability of HPAM, decreasing the viscosity and mechanical properties of polymer solution [31]. HPAM is also not stable upon increasing the temperature, because of NH<sub>2</sub> group hydrolyzation, which results in a significant decrease in the viscosity and strength of hydrogel [16]. Sorbie et al. [32] presented an excellent review on the thermal and the chemical degradation of polymer solutions and Sheng et al. [33] summarized the current limits for using polymers under harsh reservoir conditions. Therefore, to improve shear stability, and mechanical properties of HPAM, mixing with natural polymers, like hydroxypropyl guar (HPG), can be highly effective. Furthermore, some of the acrylamide (AM)-based copolymers are used to prevail over the limitations of HPAM under harsh reservoir conditions. AM monomers copolymerized with one or two monomers as a modifier [34]. 2-acrylamide-2-methyl propane sulfonate (AMPS) or vinylpyrrolidone (VP) as monomer modifiers have the potential to improve the chain stability of AM in harsh conditions of the reservoir. [4,34] The introduction of the sulfonic acid group into AM enhances the salt tolerance attributes of AM monomer. Indeed, AMPS is a sort of vinyl monomer including sulfate groups with high durability, and also excellent salt tolerance which will result in the provision of high molecular weight copolymers that is desirable for EOR applications [35-36].

Moradi et al. [37] produced AM-AMPS copolymer by copolymerization of AM and AMPS. Rashidi et al. [38] reported that the incorporation of AMPS monomer improves the thermal stability of AM and their solubility in the presence of divalent cations. Doe et al. [39] presented that AM-VP copolymer by copolymerization of AM with VP. Incorporating VP into AM decreases the thermal hydrolysis of AM in the presence of divalent cations while improving the shear stability of AM due to the large size of the VP group. The performance of other AMbased copolymers in polymer flooding is summarized by Kamal et al. [40]. Therefore, in recent years, most research has been focused on acrylamide-based homopolymer, copolymer, and terpolymer for developing the hydrogel system that can be used in oil reservoirs with highly resistant to thermal hydrolysis and viscosity stability in the harsh conditions of the reservoir.

#### 1.6.2. Polysaccharides

Polysaccharides and biopolymers including xanthan gum and guar are natural polymers that are highly used in EOR processes. These biopolymers have stable chain structures that provide high mechanical resistance to mechanical shear. Spiral construction increases the resistance of this polymer in saltwater and reduces its sensitivity to multivalent ions [1]. Xanthan gum and guar gum are hydrophilic polysaccharides from the seed of the guar plant called galactomannan. Galactomannans are polysaccharides consisting of a mannose backbone with galactose side groups the chemical structure of guar gum [41-42]. Guar gum as shown in Figure 10, is highly dispersible into the water and brines and salinity. Guar gum showed non-Newtonian viscosity behavior and also can be cross-linked by cross linkers such as borate and zirconium to create the high strength gels (network structure) [42]. One advantageous property of guar gum is that it can thicken in presence of water. In addition, it is used widely in the oil industry as a thickener for hydraulic fracturing of rock formations and enhancing oil recovery (EOR). Disadvantages of using guar gum include its low thermal stability as well the main limitation of this biopolymer is its poor resistance to microbial degradation. The most widely known derivatives of guar gum include carboxy methyl guar (CMG), hydroxy propyl guar (HPG), and carboxy methyl hydroxy propyl guar (CMHPG) [43]. HPG is commonly applied in gel polymer injection and, particularly in hydraulic fracturing. The use of the HPG as a natural polymer that is not only less sensitive to shearing but is also applied as a great viscosity modifier [16, 44-45]. HPG chains can be grafted by AM monomer which causes a further increase of shear resistance in the copolymer structure [44]. HPG has an outstanding ability to carry the solid particles within the created mechanical fracture in the reservoir during the fracture operation. These particles help to keep the fractures open so that the oil can easily egress from the deeper reservoir to the well surface [46]. Artificially inducing fractures is the key technique that has transformed previously unproductive low permeability reservoirs into economically viable projects. Hydraulic fracturing technique involves pumping high quantities of pressurized fluids into the wellbore which creates fractures and cracks in the reservoir, thereby increasing the effective permeability. The induced fractures become flow paths connecting the reservoir to the wellbore, thereby increasing gas flow rates [44-46]. Accordingly, the HPG based hydrogel system with borate as s crosslinker is highly used in this treatment technique.



Figure 10. Chemical structure of guar gum.

# **1.7.** Preparation of hydrogel system by interpenetrating polymer network and graft copolymerization methods

IPN technique is the admixture of two polymers, which have been cross-linked and/or synthesized to improve the new admixture polymer properties. Through this method, various polymer compounds can be prepared based on the desired properties of both polymers by changing their compositions [47, 50]. Furthermore, when one polymer is cross-linked and the other polymer is not networked, a semi-IPN is created. In contrast, when both are cross-linked, a full IPN is created as observed in Figure 11[51]. The present study is limited to the use of

semi IPN hydrogel in the presence of the crosslinker as a cross-linked polymer hydrogel. This polymer gel system can flow while having a cross-linked structure in porous media. In fact, weak crosslinked gel systems can remove the difficulty of high permeability zones in a non-homogenous reservoir and enhance control of water production. It can also be applied due to the slow-motion of gels in zones with high permeability as an oil displacement by decreasing the mobility ratio as well as reducing the viscous fingering simultaneously [10,23, 51-52].



Figure 11. Semi and full interpenetrating polymer network [52].

Alvand et al. [11] reported an improvement in the behavior of sulfonated polyacrylamide with the addition of laponite and chromium (III) as a weak hydrogel system. Alvand et al. [23] showed an enhancement in the rheological behavior of sulfonated polyacrylamide by mixing with a natural polymer like scleroglucan in the presence of chromium (III) as a weak hydrogel system by IPN technique. Rahmatpour et al. [47] described the novel semi-IPN nanocomposite hydrogels based on guar gum, HPAM, and montmorillonite which is mixed by chromium (III) acetate. This displayed good shear and thermal resistance and salt tolerance ability in EOR applications. Kheirabadi et al. [51] synthesized a novel full IPN hydrogel focus on anionic monomers of AMPS/acrylic acid-sodium acrylate via solution polymerization technique in an aqueous media with the incorporation of GO. Karadag et al. [53] reported that highly hydrogel nanocomposite systems by using the semi IPN technique of AM/AMPS monomers and carboxymethyl cellulose with clay such as montmorillonite through free radical polymerization by using ammonium persulfate in the presence of poly ethylene glycol diacrylate (PEGDA) as a cross-linker.

There is another method to enhance the AM monomer properties by the graft copolymerization of AM as a main monomer and AMPS as modifier monomer grafted onto the natural polymer chains. The graft copolymerization structure was shown in Figure 12. The graft copolymer as a polymer solution reacted with various crosslinkers to make the hydrogel with great thermal, salt, and shear stability, owing to the linking of AM with an ionic comonomer in its matrix and grafted with natural polymer in the backbone. [6, 13].



Figure 12. Graft copolymerization structure (A polymer or monomer 1, and B polymer or monomer 2) [Wikimedia].

Mohammadi et al. [3] described the inverse emulsion copolymerization of AMPS and AM to make a high-weight nanostructure polymer that is mixed with chromium (III) acetate using EOR application. Singh et al. [13] synthesized a graft polymer nanocomposite hydrogel system, based on poly (AM -gstarch)/clay, by using a method of radical polymerization. Li et al. [31] synthesized a new hydro soluble sulfonated copolymer AMPS/DMAEMA/MA that demonstrated good shear and thermal resistance and salt tolerance ability in EOR applications. Khakpour et al. [34] present the terpolymer AM/BA/AMPS by micellar copolymerization method, which leads to improving its thermal stability and mechanical properties. Liu et al. [54] described three types of copolymers, by free-radical copolymerization: AMPS with AM, DMAM, and DEAM. AMPS/DMAM showed suitable water-retaining capacity at a high temperature. Zhu et al. [55] synthesized a superabsorbent composite, poly (AMPS-co-AM)/ kaolin, by using a method of radical polymerization. This hydrogel showed good water and salt solution absorbency at a high temperature. Atassi et al. [56] showed the improvement of mechanical strength properties of nanocomposite hydrogel by grafting P(AMPS-co-AA-co-AM) chains onto the backbone of a renewable and biodegradable substrate of chitosan in the presence of basalt.

However, the application of this sort of conventional hydrogels are somewhat limited, because of the low network strength and reduced thermal stability of polymer or copolymer solutions when passing into porous media and also after long-term aging which leads to the reduction of hydrogel viscosity, especially in reservoirs with high-temperature [8, 26]. Polymers when dissolved in water are applied in oil recovery as they increase the viscosity of the displacing water and improve sweep efficiency, although, gel polymer systems tend to lose efficiency in prolonged processes. This is primarily owing to shear degradation of the polymer solution and gel polymer which causes viscosity reduction during high shear rates generation by the rotating bit in the well bore, resulting in system instability. Therefore, introducing nanoparticles into the polymer structure of hydrogel due to their outstanding properties, corresponding mechanical strength, thermal stability, and salt tolerance [8] to enhance the strength and thermal properties of conventional hydrogels can be considered a beneficial method [8, 26, 57].

# 1.8. Hydrogel nanocomposite and nanotechnology

Nanotechnology is a new technology that has gained great attention in the oil industry. Adding nanoparticles to fluids enhances the effectiveness of oil recovery processes by causing a decline in the interfacial tension and changing the rock wettability [58-59]. In the last half-century, industrial processes have generally experienced a change in material applications due

to the shift from conventional bulk materials to nanoscale and nano materials. This has led to innovative applications in a wide range of science and technology fields worldwide, thus interest and investment are increasing in the fields of nanoscience and nanotechnology. This technology involves the use of small-sized materials which can be considered the nanometer (nm) length scale. Despite the relevance of nanoparticles in oil and gas engineering processes, reservoir engineering, specifically, EOR has attracted the most attention in recent times [9]. Nanoparticles behave quite differently from bulk materials owing to their size-dependent properties. As a result, the performance of hydrogel as a polymer or graft copolymer solution in reservoir conditions can be improved by the incorporation of nanoparticles [8]. Hence, more recently, graphene oxide (GO) has highly gained attention in this regard and is used as a thermal, electrical, and mechanical strength enhancer for hydrogel polymer systems in harsh conditions [60-61]. Nanoparticle like GO as a multifunctional group shows high thermal properties that exhibit great stability over a wide range of temperatures and suitable rheological and flow behavior with water-soluble polymer [9]. Although the addition of GO, increases the cost of materials a little bit, but all the advantages associated with GO, make it worth it. For example, Haruna et al. [26] reported that the addition of GO increased the viscosities and high-temperature stability of the base polymer fluid, and also the elastic properties of the dispersion. Aliabadian et al. [59] showed that adding the GO to the HPAM solution enhanced oil recovery by the core flow test. Nwidee [9] reported that the thermal properties of nanoparticle-based fluids exhibit higher thermal conductivity and surface area than conventional base fluids. Nguyen et al. [62] demonstrated that the addition of the GO soared the thermal and viscosity stability of polymer solution in EOR at HTHP offshore reservoirs. Pan et al [63] prepared PAM/GO hydrogels with high mechanical strength, excellent environmental stability due to the effect of multifunctional crosslinker of GO as shown in Figure 13.



Figure13. Schematic representation of the synthesis of PAM-GO hydrogels.

Fan et al. [64] ascribed the nanocomposite hydrogel with the excellent mechanical performance which has been synthesized by free radical polymerization of AM and SA in the presence of GO in an aqueous system followed with ionically crosslinking of calcium ions. Boroujeni et al. [65] studied the improvement of mechanical strength of GO-g-poly (AMPS-co- AM), GO was grafted with AM and AMPS monomers by free-radical copolymerization. Dai et al. [66] reported that the hydrogels were synthesized by grafting copolymerization AA and AM onto carboxymethyl cellulose with the incorporation of GO. Adding the GO enhanced the thermal stability of the hydrogels in the porous media. Jafarigol et al. [49] showed that graft copolymer nanocomposite hydrogel with excellent mechanical strength copolymerized by AM with AA that grafted with CMC and reinforced by GO sheet. Tarash et al. [67] reported the great toughness and suitable mechanical strength of the full IPN nanocomposite hydrogel based on a new kind of  $\kappa$ -carrageenan ( $\kappa$ -Car)/polyacrylamide/GO. Therefore, regarding EOR, nanoparticles applications can be a novel EOR pathway for resolving reservoir challenges with harsh conditions.

In the last decades, graphene oxide (GO) become a new topic in research related to materials science and nanotechnology [68-69]. GO is an important derivative of graphene which is produced by chemical modifying graphene (Hummer's method) [70]. GO has highly been considered and employed as a thermal and mechanical strength enhancer along with great electrical conductivity for hydrogel polymer systems in harsh conditions. GO has a great surface area, with plenty of oxygen functional groups such as epoxide, hydroxyl, on its surface, and carboxyl, carbonyl on its edges, as shown in Figure 14 [63, 71-72]. These provide a wide range of active sites on the surface, causing a better crosslinking with the polymer chains [65, 73]. Furthermore, the hydrophilic groups of GO result in better dispersity in an aqueous solution and are employed with hydrophilic polymers as a reinforcer [73-74]. Hence, GO can help in improving the mechanical strength and thermal stability of polymer hydrogels [63, 73]. Graphite oxide has a layered structure with a long distance between the layers.



Figure 14. Chemical structure of GO.

Interestingly, carbon nanotube (CNT) unlike GO has a strong tendency to agglomerate during processing and have a limited production because of the expensive raw materials. However, GO has the simplicity of its construction, suitable thermal stability, and is easy to produce because of the accessibility of raw materials like graphite in nature. This has been able to provide a suitable alternative to nanotubes in nanoscience today [68-69]. In addition, GO exhibits better stability in solution as opposed to the carbon nanotubes, silica nanoparticles that are thermodynamically unstable with high aggregation tendencies. The reinforcement/toughening contribution of GO in polymer matrices depends on dispersion uniformity and efficient interfacial adhesion between the GO and polymer matrix to transfer the mechanical load from the matrix to the GO. This load relied on the effective interfacial stress transfer at the polymer-graphite interface, which was often dependent on the polymer [69, 72, 74].

The most common method of producing graphene oxide is the Hummers method. In this method, briefly, 1 g of graphite powder, 33 mL of H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, and 1.25 g of NaNO<sub>3</sub> are stirred for 1 hr. in an ice bath. Secondly, 6 g of KMnO<sub>4</sub> is added slowly into the above mixture solution for 2 hr. The mixture is stirred at 35°C in the water bath for 4 hr and then slowly diluted with water. Then, the mixture is stirred for 30 min at 95°C. Finally, 120 mL of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (10%) is added to the mixture. The sample is washed with 10% HCl solution, centrifuged, and washed with deionized water repeatedly followed by drying in a vacuum oven at 50°C for 12 hr to obtain graphene oxide [70]. Figure 15 displays the dispersion of GO nanosheets by using the ultrasonic water bath.



Figure 15. Schematic of GO dispersion [71].

GO nanosheets tend to form agglomerates with increasing concentration which reduces their reinforcing effect [74]. In addition, GO particles trend to the sedimentation in solution, which may cause plugging of the pores in the reservoir, owing to nonuniformed dispersions and sedimentation of particles [6, 16]. Therefore, the GO concentration is the key factor for the performance of the hydrogel network. The selection of ideal particle type, concentration, dispersals, or stabilizers of the nanoparticles in gel polymer and polymer flooding is crucial. Therefore, an important challenge is to achieve the uniform dispersion of GO in the IPN and copolymer matrix and to study its effect on the network structure of hydrogel. This is because the rheological behavior, thermal stability, and viscosity of the hydrogel depend on the GO concentration as well as the interactions between the GO and polymer matrix. As a result, the major issue of the polymer solution and also the development of a novel gel system is to achieve the polymer hydrogel with suitable viscosity, strength, and thermal stability by using accurate GO concentrations in electrolyte media in a high-temperature reservoir [10,75].

# 1.10. Project overview

One of the problems encountered in using polymer systems in porous media such as EOR and controlling water production in oil reservoirs is the decline in the properties of these systems as a result of the harsh conditions of oil reservoirs. There are various chemical factors (such as high salinity, microorganisms, etc.), thermal factors (high temperature), and mechanical factors (such as high shear rate due to pumps and injection devices) that affect the viscosity and polymer system behavior.

Extensive studies have been conducted on the improvement of flow behavior and elastic properties of common polymer systems used in the applications of EOR. These include the copolymerization of synthetic and natural polymers, the use of cross-linking agents in the polymer structure, the application of nanoparticles in the polymer structure, and the introduction of non-ionic hydrophilic polymers [3, 13, 23, 28, 36, 55, 57].

Some studies have shown that the use of hydrophobic or temperature-sensitive monomers improves the stability of polyacrylamide-based polymer systems at high temperatures and salinity, but due to the presence of acrylamide groups, these systems also deteriorate after a few days. Graft copolymerization of synthetic and natural polymers improves the viscosity, viscoelastic properties, and stability at high temperatures and salinity [2,3,4,8,23,25, 26, 35,47].

In this research, to improve shear resistance, thermal stability, and mechanical properties of HPAM and AM acrylamide based on gel system, we have investigated three methods such as interpenetrating polymer network (IPN), copolymerization, and graft copolymerization, that they have attracted much attention for the fabrication of hydrogel systems because of their ability to improve the properties of the polymers with a large range of applications owing to the combining of two or more polymers along with their desired properties [13, 44-49].

Therefore, the main objective of this study is to examine the feasibility of developing and improving the performance of hydrogel polymer systems based on HPAM/HPG by incorporating graphene-oxide as a high-thermal reinforcement nanoparticle-containing multifunctional group that is potentially used in EOR applications. To accomplish this objective, the experimental work was divided into three main phases:

**Phase one**: In this section, the effect of GO on semi-IPN nanocomposite structure based on HPAM/HPG hydrogel system to enhance nanocomposites hydrogel for EOR applications was evaluated. Thus, the purpose of this study is to investigate the influence of GO on the novel semi-IPN nanocomposite hydrogel in terms of:

- Viscosity, flow activation energy, temperature, long-term aging, viscosity loss, and thermal stability.
- FTIR, morphology, and electrical characterization of nanocomposite hydrogels

**Phase two**: Graphene oxide was prepared and synthesized using graphite, H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> and KMnO<sub>4</sub>. The characterization of GO and its effects on the development of a copolymer-based hydrogel system (AM-c-AMPS) as a rheology modifier were evaluated.

- The properties of synthesized GO were investigated by Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR), scanning electron microscopy (SEM), transmission electron microscopy (TEM), Energy-dispersive X-ray spectroscopy (EDX), and X-ray diffraction (XRD).

**Phase three**: synthesis and characterization of graft copolymer nanocomposite based on HPGg-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO as a copolymer solution for developing the hydrogel system and its potential use in EOR application was evaluated. The main attention of this section of research is to investigate the dispersion effect of synthesized GO on graft copolymer nanocomposite as copolymer solution and develop a novel hydrogel system by using chromium triacetate to achieve the desired polymer hydrogel with adequate viscosity, gel strength, and thermal stability.

- The characterization of graft copolymer nanocomposite was evaluated by FTIR, XTD, TEM, and SEM
- The effect of the incorporation of GO on the rheological behavior of the nanocomposite hydrogel system in terms of viscoelastic behavior, long-term aging, viscosity loss, and thermal stability have also been investigated to determine the flow behavior in the reservoir.
- The affect of the graft copolymer nanocomposite and cross-linker concentrations, on viscosity, storage modulus, and strength of the hydrogel system were evaluated to determine an optimum gel formation in electrolyte media and EOR application.

#### 1.11. References

- Green, D. W.; Willhite, G. P. Enhanced Oil Recovery, SPE Textbook Series. Society of Petroleum Engineers, Richardson, Texas, 1998.
- [2] Salehi, M. B.; Vasheghani-Farahani, E.; Sefti, M. V; Moghadam, A. M.; Naderi, H. Rheological and Transport Properties of Sulfonated Polyacrylamide Hydrogels for Water Shutoff in Porous Media. *Polym. Adv. Technol*, 2014, 5, 396-405. DOI: 10.1002/pat.3254.
- [3] Zitha, P.; Felder, R.; Zornes, D.; Brown, K.; Mohanty, K. Increasing Hydrocarbon Recovery Factors. *Environmental Science*. 2011.
- [4] Heidari, A.; Vasheghani-Farahani, E. Preformed Particle Gels of Sulfonated Polyacrylamide: Preparation, Characterization, and Application as Permeability Modifier. *Iran. Polym. J.* 2019, 28,1001-1013. DOI:10.1007/s13726-019-00759-7.
- [5] Hasankhani, G. M.; Madani, M.; Esmaeilzadeh, F.; Mowla, D.; Daryasafar, A. An Experimental Investigation of Polyacrylamide and Sulfonated Polyacrylamides-Based Gels Crosslinked with Cr (III)-acetate for Water Shutoff in Fractured Oil Reservoirs. *J. Dispers. Sci. Technol.* 2018, 39,1780-1789. DOI:10.1080/01932691.2018.1462712.
- [6] Sharma, T.; Velmurugan, V.; Patel, P.; Chon, B.H.; Sangwai, J.S. Use of Oil-in-Water Pickering Emulsion Stabilized by Nanoparticles in Combination with Polymer Flood for Enhanced Oil Recovery. *Pet. Sci. Technol*.2015,33,1595-1604. DOI: 10.1080/10916466.2015.1079534.
- [7] El-hoshoudy, N.; Desouky, S.E.M.; Elkady, M.Y.; Al-Sabagh, A.M.; Betiha, M.A.
  Hydrophobically Associated Polymers for Wettability Alteration and Enhanced Oil
  Recovery. *Egypt. J. Pet.*2017,26, 757-762. DOI: 10.1016/j.ejpe.2016.10.008.
- [8] Asadizadeh, S.; Ayatollahi, S.; ZareNezhad, B. Fabrication of a Highly Efficient New Nanocomposite Polymer Gel for Controlling the Excess Water Production in Petroleum Reservoirs and Increasing the Performance of Enhanced Oil Recovery Processes. *Chin. J. Chem. Eng.* 2021,32, 385-392. DOI: 10.1016/j.cjche.2020.12.023.

- [9] Cheraghian, G.; Rostami, S.; Afrand, M. Nanotechnology in Enhanced Oil Recovery *Processes*. 2020, 8, 1073. DOI: 10.3390/pr8091073.
- [10] Wang, K.; Wang, G.; Lu, C. Research Progress in Carbon Dioxide Storage and Enhanced Oil Recovery. *IOP Conf. Ser.: Earth Environ. Sci.* 2018. DOI: 10.1088/1755-1315/113/1/012054.
- [11] Alvand, E.; Aalaie, J.; Mahmood, H.; Sajjadian, V.A. Thermal Stability Adsorption and Rheological Behaviors of Sulfonated Polyacrylamide/Chromium Triacetate/laponite Nanocomposite Weak Gels. *Macromol. Res.* 2017,25,27-37. DOI: 10.1007/s13233-017-5005-0.
- [12] Zhu, S.; Shi, L.; Wang, X.; Liu, C.; Xue, X.; Ye, Z. Investigation into Mobility Control Mechanisms by Polymer Flooding in the Offshore High-Permeable Heavy Oil Reservoir. *Energy. Sources. Part. A*.2020,1-14. DOI: 10.1080/15567036.2020.1797941.
- [13] Singh, R.; Mahto, V. Synthesis, Characterization and Evaluation of Polyacrylamide Graft Starch/Clay Nanocomposite Hydrogel System for Enhanced Oil Recovery. *Pet. Sci.* 2017,14, 765-779. DOI:10.1007/s12182-017-0185-y.
- [14] Elkarsani, K. S. M.; Al-Muntasheri, G. A.; Sultan, A. S.; Hussein, I. A. Performance of PAM/PEI Gel System for Water Shutoff in High-Temperature Reservoirs: Laboratory Study. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2015, 132, 1-10. DOI: 10.1002/app.41869.
- [15] Al-Hajri, S.; Mahmoodi, S. M.; Akbari, S.; Abdulelah, H. Gelation Behavior as a Function of Concentration of Sodium Thiosulfate for PAM Gels Cross-linked with Chromium. *J. Pet. Explor. Prod. Technol.* 2019, 9,1539-1546 DOI:10.1007/s13202-018-0566-9.
- [16] Fu, J. Strong and Tough Hydrogels Crosslinked by Multi-Functional Polymer Colloids. J.
  Polym. Sci., Part B: Polym. Phys. 2018,56, 1336-1350. DOI: 10.1002/polb.24728.
- [17] Ganat, T. A. O. Fundamentals of Reservoir Rock Properties. *Springer Cham.* 2020. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-28140-3.

- [18] Willhite, G. P.; Zhu, H.; Natarajan, D.; Green, D.W. Mechanism Causing Disproportionate Permeability in Porous Media Treated with Chromium acetate/HPAM gel. In SPE/DOE Improved Oil Recovery Symposium. *Society of Petroleum Engineers*. 2002,7, 100-108.
- [19] Xiong, B.; Loss, R.D.; Shields, D.; Pawlik, T.; Hochreiter, R.; Zydney, A. L.; Kumar, M.
  Polyacrylamide Degradation and its Implications in Environmental Systems, *npj Clean Water*. 2018, 1, 17. DOI:10.1038/s41545-018-0016-8.
- [20] Gao, C. Viscosity of Partially Hydrolyzed Polyacrylamide under Shearing and Heat, J. Pe.t Explor. Prod. Technol. 2013, 3, 203-206. DOI: 10.1007/s13202-013-0051-4.
- [21] Ebrahim, M.; Rabi, A.; Baharvand, H. Synthesis of Partially Hydrolyzed Polyacrylamide and Investigation of Solution Properties (Viscosity Behaviour). *Iran. Polym. J.* 2004, 13, 479-484.
- [22] Mao, J.; Tan, H.; Yang, B.; Zhang, W.; Yang, X.; Zhang, Y.; Zhang, H. Novel Hydrophobic
  Associating Polymer with Good Salt Tolerance. *Polymer*. 2018, 10, 849. DOI: 10.3390/polym10080849.
- [23] Alvand, E.; Aalaie, J.; Hemmati, M.; Sajjadian, V.A. Rheological and Thermal Stability of Novel Weak Gels Based on Sulfonated Polyacrylamide/Scleroglucan/Chromium triacetate. *Polym.Int*.2016,66,477-484. DOI:10.1002/pi.5287.
- [24] Dang, T. Q. C.; Chen, Z.; Nguyen, T. B. N.; Bae, W. Rheological Modeling and Numerical Simulation of HPAM Polymer Viscosity in Porous Media. *Energy Sources A: Recovery Util. Environ. Eff.* 2015, 37, 2189-2197. DOI: 10.1080/15567036.2011.624156.
- [25] Aalaie, J. Rheological Behavior of Polyacrylamide/Laponite Nanoparticle Suspensions in Electrolyte Media. J. Macromol. Sci. Part B: Phys.2012,51,1139-1147. DOI: 10.1080/00222348.2011.625903.
- [26] Haruna, M. A.; Pervaiz, S.; Hu, Z.; Nourafkan, E.; Wen, D. Improved Rheology and High-Temperature Stability of Hydrolyzed Polyacrylamide Using Graphene Oxide Nanosheet. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2019, 47582, 1-13. DOI: 10.1002/app.47582.

- [27] Mothe, C.G.; Correia, D.Z.; Franca, F.P.; Riga, A.T. Thermal and Rheological Study of Polysaccharides for Enhanced Oil Recovery. J. Therm. Anal. Calorim.2006, 85,31-36.
- [28] Wang, S.; Tang, H.; Guo, J.; Wang, K. Effect of pH on The Rheological Properties of Borate Crosslinked Hydroxypropyl Guar Gum Hydrogel and Hydroxypropyl Guar Gum. *Carbohydr. Polym*.2016,147,455-463. DOI: 10.1016/j.carbpol.2016.04.029.
- [29] Rabiee, A.; Zeynali, M. E. Synthesis of High Molecular Weight Partially Hydrolyzed Polyacrylamide and Investigation on its Properties. *Iran. Polym. J.* 2005, 14, 603-608.
- [30] Borthakur, A.; Choudhury, S. R.; Sengupta, P. Synthesis and Evaluation of Partially Hydrolysed Polyacrylamide (PHPA) as Viscosifier in Water-Based Drilling Fluid. *Indian J. Chem. Technol.* 1997, 4, 83-88.
- [31] Li, F.; Zhu, W.X.; Yu, D.Z.; Song, H.; Wang, K.L. Rheological Properties and Enhanced Oil Recovery Performance of a Novel Sulfonate Polyacrylamide. J. Macromol. Sci., Part A: Pure Appl.Chem.2018,55,449-454. DOI: 10.1080/10601325.2018.1470462.
- [32] Sorbie, K. S. Polymer-Improved Oil Recovery. *Glasgow and London: Blackie and Son Ltd.* 1991. DOI: 10.1007/978-94-011-3044-8.
- [33] Sheng, J. J.; Leonhardt, B.; Azri, N. Status of Polymer-Flooding Technology. J. Can. Pet. Technol. 2015, 54, 116-126. DOI:10.2118/174541-PA.
- [34] Khakpour, H.; Abdollahi1, M.; Nasiri, A. Synthesis, Microstructural Characterization and Hydrophobic Intermolecular Nano-aggregation Behavior of Acrylamide/2-Acrylamido-2-Methy-1-Propane Sulfonic Acid/Butyl Acrylate co- and Terpolymers. *J. Polym. Res.* 2015, 22, 189-202. DOI:10.1007/s10965-015-0828-x.
- [35] Mohammadi, M. S.; Sahraei, E.; Bayati, B. Synthesis Optimization and Characterization of High Molecular Weight Polymeric Nanoparticles as EOR Agent for Harsh Condition Reservoirs. J. Polym. Res. 2020, 27, 1-11. DOI: 10.1007/s10965-020-2017-9.

- [36] Durmaz, S.; Okay, O. Acrylamide/2-Acrylamido-2-Methylpropane Sulfonic Acid Sodium Salt-Based Hydrogels: Synthesis and Characterization. *Polymer*. 2000, 41, 3693-3704. DOI:10.1016/S0032-3861(99)00558-3.
- [37] Moradi-Araghi, A.; Cleveland, D. H.; Westerman, I. J. Development and Evaluation of EOR Polymers Suitable for Hostile Environments: II-Copolymers of Acrylamide and Sodium AMPS. In SPE International Symposium on Oldfield Chemistry. 1987,319-322.
- [38] Rashidi, M.; Blokhus, A. M.; Skauge, A. Viscosity Study of Salt Tolerant Polymers. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2010, 117, 1551-1557. DOI :10.1002/app.
- [39] Doe, P. H.; Moradi-araghi, A.; Shaw, J. E.; Stahl, G. Development and Evaluation of EOR Polymers Suitable for Hostile of Vinylpyrrolidone and Acrylamide. SPE Reservoir Engineering. 1987, 461-467.
- [40] Kamal, M. S.; Sultan, A. S.; Al-Mubaiyedh, U. A.; Hussein, I. A. Review on Polymer Flooding: Rheology, Adsorption, Stability, and Field Applications of Various Polymer Systems. *Polym. Rev.* 2015, 55, 491-530. DOI: 10.1080/15583724.2014.982821.
- [41] Jasinski, R.; Redwine, D.; Rose, G. Boron Equilibria with High-Molecular-Weight Guar -An NMR-Study, J. Polym. Sci. B Polym. Phys. 1996, 34, 1477-1488.
- [42] Behari, K.; Tripathi, K. T.M.; Pandey, P. K. Graft Copolymerization of Methacrylamide onto Guar Gum Using a Potassium Chromate/Malonic Acid Redox Pair, *Macromol. Chem. Phys.* 2001, 202, 1873-1877.
- [43] Moorhouse, R.; Harry, D. N.; Merchant, U. Guar Gum in Hydraulic Fracturing in Indian Shale Mines, *Society of Petroleum Engineering*, SPE, 1998, 253-269.
- [44] Nayak, B. R.; Singh, R. P. Development of Graft Copolymer Flocculating Agents Based on Hydroxypropyl Guar Gum and Acrylamide. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2001, 81, 1776-1785.
   DOI:10.1002/app.1610.

- [45] Zhu, J.; Guan, S.; Hu, Q.; Gao. G.; Xu, K.; Wang, P. Tough, and pH-Sensitive Hydroxypropyl Guar Gum/Polyacrylamide Hybrid Double-Network Hydrogel. *Chem. Eng.* J. 2016, 306, 953-960. DOI: 10.1016/j.cej.2016.08.026.
- [46] Wang, S.; Tang, H.; Guo, J.; Wang, K. Effect of pH on the Rheological Properties of Borate Crosslinked Hydroxypropyl Guar Gum Hydrogel and Hydroxypropyl Guar Gum. *Carbohydr. Polym.* 2016, 147, 455-463. DOI: 10.1016/j.carbpol.2016.04.029.
- [47] Rahmatpour, A.; Soleimani, P. Synthesis and Characterization of Novel Semi-IPN Nanocomposite Hydrogels Based on Guar Gum, Partially Hydrolyzed Polyacrylamide, and Pristine Montmorillonite. *Polym. Bull.* 2021, 78, 5923-5952. DOI: 10.1007/s00289-020-03408-9.
- [48] Wang, D.; Tan, J.; Han, Y.; Guo, Y.; An, H. Synthesis and Properties of Temperature-Resistant and Salt-Tolerant Tetra-Acrylamide Copolymer. J. Macromol. Sci. Part A: Pure Appl. Chem. 2019, 56, 1148-1155. DOI: 10.1080/10601325.2019.1664912.
- [49] Jafarigol, E.; Salehi, M. B.; Mortaheb, H. R. Preparation and Assessment of Electroconductive Poly (Acrylamide-co-Acrylic Acid) Carboxymethyl Cellulose/Reduced Graphene Oxide Hydrogel with High Viscoelasticity. *Chem. Eng. Res. Des.* 2020, 162, 74-84. DOI: 10.1016/j.cherd.2020.07.020.
- [50] Aalaie, J.; Farahani, E.V.; Rahmatpour, A. Gelation Rheology and Water Absorption Behavior of Semi-interpenetrating Polymer Networks of Polyacrylamide and Carboxymethyl Cellulose. J. Macromol. Sci., Part B: Phys.2013,52,604-613. DOI:10.1080/00222348.2012.716664.
- [51] Kheirabadi, M.; Bagheri, R.; Kabir, K.; Ossipov, D.; Jokar, E.; Asadian, E. Improvement in Mechanical Performance of Anionic Hydrogels Using Full-Interpenetrating Polymer Network Reinforced with Graphene Oxide Nanosheets. *Adv.Polym.Technol*.2016,35,1-10. DOI:10.1002/adv.21563.

- [52] Li, X.; Cho, U.R. Mechanical Performance and Oil Resistance Behavior of Modified Starch/Cellulose with Silica by Adsorption Method Filled into SBR Rubber Latex. *Polym. Korea.* 2018,42, 492-497. DOI: 10.7317/pk.2018.42.3.492.
- [53] Karadag, E.; Nalbantoglu, A.; Kundakci, S.; Uzum, O.B. Highly Swollen Polymer/Clay Composite Sorbent- Based AM/AMPS Hydrogels and Semi-IPNs Composed of Carboxymethyl Cellulose and Montmorillonite and Cross-Linked by PEGDA. *Polym. Plast. Technol. Eng.* 2014 53, 54-64, DOI: 10.1080/03602559.2013.843689
- [54] Liu, X.; Rao, P.; Xiao, W.; Xia, Q.; Zhang, W. Synthesis and Performance of Fluid Loss Agents Based on Different Acrylamide Monomers. J. Pet. Explor. Prod. Technol. 2015, 5, 409-415. DOI: 10.1007/s13202-015-0154-1.
- [55] Zhu, H.; Yao, X. Synthesis and Characterization of Poly (Acrylamide-co-2-Acrylamido-2methylpropane sulfonic acid)/Kaolin Superabsorbent Composite. J. Macromol. Sci. Part A: Pure Appl. Chem. 2013, 50, 175-184. DOI: 10.1080/10601325.2013.741891.
- [56] Atassi, Y.; Said, M.; Tally, M.; Kouba, L. Synthesis and Characterization of Chitosan-g-poly (AMPS-co-AA-co-AM)/Ground Basalt Composite Hydrogel: Antibacterial Activity. *Polym. Bull.* 2020, 77, 5281-5302. DOI: 10.1007/s00289-019-03017-1.
- [57] Aalaie.; J, Alvand, E.; Hemmati, M.; Sajjadian, V.A. Preparation and Probing of the Steady Shear Flow and Viscoelastic Properties of Weakly Crosslinked Hydrogels Based on Sulfonated Polyacrylamide for Oil Recovery Applications. *Polym. Sci. Ser. A.* 2015, 57, 680-687. DOI: 10.1134/S0965545X15050016
- [58] Cheraghian, S.; Rostami, S.; Afrand, M. Nanotechnology in Enhanced Oil Recovery. *Processes*.2020,8,1073-1090. DOI: 10.3390/pr8091073.
- [59] Aliabadian, E.; Sadeghi, S.; Moghaddam, A.R.; Maini, B.; Chena, Z.; Sundararaj, U. Application of Graphene Oxide Nanosheets and HPAM Aqueous Dispersion for Improving

Heavy Oil Recovery: Effect of Localized Functionalization. *Fuel.* 2020,265,116918. DOI: 10.1016/j.fuel.2019.116918.

- [60] Novoselov, K.S.; Gei, A.K.; Morozov, S.V.; Jiang, D.; Zhang, Y.; Dubonos, S.V.; Grigorieva, I.V.; Firsov, A.A. Electric Field Effect in Atomic Ally thin Carbon Films. *Science*.2004,306, 666-669. DOI: 10.1126/science.1102896.
- [61] Liu, X.; Shao, X.Y.; Fang, G.B.; Hai, H.; Wan, Z.G. Preparation, and Properties of Chemically Reduced Graphene Oxide/Copolymer-Polyamide Nanocomposite Hydrogels. *e Polymer*. 2017,17,3-14. DOI:10.1515/epoly-2016-0094.
- [62] Nguyen, B. D.; Ngo, T. K.; Bui1, T. H.; Pham, D. K.; Dinh, X. L.; Nguyen, P. T. The Impact of Graphene Oxide Particles on Viscosity Stabilization for Diluted Polymer Solutions Using in Enhanced Oil Recovery at HTHP Offshore Reservoirs. *Adv. Nat. Sci.: Nanosci. Nanotechnol.* 2015, 6, 1-8. DOI:10.1088/2043-6262/6/1/015012.
- [63] Pan, C.; Liu, L.; Gai, G. Recent Progress of Graphene-Containing Polymer Hydrogels: Preparations, Properties, and Applications. *Macromol. Mater. Eng.* 2017, 302, 1700184.
   DOI:10.1002/mame.201700184.
- [64] Fan, J.; Shi, Z.; Lian, M.; Li, H.; Yin, J. Mechanically Strong Graphene Oxide/Sodium Alginate/Polyacrylamide Nanocomposite Hydrogel with Improved Dye Adsorption Capacity. J. Mater. Chem. A. 2013, 1,7433-7443. DOI: 10.1039/C3TA10639J.
- [65] Boroujeni, K. P.; Tohidiyan, Z.; Fadavi, A.; Eskandari, M. M., Shahsanaei, H. A. Synthesis and Catalytic Application of poly (2-Acrylamido-2-Methyl-1-Propanesulfonic Acid-co-Acrylamide) Grafted on Graphene Oxide. *Chemistry. Select.* 2019, 4, 7734-7744. DOI:10.1002/slct.201900695.
- [66] Dai, H.; Zhang, Y.; Ma, L.; Zhang, H.; Huang, H. Synthesis and Response of Pineapple Peel Carboxymethyl Cellulose-g-poly (Acrylic Acid-co-Acrylamide)/Graphene Oxide Hydrogels. *Carbohydr. Polym.* 2019, 215, 366-376. DOI: 10.1016/j.carbpol.2019.03.090.

- [67] Tarash, S.; Nazockdast, H.; Sodeifian, G. Reinforcing Effect of Graphene Oxide on Mechanical Properties, Self-healing Performance, and Recoverability of Double Network Hydrogel Based on k-Carrageenan and Polyacrylamide. *Polymer*.2019,183, 12183.DOI: 10.1016/j.polymer.2019.121837.
- [68] Potts, J. R.; Dreyer, D. R.; Bielawski, C. W.; Ruoff, R. S. Graphene-based Polymer Nanocomposites. Polymer. 2011, 52, 5-25. DOI: 10.1016/j.polymer.2010.11.042.
- [69] Stankovich, S.; Dikin, D.A.; Dommett, G. H. B.; Kohlhaas, K. M. E.; Zimney, J.; Nguyen
  S. T.; Ruoff, R. S. Graphene-Based Composite Materials. *Nature*. 2006, 442, 282-286.
  DOI: 10.1038/nature04969.
- [70] Hummers, W.S.; Offeman, R.E. Preparation of Graphitic Oxide. J.Am. Chem.Soc.1985, 80,1339-1339. DOI :10.1021/ja01539a017.
- [71] Ammar, A.; Al-Enizi, A. M.; AlMaadeed, A. A.; Karim, A. Influence of Graphene Oxide on Mechanical, Morphological, Barrier, and Electrical Properties of Polymer Membranes. *Arab. J. Chem.* 2016, 9, 274-286. DOI: 10.1016/j.arabjc.2015.07.006.
- [72] Al-Gaashani, R.; Najjarc, A.; Zakaria, Y.; Mansour, S.; Atieha, M.A. XPS and Structural Studies of High-Quality Graphene Oxide and Reduced Graphene Oxide Prepared by Different Chemical Oxidation Methods. *Ceram. Int.* 2019, 45,14439-14448. DOI: 10.1016/j.ceramint.2019.04.165.
- [73] Suo, Y.; Guo, R.; Xia, H.; Yang, Y.; Yan, F.; Qianmin, M. Study on Modification Mechanism of Workability and Mechanical Properties for Graphene Oxide-Reinforced Cement Composite. *NanoMater. Nanotechnol.* 2020, 10, 1-12. DOI: 10.1177/1847980420912601.
- [74] Moazzami, M.; Sharif, F. Enhancement of Dispersion and Bonding of Graphene-Polymer Through Wet Transfer of Functionalized Graphene Oxide, *EXPRESS Polym. Lett.* 2012, 6, 1017-1031. DOI: 10.3144/expresspolymlett.2012.107.

[75] Lee, K.S. The Effects of the Shear-Thinning Property of Injection Fluid on the Performance
 of Polymer Flood. *Energy Sources, Part A.* 2013,35,1550-1559. DOI: 10.1080/15567036.2011.586976.

# Chapter 2

**Materials and Methods** 

#### 2.1. Materials and methods

This chapter presents detailed descriptions of the methods and equipment used in attaining the purpose and objectives of this study. This research is an experimental based, which also embodies a qualitative pathway.

### 2.2. Chemicals and reagents

All chemicals were purchased from either one of the vendors such as Sigma Aldrich, Alfa Aesar, United nanotech innovation PVT Ltd, Shandong Shengyou cementing engineering & technology Co, SNF Co, and Carlo Erba. Solvents were purchased from Fischer Scientific. All chemicals were purchased in high purity and used without further purification.

# 2.3. Experimental procedure

#### 2.3.1. Preparation of (HPAM/HPG/GO) IPN nanocomposite hydrogels

The IPN hydrogel and nanocomposite hydrogels were prepared and schematically shown in Scheme 1. First, 0.35 wt.% of HPAM as well as 0.35 wt.% of HPG powder were gradually added to the separate saline water and stirred regularly by a magnetic heater stirrer to obtain clear viscous solutions at room temperature and aged for 24 hr. Then the various amounts of GO (0.05, 0.1, 0.3, and 0.5 wt.%) were dispersed in saline water for 1 hr by a magnetic stirrer to form a stable dispersion. Afterward, the prepared HPG and HPAM were charged in GO solution, respectively and stirring was continued for another 1 hr using an overhead mixer (Heidolph RZR 2020). Then, 0.075 wt.% of the chromium triacetate as a crosslinker was prepared in water and added to the aqueous mixture while stirring gently. The reaction mixture was heated at 185°F (85°C) for approximately two hr to obtain a homogeneous solution. The final samples were dried in a vacuum oven for 24 hr at 158 °F (70 °C). The polymer concentration of all samples was 0.7 wt.%. The salinity of water is 7616 ppm.



Scheme 1: The schematic of structure HPAM/HPG/GO IPN nanocomposites hydrogel.

### 2.3.2. GO preparation

GO was prepared according to the following procedure, briefly 0.5 g of the graphite was mixed in 60 ml of H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, and 6.6 ml of H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> followed by stirring for 10 min. 1.5 g of KMnO<sub>4</sub> was then gradually added to the solution and the reaction was heated and stirred at 80°C for another 24 hr. Finally, 90 ml deionized water was added followed by 1 ml H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> into the solution which was then stirred for over 30 min. The final product was a bright yellow solution which was purified by centrifugation for around 60 min at 2500 rpm and washed several times with water to adjust pH to 7-8. The solution was centrifugated for an additional 60 min. The same step was repeated by changing water with ethanol. Finally, ethanol was removed by adding diethyl ether and the solution was poured onto a glass tray and the solvent was allowed to evaporate at room temperature. The sample was then dried in an oven at 80 °C for 24 hr and was milled with mortar.

#### 2.3.3. Synthesis of the HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO

The HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO was synthesized by the free-radical copolymerization as shown in Scheme 2. Firstly, 1 g of HPG was added to a 250-mL three-necked flask and mixed until the mixture was homogenized. Then various concentrations (0, 0.05, 0.1, and 0.3 wt.%) of GO were interspersed in 20 mL distilled water and stirred in an ultrasonic bath

(Branson Co., 60 Hz, 80 W) to earn the good dispersion of GO solution. After that, GO added to the flask necked and allowed to mix. Subsequently, a 30 mL aqueous solution containing 8 and 2 g of AM and AMPS monomers was poured into the flask and was mixed for 45 min. Thereafter, 0.011 mol/L of APS as an initiator in 5 mL distilled water was added slowly and the pH of the reaction solution was adjusted to 7-8 with sodium hydroxide and hydrochloric acid. Later on, the reaction was continued to stir for another 3hr by soaring the temperature to 80°C, under an inert nitrogen gas atmosphere up to the viscous solution was engendered. The synthesized product was precipitated and washed with acetone to obviate any impurities Afterwards, it was dried in a vacuum oven for 6 hr up to achieve a stable weight, finally, it was powdered by a mortal pastel.



Scheme 2. The schematic of HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO graft copolymer

nanocomposite.

#### 2.3.4. Preparation of nanocomposite hydrogel

The nanocomposite hydrogel is prepared by gradually adding different amounts (0.5, 0.7, 0.9, and 1.1 wt.%) of synthesized graft copolymer nanocomposite to the saline solution (NaCl: 15000 ppm) and stirred frequently by a magnetic stirrer to get viscous solutions and kept for 24 hr. After that, the different amounts (0.6, 0.8, 1, and 1.4 wt.%) of chromium triacetate as a crosslinker were provided in water and mixed with the graft copolymer nanocomposite solution. Finally, the reaction was done by heating to 85 °C for nearly 2 hr to produce a uniform gel solution.

#### 2.4. Equipment and characterization used

A magnetic stirrer was used for making polymer solutions and mixing gellant solutions. A few of the techniques employed during different projects are enlisted below

#### 2.4.1. Fourier transform infrared (FTIR)

FTIR spectra of dried samples were accomplished by Thermo is10 spectrometer and PERKIN ELMER-65 spectrometer, in the range of 4000-650 and 500 cm<sup>-1</sup>. The resolution and the scanning number were 4 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 16, respectively.

# 2.4.2. X-ray diffraction (XRD) characterization

Wide-angle XRD analysis of dried samples was carried out at room temperature using a Rigaku diffractometer with Cu-K $\alpha$  radiation ( $\lambda = 1.5418$  Å) in the range 2 $\theta$ =5-70.

#### 2.4.3. Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA)

TGA was examined using Perkin Elmer, STA 6000. The dried samples were scanned from 30 °C to 500 °C at 10°C/min.

# 2.4.4. Morphology characterization

Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) was carried out by TESCAN Vega Model and also HITACHI, SUI 510 which was equipped with energy dispersive X-ray (EDX) by software X-MAX (Oxford instruments, 20 mm<sup>2</sup>) for elemental analysis. The dried samples were coated

by sputtering the thin layer of gold for good conductivity. Transmission electron microscope (TEM) of graft copolymer nanocomposite was obtained using a PHILIPS EM 208 S.

#### 2.4.5. Rheological measurements

Rheological characterizations of the nanocomposite hydrogels were performed by a rheometer (Paar-Physica, MCR 301) at temperatures of 200 and 240°F (93 and 115 °C), which was equipped with parallel plate geometry and also a Peltier device for control of temperature. To inhabit the water loss, silicone oil was used at the outer surface. The strain amplitude was 1 % with the frequency in the range 0.01-100 rad/s.

The viscosity stability vs. time for the nanocomposite hydrogels was carried out using HT/HP (High temperature/High Pressure) fluid rheology tester (HT/HP Acid-resisting, GRACE M5600 Rheometer). The test of gellant samples was performed for 51 min under a pressure of 480 psi and at the shear rate of 100 1/s (API RP 39). The temperature of the samples was 200 °F and 240 °F.

#### 2.4.6. Aging effect

Long-term aging by viscosity monitoring was performed and the samples were held in an oven at 200 and 240 °F, for 7 days, separately. The effect of the loss viscosity of these samples on long-term thermal stability was studied.

# 2.4.7. Electrical characterization

The electrical conductivity of IPN nanocomposite hydrogels was evaluated in conformity with ASTM D257 by Tara S cm<sup>-1</sup> at 500 V by CEAST Co. The sheet samples (1mm thick) were prepared and coated with silver paint.

# **Chapter 3**

Rheological and thermal stability of interpenetrating polymer network hydrogel based on polyacrylamide/hydroxypropyl guar reinforced with graphene oxide for application in oil recovery

#### 3.1. Introduction

Polymers are often employed in oil recovery applications not only as gel polymers for water production control in-depth reservoir formation but also for oil displacement in polymer flooding. In this chapter, the effect of graphene oxide (GO) as a thermal reinforcer for improving the viscosity and thermal stability of hydrogel system based on HPAM/HPG was evaluated. The nanocomposite hydrogel was prepared by HPAM with a modifier of viscosity like hydroxypropyl guar HPG using the interpenetration polymer network (IPN) technique called IPN hydrogel in presence of the reinforcement effect of GO and the cross-linker chromium triacetate as a new admixture hydrogel with excellent properties for EOR applications in high temperature was studied.

# 3.2. Objectives

The main objectives of this section of research are as follows:

- The interactions between GO and polymer chains of the matrix at the interface, to improve IPN network strength were investigated.
- The influence of GO as reinforcement on the shear viscosity versus shear rate.
- The reinforcing effect of the GO for the formation of GO network structure on IPN hydrogel based on HPAM/HPG.
- The effect of GO on shear-thinning behavior and pseudoplastic fluid behavior.
- Effect of low and high shear rate on the dispersion of GO in nanocomposites.
- Relationship between viscosity stability of IPN versus time to evaluate the flowability of polymer with desired viscosity in the reservoir as porous media.
- The significant effect of temperature on the rheological behavior of IPN hydrogel.
- Noticeable effects of GO on electrical conductivity that it has been studied by electrical conductivity. And also, this effect helps to better understate the dispersion of GO in the matrix.

• The effect of GO on the improvement of the effect of the aging long term of IPN hydrogel as a polymer solution, during the shear rate and temperature.

# **3.3. Article 1**

# Rheological and thermal stability of interpenetrating polymer network hydrogel based on polyacrylamide/hydroxypropyl guar reinforced with graphene oxide for application in oil recovery

Journal of Polymer Engineering, 2021, 41, 788-798.

Published date: 20-08-2021

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1515/polyeng-2021-0147

# 3.4. Author's contribution

**Amir Narimani:** Conceptualization of the project, visualization, and investigation of experiments, all mixing of polymers and experiments conducted, validation of methodology and curation of data, drafting the original manuscript.

Farid Kordnejad: Investigation in rheology study.

Dr. Prabhjyot Kaur: Writing- review, and editing.

Prof. Mahmood Hemmati: Investigation in EOR study.

Prof. Saeed Bazgir: Investigation in rheology study.

**Prof. Adam Duong:** Project administration, supervision, funding acquisition, writing-review, and editing.
### Rheological and thermal stability of interpenetrating polymer network hydrogel based on polyacrylamide/hydroxypropyl guar reinforced with graphene oxide for application in oil recovery

Amir Narimani<sup>1</sup>, Farid Kordnejad<sup>2</sup>, Prabhjyot Kaur<sup>1</sup>,

Saeed Bazgir <sup>3</sup>, Mahmood Hemmati <sup>3</sup>, Adam Duong<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Chemistry, Biochemistry, and Physics, Institute de Recherche sur l'Hydrogène, University of Quebec, Trois Rivieres, Quebec, Canada

<sup>2</sup>Department of Polymer Engineering, Islamic Azad University, South Branch, Tehran, Iran <sup>3</sup>Department of Petroleum Engineering, Islamic Azad University, Science and Research

Branch, Tehran, Iran

#### Abstract

The purpose of the present work is to enhance the thermal stability and rheological properties of semi-interpenetrating polymer network (IPN) hydrogel-based on partially hydrolyzed polyacrylamide/hydroxypropyl guar (HPAM/HPG) nanocomposite reinforced with graphene oxide (GO), at temperatures (200 and 240 °F) for use in oil recovery applications. FTIR spectra of the IPN nanocomposite hydrogels revealed interactions of GO with HPAM/HPG chains. An increase in the viscosity is also observed from the rheological study. Moreover, IPN and its nanocomposite hydrogels exhibited non-Newtonian behavior. The decline of viscosity of IPN nanocomposite hydrogels was observed with an increase in the temperature from 200 to 240 °F but was still higher than IPN hydrogel without GO. Dispersion of GO through the HPAM/HPG hydrogel matrix was evaluated by SEM morphology and electrical conductivity. The IPN nanocomposite hydrogels showed high viscosity stability, thermal stability, and flow activation energy as compared to IPN hydrogel without GO. Therefore, the addition of 0.1 wt.% of GO to the HPAM/HPG matrix is suitable to create a cross-linked polymer solution with improved properties which may be beneficial for use in oil recovery applications.

**Keywords:** Rheological behavior, graphene oxide, enhanced oil recovery, thermal stability, cross-linked hydrogel

Address correspondence to Adam Duong, University of Quebec, Trois Rivieres, Quebec, Canada. E-mail: adam.duong@uqtr.ca

#### **1. Introduction**

Polymers are often applied in oil recovery applications not only as gel polymers for water production control in-depth reservoir formation but also for oil displacement in polymer flooding [1-2]. The hydrophilic polymers boost remarkably the viscosity of the injection water, and decrease the mobility ratio of water to oil, to enhance the sweep efficiency in the reservoir [3-4]. Polymer solutions present a suitable performance when their viscosity is maintained at the desired level. Therefore, rheological behaviors and properties of the polymer solution play a fundamental role in enhanced oil recovery (EOR) applications. The knowledge of these properties assists in the selecting, designing, and processing of the fluid into porous media like the oil reservoir [5-6]. Oil reservoirs have a heterogeneous structure with different natural fractures and these reservoirs are also different in terms of porosity and permeability [7], which affects sweep performance [8]. Furthermore, the flow rate corresponds to the shear rate of the polymer solution, which would alter from the well surface to the reservoir [7]. As well, harsh conditions of reservoirs such as salinity and high temperature affect the stability and viscosity of polymer solutions during the recovery process [9-11]. Therefore, all these factors can reduce the efficiency of oil recovery [12].

Polyacrylamide (PAM), partially hydrolyzed polyacrylamide (HPAM) [12] xanthan, [13] guar [14] are the most important water-dissolvable polymers, used in EOR applications such as polymer flooding, water shutoff, and also in drilling fluid [11,15]. HPAM with a cross-linker is mixed to create a gellant that is injected from the surface into the reservoir. Under the effect of temperature and time, HPAM and crosslinker react to make a three-dimensional network structure [16]. However, HPAM is sensitive to salinity and has poor shear resistance, as well as its molecular chains break while passing through the porous media at high speed [4,17]. HPAM is also not stable upon increasing the temperature, because of NH<sub>2</sub> group hydrolyzation [15,18] which results in a significant decrease in the viscosity and strength of hydrogel. Therefore, to overcome this drawback of hydrogel based on HPAM, mixing with

natural polymers, like hydroxypropyl guar (HPG), along with using the chemical cross-linkers through interpenetrating polymer network (IPN) technique can be highly effective [19-20]. HPG is not only less sensitive to mechanical shearing but is also used as a high modifier in increasing the viscosity [21-22].

IPN technique is the admixture of two polymers, which have been cross-linked and/or synthesized to improve the new admixture polymer properties. Through this method, various polymer compounds can be prepared based on the desired properties of both polymers by changing their compositions [23-24]. In addition, when one polymer is cross-linked and the other polymer is not networked, a semi-IPN is created. In contrast, when both are cross-linked, a full IPN is created [25]. The present study is limited to the use of semi IPN hydrogel in the presence of the crosslinker as a cross-linked polymer hydrogel. This polymer gel system can flow while having a cross-linked structure in porous media. In fact, crosslinked gel systems can obviate the difficulty of high permeability zones in a non-homogenous reservoir and enhance control of water production. It can also be used due to the slow-motion of gels in zones with high permeability as an oil displacement by decreasing the mobility ratio as well as reducing the viscous fingering simultaneously [1.26-27]. However, the application of this sort of conventional IPN hydrogel as a polymer solution is somewhat limited, because of the low thermal stability of IPN hydrogel that causes reduction of hydrogel viscosity and mechanical performance, especially in reservoirs with high temperatures [10,12,19]. Therefore, the mechanical strength, thermal stability, and rheological performance of conventional IPN hydrogel in harsh reservoir conditions can be remarkably improved by the incorporation of nanoparticles owing to their excellent properties, including mechanical strength, salt tolerance, thermal stability, and elasticity [4,10]. In addition, adding nanoparticles to fluids enhances the effectiveness of oil recovery processes by causing a decline in the interfacial tension and changing the rock wettability [28-29]. More recently, GO has gained attention in this regard and is used as a thermal, electrical, and stiffness

reinforcement nanoparticle for hydrogel polymer in harsh conditions [30-31]. GO is produced by chemically modifying graphene using KMnO<sub>4</sub>, NaNO<sub>3</sub>, and H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> [32]. It has a large surface area, and also contains abundant functional groups including epoxide, carboxyl, hydroxyl, and carbonyl [33-34]. Because of its hydrophilic nature and functional groups, it is dispersible in an aqueous environment and is also compatible with some hydrophilic polymers as a modifier [31,35-36]. Hence the major concern to obtain IPN nanocomposites hydrogels with desired viscosity, strength, and thermal stability performance in electrolyte media under harsh reservoir conditions is the uniform dispersion of GO [1, 36-37].

In this study, IPN nanocomposite hydrogel based on HPAM/HPG, produced by incorporating GO in presence of chromium triacetate as a cross-linker has been studied. To the best of our knowledge, there is no report of the effect of GO on semi-IPN nanocomposite structure based on HPAM/HPG hydrogel system to improve the rheological behavior, thermal stability, and long-term aging of IPN nanocomposites hydrogel for EOR applications. Thus, the purpose of this study is to investigate the influence of GO on the novel semi-IPN nanocomposite hydrogel, in terms of viscosity, flow activation energy, temperature, long-term aging, viscosity loss, and thermal stability. In addition, FTIR, morphology, and electrical characterization of nanocomposite hydrogels have been evaluated.

#### 2. Experimental

#### 2.1. Materials

HPAM, with 25 mol.% degree of hydrolysis, and  $8 \times 10^6$  Dalton molecular weight was supplied from SNF Co. GO (research-grade, Few-Layer: 0.43 gr/cc, Purity:99%), was obtained from united nanotech innovation PVT Ltd, India. HPG with a molecular weight of  $2 \times 10^6$  Dalton was obtained from Shandong Shengyou cementing engineering & technology Co., Ltd, China. Chromium triacetate was supplied from Carlo Erba, Italy. The total dissolved solids (TDS) of saline water is 7616 ppm.

#### 2.2. Preparation of nanocomposite hydrogels

The IPN hydrogel and nanocomposite hydrogels were prepared and schematically shown in Figure 1. First, 0.35 wt.% of HPAM along with 0.35 wt.% of HPG powder were gradually added to the separate saline water and stirred regularly by a heater magnetic stirrer to obtain clear viscous solutions at room temperature and aged for 24 hrs. Then the various amounts of GO (0.05, 0.1, 0.3, and 0.5 wt.%) were dispersed in saline water for 1 hr by a magnetic stirrer to form a stable dispersion. Afterward, the prepared HPG and HPAM were charged in GO solution respectively, and stirring was continued for another 1 hr. using an overhead mixer (Heidolph RZR 2020). Then, 1.4 wt.% of the chromium triacetate as a crosslinker was prepared in water and added to the aqueous mixture while stirring gently. The reaction mixture was heated at 185°F (85°C) for approximately 2 hrs. to obtain a homogeneous solution. The final samples were dried in a vacuum oven for 24 hrs. at 158 °F (70 °C). The polymer concentration of all samples was 0.7 wt.%.



**Figure 1.** The schematic of the preparation procedure of HPAM/HPG/GO semi IPN nanocomposites hydrogel.

#### 2.3. Characterization

#### 2.3.1. FTIR characterization

Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectra were performed by PERKIN ELMER-65 spectrometer, using KBr pellets in the range of 4000-500 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

#### 2.3.2. Rheological characterization

Rheological characterizations of the nanocomposite hydrogels were performed by a rheometer (Paar-Physica, MCR 301) at temperatures of 200 and 240°F (93 and 115 °C), which was equipped with parallel plate geometry and also a Peltier device for control of temperature. To prevent the water loss, silicone oil was used at the outer surface. The strain amplitude was 1 % with the frequency in the range 0.01-100 rad/s.

The viscosity stability vs. time for the nanocomposite hydrogels was carried out using HT/HP (High temperature/High Pressure) fluid rheology tester (HT/HP Acid-resisting, GRACE M5600 Rheometer). The test of gellant samples was performed for 51 min under a pressure of 480 psi and at the shear rate of 100 1/s. The temperature of the samples was 200 °F and 240 °F.

#### 2.3.3. Morphology characterization

Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) was accomplished by TESCAN Vega Model to study the morphology of HPAM/HPG/GO nanocomposite hydrogels. The fractured surface of samples was coated by sputtering the gold layer.

#### 2.3.4. Electrical characterization

The electrical conductivity of IPN nanocomposite hydrogels was evaluated in conformity with ASTM D257 by Tara S cm<sup>-1</sup> at 500 V by CEAST Co. The sheet samples (1mm thick) were prepared and coated with silver paint.

#### 2.3.5. Aging effect

Long-term aging by viscosity monitoring was performed and the samples were held in an oven at 200 and 240 °F, for 7 days, separately. The effect of the loss viscosity of these samples on long-term thermal stability was studied.

#### **3.** Results and Discussion

#### **3.1. FTIR characterization**

FTIR was employed to evaluate the interaction between the IPN matrix and GO. As presented in Figure 2, the FTIR spectrum of GO displayed peaks at 3437,1720, 1623, 1396, 1224, and 1046 cm<sup>-1</sup>, corresponding to the O-H hydroxyl group, C=O carbonyl stretching, C=C, O-H deformation vibration, C-OH, and C-O-C (epoxy) stretching respectively [38-39]. In the spectrum of IPN hydrogel, the peak at 3449 cm<sup>-1</sup> is attributed to the overlap of the O-H bond of the hydroxyl group of HPG and the N-H band of the amide group of HPAM [21]. Besides, C-H stretching at 2825 cm<sup>-1</sup> is observed. The peak near 1682 cm<sup>-1</sup> is owing to the C=O stretching of the amide group of HPAM. CH<sub>2</sub> scissoring band appears at 1431 cm<sup>-1</sup>. The peak at 1089 cm<sup>-1</sup> is due to CH<sub>2</sub>-O-CH<sub>2</sub> stretching vibrations. Meanwhile, the peak around 617 cm<sup>-1</sup> is because of the N-H wagging vibration [21]. By comparing the FTIR spectrums of IPN hydrogel, with nanocomposite hydrogels at 0.1 and 0.5 wt.% of GO, it was observed that most of the characteristic peaks of IPN hydrogel shifted to a lower wavenumber for semi IPN nanocomposite hydrogels. The characteristic peak at 3449 cm<sup>-1</sup> in HPAM/HPG hydrogel shifted to 3446 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 3445 cm<sup>-1</sup> in HPAM/HPG/GO for 0.1 and 0.5 wt.% of GO. It indicates that the interaction between GO and matrix occurs by the N-H bond of HPAM in the IPN hydrogel matrix and O-H deformation vibration of GO. The other peaks appear at 2823 and 2824 cm<sup>-1</sup> for IPN nanocomposites at 0.1 and 0.5 wt.% of GO, indicating the stretching vibration of C-H. Moreover, the characteristic peak in IPN hydrogel moved from 1682 cm<sup>-1</sup> to 1664 and 1662 cm<sup>-1</sup> for IPN nanocomposites hydrogel at 0.1 and 0.5 wt.%

of GO which was related to C=O of the amide group. However, the peak at 1431 cm<sup>-1</sup> in IPN hydrogel shifted to 1423 and 1422 cm<sup>-1</sup> for IPN nanocomposite hydrogels at 0.1 and 0.5 wt.% of GO, due to C-H bending vibration. Also, there is the C-O-C stretching around 1085 cm<sup>-1</sup> for IPN nanocomposites [12,40]. These results indicate the link between the HPAM/HPG chains and GO through hydrogen bonding [34-35,39].



Figure 2. FTIR spectra of GO, IPN (0, 0.1 and 0.5) wt.% of GO.

#### 3.2. Rheological behavior

Polymer flowability is a significant factor in EOR applications because high viscosity polymers solution cannot flow easily in the reservoir, while low viscosity polymers solution decreases polymer injection efficacy in the EOR [2]. To get an insight on this, the dependency of viscosity on the shear rate for IPN nanocomposite hydrogels at 200 and 240 °F was evaluated. As shown in Figure 3, the viscosity was boosted by adding GO, which was remarkable at 0.1 wt.% of GO, at the low-shear rate, indicating the formation of physical interaction between GO and the matrix, which restrained the movement of polymer chains, resulting in a rapid rise in the viscosity [12,41]. In other words, a large surface area of GO nanosheets can act as a multifunctional cross-linker and interact with polymer chains of the matrix, along with the chromium triacetate which created further crosslinking in the polymer network. This leads to an enhancement in the strength of the network structure of

nanocomposite hydrogels [35,42]. Moreover, nanoparticles tend to form agglomerates because of high interparticle interactions [10,38]. As a result, a slight raise of viscosity was also observed with increasing GO to 0.5 wt.%. According to figure 3, the viscosity of all samples diminished by a raise in the shear rate. However, the speed of this reduction is related to the GO contents. The nano samples with the addition of GO show better resistance to the increase of shear rate than neat IPN hydrogel, at both temperatures (200 and 240 °F). In fact, GO nanosheet gave greater strength to the IPNs, due to which, the network of IPN nano hydrogel could further withstand against stretch stress and deformation created by shearing fields [42].



**Figure 3.** Viscosity vs. shear rate of IPN nanocomposite hydrogels at A) 200 and B) 240 °F.

It was also found that all samples showed the non-Newtonian and shear thinning behavior, by soaring the shear rate, at both temperatures, which implied the dependency of the power-law to shear rate [11]. This was because of soaring the end-to-end distance as a consequence of unraveling the polymer chains, owing to shear fields. This causes a decrease in polymer viscosity, which implies the pseudoplastic fluid behavior [12]. The shear-thinning behavior displays the dependency of rheological properties on the viscoelastic characteristics of the polymer matrix [5].

Figure 4 depicts the influence of GO contents on the viscosity of semi IPN nanocomposite hydrogels for four different shear rates at 200 and 240 °F. At low shear rates (0.1 and 1 1/s), the viscosity soared promptly by adding GO, which was noticeable at 0.1 wt.%, because of the good dispersion of GO into the polymer matrix to form the GO network structure. The viscosity continued to increase linearly with an increase in the GO to 0.5 wt.%. In contrast, at a high shear rate (100 1/s), viscosity was less sensitive to the augmentation of GO content. In other words, the reinforcement effect of GO nanosheet was more prevailing at a low shear rate compared to a high shear rate and also at both temperatures 200 and 240 °F [43-44].



Figure 4. Viscosity versus GO contents at A) 200 and B) 240 °F.

For further understating the effect of GO on rheology behavior, the activation energy (E) was studied by the Arrhenius-Frenkel-Eyring equation to appraise the dependency of viscosity to temperature [45] and was computed by the equation (1) [46].

$$\frac{1}{T_1} - \frac{1}{T_2} = \frac{R}{E} \ln\left(\frac{\eta_1}{\eta_2}\right) \tag{1}$$

Where  $\eta$ ,  $\eta_2$ ,  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$ , and R were the viscosities, temperatures, and gas constant (8.315 J. gmol<sup>-1</sup>. K<sup>-1</sup>), respectively. As shown in Figure 5, the flow activation energy of the hydrogels was improved with the addition of 0.1 wt.% of GO. This was mainly attributed to cross-linking between GO as a bridge reinforcer with matrix, causing a resistance to the mobility of the polymer chains, and creating an energetic barrier for polymer chains [9,47]. In contrast, further increases in GO contents had no suitable effect on flow activation energy.



Figure 5. Flow activation energy versus GO contents.

The common types of polymer degradation are mechanical (shearing) and thermal degradation both of which affect the viscosity of the polymer. However, the effect of temperature is higher than the shear degradation [43]. Polymer solution will expose to diverse temperature gradients from the well surface to the reservoir. Because of this, the effect of temperature on the viscosity of semi IPN nanocomposite hydrogels was investigated. As illustrated in Figure 6, the viscosity diminished with an increase in the temperature from 200 to 240 °F, at all the shear rates. This behavior was due to an increase in chain mobility of polymers and the opening of entanglement of IPN hydrogel chains in the matrix. Moreover, the decrease in the number of cross-linking points into the IPN network at elevated temperatures, and, the undermined strength of the interaction between GO nanosheet and matrix, leads to slippage of polymer chains over GO sheet, causing a decline in the viscosity [5,10]. However, IPN nanocomposite hydrogel showed great strength, compared to a neat IPN hydrogel because of the GO effect. In other words, when the polymers and GO are dissolved in saline water, the GO as a strong thermal enhancer interacted with polymer chains of IPN hydrogel, to form a durable solution. In addition, functional groups in GO provide crosslinking strength in the hydrogel network. This reinforces the thermal stability of the hydrogel and also reduces the rapid network breakage of the hydrogel with increasing temperatures and shear rates [12,39]. Besides, the presence of chromium triacetate as a crosslinker can have a positive effect in

improving the strength of the IPN network structure [1,27]. On the other hand, IPN hydrogel without the GO, despite the presence of a crosslinker, an increase in the temperature would weaken the polymer network, due to the poor strength of cross-linking points, compared to IPN nanocomposites. As a result, cross-linking between polymer chains debilitated, resulting in rapid breakage in its network structure, causing a decrease in the viscosity of the solution [40]. Therefore, GO nanosheets as strong thermal reinforcement can hinder the degradation process and defer the further thermal degradation of the polymer matrix by increasing temperature [31,36], which causes polymer solution to flow further in high permeability zones of a reservoir to ameliorate the oil recovery efficiency.



**Figure 6.** The dependency of the viscosity on the temperature of IPN nanocomposite hydrogels, at 200 and 240 °F.

The viscosity stability of IPN nanocomposite hydrogels is another important rheological parameter in oil recovery and was determined at 200 and 240 °F, and at a constant shear rate of 100 1/s with the time, as shown in Figure 7 (a and b). Viscosity stability of IPN hydrogel and its nanocomposite hydrogels sharply decreased with time. The same effect was observed with an increase in temperatures until the arrival at the target temperature (200 and 240°F). After this, the viscosity remained constant and no significant decline of the viscosity was observed with time under constant shear rate. This viscosity stability was because of the creation of a strong network in the matrix at 0.1 wt.% of GO [48]. However, with a raise in the GO content to 0.5 wt.%, this effect was not significant.

It is also noteworthy from Figure 7(c) that, the decline in viscosity stability versus the time, at temperature 240 °F was greater than at temperature 200 °F. However, the viscosity stability of the cross-linked polymeric system containing HPAM and HPG hydrogel in presence of GO at 0.1 wt.% was higher than the HPAM/HPG hydrogel without GO. This behavior was due to the role of GO nanosheet as a reinforcing bridge, leading to an enhancement in the strength of the hydrogel [34,42]. As a result, the network structure of nanocomposite hydrogels displayed shear stability and also required more shear force and time to break its strength.



**Figure 7.** The influence of time on the viscosity stability of IPN nanocomposite hydrogels at A) 200 °F, B) 240 °F, and C) shear rate at 100 1/s.

#### 3.3. Morphology characterization

To better understand the dispersion of GO for IPN hydrogels, the morphology of the nanocomposite hydrogels was evaluated by SEM. As observed in Figure 8 (a-c), GO is well dispersed in a mixture solution of HPAM and HPG and formed a uniform solution with the addition the 0.1 wt.% and somewhat uniform at 0.3 wt.% while some agglomerate of the GO particles was observed with the further increase in GO to 0.5 wt.%, as shown in Figure 8(d). This was due to the strong interparticle attraction of GO to form agglomerates in the matrix of IPN hydrogel [49-50]. In addition, GO particles trend the sedimentation in solution [18], which may cause plugging of the pores in the reservoir, due to nonuniformed dispersions and sedimentation of particles [51]. Therefore, the GO concentration is the key factor for the performance of the interpenetrated polymer network.



**Figure 8.** SEM images of IPN nanocomposites hydrogel; a) 0.1; b) 0.3; c) 0.5 wt.% of GO; and d) Agglomeration of GO particles at 0.5 wt.%.

#### 3.4. Electrical characterization

For further evaluation of the dispersion of GO in the IPN hydrogel systems, the electrical conductivity of IPN nanocomposite hydrogels was also investigated. As can be observed in Figure 9, with the addition of GO up to 0.1 wt.%, the conductivity of nanocomposite increased, this change in electrical conductivity was due to the good dispersion of GO nanosheets within the IPN matrix, to form a strong network structure. As a result, a large number of the electrons are transported within the matrix, owing to the creation of the interconnecting conductive channels [31,50]. Moreover, this raise in electrical conductivity decreased when GO contents increased up to 0.5 wt.%. This may be due to poor GO dispersion and a decline in the distance between the GO sheets with increasing GO contents. This leads to a decrement in the passing of electrons through the matrix and hinders the formation of the electrical network, indicating an agglomerate of GO particles in the IPN matrix [52]. Therefore, the electrical conductivity of IPN nanocomposite hydrogels improved by reinforcing the effect of GO but up to 0.1 wt.% of GO. This behavior was also supported by morphology and rheological studies.



Figure 9. Electrical conductivity versus GO contents.

#### 3.5. Aging effect

Viscosity loss of polymer solutions is a significant element in polymer injection, especially in long-term aging under harsh conditions of the reservoir in EOR applications. Because of this,

the influence of thermal aging on the viscosity behavior of IPN nanocomposite hydrogels, at temperatures of 200 and 240 °F were investigated. As highlighted in Figure 10, the shear viscosity of all samples decreases remarkably by increasing shear rate and temperature. This reduction of viscosity was dependent on GO concentration. Indeed, the physical interaction between GO and matrix undermined significantly, resulting in a decrease in the strength of the IPNs network structure [11]. Interestingly, with the addition of GO to 0.1 wt.%, the sample displayed higher thermal stability than all samples. This behavior is because of the good dispersion of GO in the IPN hydrogel matrix and makes a potent physical interaction with HPAM and HPG chains [10,18]. Besides, the presence of chromium triacetate and HPG in the matrix further strengthens the IPN network and improves the shear stability [1,21-22]. In addition, the cross-linked network of polymer solutions caused decreasing accessibility of divalent cations such as  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Mg^{2+}$  to the HPAM chains [2], and the polymer solution presented greater thermal stability. According to this result, the GO nanosheet as a reinforcing bridge enhanced the strength of the IPN network and boosted the thermal stability and viscosity stability of the polymer solution at high temperatures for the long term. In contrast, with an increase in the GO contents up to 0.5 wt.%, viscosity decreased. This effect could be due to the formation of the agglomerate of GO, which notably reduced the interaction between GO and matrix, because of a decline in the cross-linking in the network. This behavior was supported by morphology studies. Therefore, based on these results, IPN nanocomposite hydrogel by adding 0.1 wt.% of GO, showed less viscosity loss than the other samples at both temperatures, for long-term aging.



**Figure 10.** Viscosity vs shear rate of IPN nanocomposite hydrogels after aging at A) 200°F and B) 240°F.

#### 4. Conclusion

Rheological and thermal aging of interpenetrating polymer networks based on partially hydrolyzed polyacrylamide (HPAM)/hydroxypropyl guar (HPG) reinforced by GO was investigated at various temperatures. The dependency of GO on improving the thermal and viscosity stability was relevant to the good dispersion of GO and its interaction with polymer chains. The interaction of GO with HPAM/HPG chains of IPN hydrogel was observed by FTIR spectra. The rheological studies demonstrated that the viscosity increased by increasing GO contents, while it diminished with the rise in the shear rate, indicating the shear thinning behavior. GO enhanced viscosity stability of nano samples with an increase in temperature from 200 to 240°F, and improved the nanocomposite hydrogel effects, compared to the IPN hydrogel without GO. Flow activation energy elevated by adding 0.1 wt.% of GO. Rheological and morphology results were sensitive to the physical interaction between GO and matrix. SEM study showed the enhancement of the dispersion of GO in the matrix of the polymer (HPAM/HPG) at 0.1 wt.%. This effect is followed by electrical conductivity that improved at 0.1 wt.%. Nano samples exhibited viscosity stability behavior and mechanical strength, at both temperatures 200 and 240 °F, under constant shear rate. GO enhanced the thermal stability of HPAM/HPG/GO hydrogel in long-term thermal aging, compared to IPN hydrogel. Therefore, it can be concluded from these results that the PHPA/HPG/GO nanocomposite hydrogel presents suitable thermal and viscosity stability which may be beneficial for use in a high-temperature reservoir.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (RGPIN-2015-06425), the Canadian Foundation for Innovation, and the Université du Québec à Trois-Rivières.

Conflict of Interest- The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

#### References

- Wang, W., Liu Y., Gu, Y. Application of a Novel Polymer System in Chemical Enhanced Oil Recovery (EOR). *Colloid. Polym. Sci.* 2003, 281, 1046-1054.
- [2] Alvand, E., Aalaie, J., Mahmood, H., Sajjadian, V. A. Thermal Stability Adsorption and Rheological Behaviors of Sulfonated Polyacrylamide/Chromium Triacetate/laponite Nanocomposite Weak Gels. *Macromol. Res.* 2017, 25, 27-37.

- [3] Zhu, S., Shi, L., Wang, X., Liu, C., Xue, X., Ye, Z. Investigation into Mobility Control Mechanisms by Polymer Flooding in the Offshore High-Permeable Heavy Oil Reservoir. *Energy Sources, Part. A.* 2020, 1-14.
- [4] Cheraghian, S., Hendraningrat, L. A Review on Applications of Nanotechnology in the Enhanced Oil Recovery Part A: Effects of Nanoparticles on Interfacial Tension. *Int. Nano. Lett.* 2016, 6, 129-138.
- [5] Aalaie, J. Rheological Behavior of polyacrylamide/laponite nanoparticle suspensions in electrolyte media. J. Macromol. Sci. Part B: Phys. 2012, 51, 1139–1147.
- [6] Dang, T. Q. C., Chen, Z., Nguyen, T. B. N., Bae, W. Rheological Modeling and Numerical Simulation of HPAM Polymer Viscosity in Porous Media. *Energy Sources, Part A.* 2015, 37, 2189–2197.
- [7] Van den Hoek, P. J. Impact of Induced Fractures on Sweep and Reservoir Management in Pattern Floods. Society of Petroleum Engineers-SPE 90968, SPE annual technical conference and exhibition, Houston. USA 2004. OnePetro Publishers
- [8] Shedid A. Influences of Fracture Orientation on Oil Recovery by Water and Polymer Flooding Processes: An Experimental Approach. J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 2006, 50, 285-292.
- [9] Kamal, M. S., Hussien, I. A., Sultan A. S. S., Han, M. Rheological Study on ATBS-AM Copolymer-Surfactant System in High-temperature and High-Salinity Environment. J. Chem. 2013, 1-9.
- [10] Hu, Z., Haruna, M., Gao, H., Nourafkan E. Rheological Properties of Partially Hydrolyzed Polyacrylamide Seeded by Nanoparticles. J. Ind. Eng. Chem. 2017, 56, 3456-3463.
- [11] Wei, B., Rodrigue, D. Mechanical Properties, and Flow Behavior of Polymers for Enhanced Oil Recovery. J. Macromol. Sci. Part B: Phys. 2014, 53, 625-644.

- [12] Haruna, M. A., Pervaiz, S., Hu, Z., Nourafkan, E., Wen, D. Improved Rheology and High-Temperature Stability of Hydrolyzed Polyacrylamide Using Graphene Oxide Nanosheet, J. Appl. Polym. 2019, 47582, 1-13.
- [13] Mothe, C. G., Correia, D. Z., Franca, F. P., Riga, A. T. Thermal and Rheological Study of Polysaccharides for Enhanced Oil Recovery. *J. Therm. Anal. Calorim.* 2006, 85, 31-36.
- [14] Wang, S., Tang, H., Guo, J., Wang, K. Effect of pH on the Rheological Properties of Borate Crosslinked Hydroxypropyl Guar Gum Hydrogel and Hydroxypropyl Guar Gum. *Carbohydr. Polym.* 2016, 147, 455-463.
- [15] Jiang, C., Xia, X., Kang, S., Dong, H., Sakinejad, P., Ma, Q., Tang, Y. Neighboring Group Effect on the Thermal Degradation of Polyacrylamide and its Derivatives. J. Polym. Eng. 2019, 39, 239-247.
- [16] Elkarsani, K. S. M., Al-Muntasheri, G. A., Sultan, A. S., Hussein, I. A. Performance of PAM/PEI Gel System for Water Shutoff in High-Temperature Reservoirs: Laboratory Study. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2015, 132, 1-10.
- [17] Li, F., Zhu, W. X., Yu, D. Z., Song, H., Wang, K. L. Rheological Properties and Enhanced Oil Recovery Performance of a Novel Sulfonate Polyacrylamide. J. Macromol. Sci., Part A: Pure Appl. Chem. 2018, 55, 449-454.
- [18] Haruna, M. A., Gardy J., Yao, G., Hu, Z., Hondow, N., Wen, D. Nanoparticle Modified Polyacrylamide for Enhanced Oil Recovery at Harsh Conditions. *Fuel* .2020, 268, 1-19.
- [19] Erdlac, R. J., Armour, L., Lee R., Snyder, S., Sorensen, M., Matteucci, M., Horton J. Processing of Thirty-Second Workshop on Geothermal Reservoir Engineering, *Stanford University, Stanford*, California, USA. 2007, 22-24.

- [20] Yahya, G. O., Ali, S. A., Al-Naafa, M. A., Hamad, E. Z. Preparation and Viscosity Behavior of Hydrophobically Modified Poly Vinyl Alcohol (PVA). J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 1995, 57, 343-352.
- [21] Nayak, B. R., Singh, R. P. Development of Graft Copolymer Flocculating Agents Based on Hydroxypropyl Guar Gum and Acrylamide. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2001, 81, 1776-1785.
- [22] Zhu, J., Guan, S., Hu, Q., Gao, G., Xu, K., Wang, P. Tough, and pH-sensitive Hydroxypropyl Guar Gum/Polyacrylamide Hybrid Double-Network Hydrogel. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2016, 306, 953-960.
- [23] Budianto, E., Amalia, A. Swelling Behavior and Mechanical Properties of Chitosan-Poly(N-vinyl-pyrrolidone) Hydrogels. *J. Polym. Eng.* 2020, 40, 551-560.
- [24] Rahmatpour, A., Soleimani, P. Synthesis and Characterization of Novel semi-IPN Nanocomposite Hydrogels Based on Guar Gum, Partially Hydrolyzed Poly(acrylamide), and Pristine Montmorillonite. *Polym. Bull.* 2020.
- [25] Kheirabadi, M., Bagheri, R., Kabiri, K. Swelling and Mechanical Behavior of Nanoclay Reinforced Hydrogel: Single Network vs. Full Interpenetrating Polymer Network. *Polym. Bull.* 2015, 72, 1663-1681.
- [26] Alvand, E., Aalaie, J., Hemmati, M., Sajjadian, V. A. Rheological and Thermal Stability of Novel Weak Gels Based on Sulfonated Polyacrylamide/Scleroglucan/Chromium Triacetate. *Polym. Int.* 2016, 66, 477-484.
- [27] Sun, F., Lin, M., Dong, Z., Zhu, D., Wang, S.L., Yang, J. Effect of Composition of HPAM/Chromium (III) Acetate Gels on Delayed Gelation Time. J. Dispersion Sci. Technol. 2016, 37, 753-759.
- [28] Cheraghian, S., Hendraningrat, L. A Review on Applications of Nanotechnology in the Enhanced Oil Recovery Part B: Effects of Nanoparticles on Flooding. *Int. Nano. Lett.* 2016, 6, 1-10.

- [29] Aliabadiana, E., Sadeghia, S., Moghaddam, A. R., Mainia, B., Chena, Z., Sundararaja,
  U. Application of Graphene Oxide Nanosheets and HPAM Aqueous Dispersion for
  Improving Heavy Oil Recovery: Effect of Localized Functionalization. *Fuel.* 2020, 265, 116918.
- [30] Chen, J. Y., Xie, P., Zhang, Z. P. Reduced Graphene Oxide/Polyacrylamide Composite Hydrogel Scaffold as Biocompatible Anode for Microbial Fuel Cell. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2019, 361, 615-624.
- [31] Liu, X., Shao, X. Y., Fang, G. B., Hai, H., Wan, Z. G. Preparation, and Properties of Chemically Reduced Graphene Oxide/Copolymer-Polyamide Nanocomposite hydrogels. *e Polymer*. 2017, 17, 3-14.
- [32] Hummers, W. S., Offeman, R. E. Preparation of Graphitic Oxide. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 80, 1339-1339.
- [33] Manivel, P., Kanagaraj, S., Balamurugan, A., Ponpandian, N., Mangalaraj, D., Viswanathan, C. Rheological Behavior-Electrical and Thermal Properties of Polypyrrole/Graphene Oxide Nanocomposite Hydrogels. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2014, 131, 1-10.
- [34] Fan, J., Shi, Z., Lian, M., Li, H., Yin, J. Mechanically Strong Graphene Oxide/Sodium Alginate/ Polyacrylamide Nanocomposite Hydrogel with Improved Dye Adsorption Capacity. J. Mater. Chem. A. 2013, 1, 7433-7443.
- [35] Kheirabadi, M., Bagheri, R., Kabir, K., Ossipov, D., Jokar, E., Asadian, E. Improvement in Mechanical Performance of Anionic Hydrogels Using Full-Interpenetrating Polymer Network Reinforced with Graphene Oxide Nanosheets. *Adv. Polym. Technol.* 2016, 35, 1-10.
- [36] Nguyen, B. D., Ngo, T. K., Bui, T. H., Pham, D. K., Dinh, X. L., Nguyen, P. T. The Impact of Graphene Oxide Particles on Viscosity Stabilization for Diluted Polymer

Solutions Using in Enhanced Oil Recovery at HTHP Offshore Reservoirs. *Adv. Nat. Sci. Nanosci. Nanotechnol.* 2015, 6, 1-8.

- [37] Lee, K. S. The Effects of the Shear-Thinning Property of Injection Fluid on the Performance of Polymer Flood. *Energy Sources, Part A.* 2013, 35, 1550-1559.
- [38] Moazzami, M., Sharif, F. Enhancement of Dispersion and Bonding of Graphene-Polymer Through Wet Transfer of Functionalized Graphene Oxide, *eXPRESS Polym. Lett.* 2012, 6, 1017-1031.
- [39] Zhang, H., Zhai, D., He, Y. Graphene Oxide/Polyacrylamide/Carboxymethyl Cellulose Sodium Nanocomposite Hydrogel with Enhanced Mechanical Strength: Preparation, Characterization and the Swelling Behaviors. *RSC Adv.* 2014, 4, 44600-44609.
- [40] Liu, R., Liang, S., Tang, X. Z., Yan, D., Li, X., Yu, Z. Z. Tough and Highly Stretchable Graphene Oxide/Polyacrylamide Nanocomposite Hydrogels, *J. Mater. Chem.* 2012, 22, 14160-14167.
- [41] Haraguchi, K., Takehisa, T., Fan, S. Effects of Clay Content on the Properties of Nanocomposite Hydrogels Composed of Poly (N-isopropyl acryl amide) and Clay. *Macromol.* 2002, 35, 10162-10171.
- [42] Tarash, S., Nazockdast, H., Sodeifian, G. Reinforcing Effect of Graphene Oxide on Mechanical Properties, Self-healing Performance, and Recoverability of Double Network Hydrogel Based on K-carrageenan and Polyacrylamide. *Polymer*. 2019, 183, 121837.
- [43] Cheraghian, G., Khalili, Nezhad S., Bazgir, S. Improvement of Thermal Stability of Polyacrylamide Solution Used as a Nano-fluid in Enhanced Oil Recovery Process by Nano clay. *Int. J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol.* 2015, 11, 201-208.
- [44] Seo, M. K., Park, S. J. Electrical Resistivity and Rheological Behavior of Carbon Nanotubes-Filled Polypropylene Composites. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* 2004, 395, 44-48.

- [45] Narimani, A., Hemmati, M. Study on the Electrical and Rheological Percolation Threshold of Single-Walled Carbon Nanotube-Reinforced Thermoplastic Elastomer Based on Polypropylene/Ethylene-Propylene-Diene Monomer Nanocomposite. J. Thermoplastic Compos. Mater. 2015, 28, 930-949.
- [46] Dealy, J. M., Wissbrun, K. F. Melt Rheology and its Role in Plastics Processing, Chapman & Hall, London, 1996.
- [47] Rahmatpour, A., Aalaie, J. Steady Shear Rheological Behavior, Mechanical Properties, and Morphology of the Polypropylene/Carbon Nanotube Nanocomposites.
  J. Macromol. Sci. Part B: Phys. 2008, 47, 929-941.
- [48] Jiang, C., Yu, B., Ma, Q., Dong, H., Zhao, H., Luo, Y., Tang, Y. Crosslinked Polymers as "smart" Viscosifiers Used in Hostile Environments. *J. Pet. Sci. Eng.* 2019, 173,1332-1339.
- [49] Zhong, C., Luo, P., Ye, Z. Characterization and Solution Properties of a Novel Water-Soluble Terpolymer for Enhanced Oil Recovery. *Polym. Bull.* 2009, 62, 79-89.
- [50] Zhou, T. N., Qi, X. D., Fu, Q., The Preparation of the Poly (vinyl alcohol)/Graphene Nanocomposite Hydrogels with Low Percolation Threshold and High Electrical Conductivity by Using the Large-Area Reduced Graphene Oxide Sheets. *eXPRESS Polym. Lett.* 2013, 7, 747-755.
- [51] Sharma, T., Velmurugan, V., Patel, P., Chon, B. H., Sangwai, J. S. Use of Oil-in-Water Pickering Emulsion Stabilized by Nanoparticles in Combination with Polymer Flood for Enhanced Oil Recovery. *Pet. Sci. Technol.* 2015, 33, 1595-1604.
- [52] Sung, Y. T., Han, M. S., Song, H., Jung, J. W., Lee, H. S. Rheological and Electrical Properties of Polycarbonate MWCN Composites. *Polymer*. 2006, 47, 4434-4439.

#### 3.5. Conclusion

The thermal stability and rheological properties have played a key role in the performance of hydrogel which was well established mostly in EOR applications. Understanding the effect of GO dispersion as a thermal reinforcer has led us to determine the properties and activities of the new hydrogel produced by the interpenetrating polymer network technique. This chapter focused on developing novel hydrogel nanocomposite based on partially hydrolyzed polyacrylamide/hydroxypropyl guar (HPAM/HPG) nanocomposite reinforced with graphene oxide (GO), at temperatures (200 and 240 °F) in presence of the chromium triacetate as crosslinker. The interactions of GO with HPAM/HPG chains of IPN nanocomposite hydrogels were investigated in this work. This work can motivate the researchers in developing a new class of hydrogel systems that can well serve as promising candidates for EOR applications. GO improved viscosity stability of nano samples by increasing in temperature from 200 to 240°F, and improved the nanocomposite hydrogel effects, compared to the IPN hydrogel without GO. In addition, the IPN nanocomposite hydrogels displayed great viscosity stability, and thermal stability as compared to IPN hydrogel without GO. The mechanical strength and rheology properties of cross-linked hydrogel structure were improved by GO which may be beneficial for use in oil recovery applications

## **Chapter 4**

Synthesis and preparation of poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO nanocomposites hydrogel as a rheology modifier and fluid loss controller for use in oil well cementing

#### 4.1. Introduction

Hydrogels are a sort of hydrophilic polymers with a network structure, which can be constituted by physical and chemical crosslinking with water-soluble monomers, and they can absorb and hold a large volume of water or other aqueous fluids for several hours while being under pressure. It can be applied as a suitable fluid loss controller along with a rheology modifier in oil well cementing, and also as a polymer solution to enhance oil recovery in water or brine solution. The interesting prospects of the previous chapter inspired us to incorporate the synthesized GO for developing the acrylamide base copolymer hydrogel system. In this chapter, we have synthesized the copolymer nanocomposites hydrogel based on acrylamide (AM) and 2-acryloamido-2-methylpropane sulfonic acid (AMPS) in the presence of the N, Nmethylene-bis-acryl-amide (NMBA) as a crosslinker by the free radical copolymerization technique as a rheology modifier along with fluid loss controller. The influence of GO on the strength and structure of the copolymer hydrogel system was investigated. Characterization of the synthesized poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO was conducted using various methods. In addition, its effect on the improvement of the rheological properties, the fluid lost, free water, and compressive strength of cement slurry as a viscosity modifier and fluid loss controller was studied for use in oil well cementing.

# **4.2. Article 2**

# Synthesis and preparation of poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO nanocomposites hydrogel as a rheology modifier and fluid loss controller for use in oil well cementing

Journal of Dispersion Science and Technology

Published online date: 21-02-2022

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/01932691.2022.2039687

#### 4.3. Author's contribution

**Amir Narimani:** Conceptualization of the project, visualization, and investigation of experiments, all synthesis of monomer and experiments conducted, validation of methodology and curation of data, drafting the original manuscript.

Farid Kordnejad: Investigation in rheology study.

Dr. Prabhjyot Kaur: Writing- review, and editing.

Ferhi Najmeddine: Assistance in preparation of graphene oxide

Prof. Mahmood Hemmati: Investigation in compressive strength study.

Prof. Japan Trivedi: Investigation in fluid loss and rheology study

**Prof. Adam Duong:** Project administration, supervision, funding acquisition, writing- review, and editing.

## Synthesis and preparation of poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO nanocomposites hydrogel as a rheology modifier and fluid loss controller for use in oil well cementing

Amir Narimani<sup>a</sup>, Farid Kordnejad<sup>b</sup>, Prabhjyot Kaur<sup>a</sup>,

Japan Trivedi<sup>c</sup>, Ferhi Najmeddine<sup>a</sup>, Mahmood Hemmati<sup>d</sup>, Adam Duong<sup>a\*</sup>

- <sup>a</sup> Department of Chemistry, Biochemistry, and Physics, Institute de Recherche sur l'Hydrogène, University of Quebec, Trois Rivieres, Quebec, Canada
- <sup>b</sup> Department of Polymer Engineering, Islamic Azad University, South Branch, Tehran, Iran
- <sup>c</sup> Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, School of Petroleum Engineering, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada
- <sup>d</sup> Department of Petroleum Engineering, Islamic Azad University, Science and Research Branch, Tehran, Iran

\*Address correspondence to Adam Duong, University of Quebec, Trois Rivieres, Quebec, Canada. E-mail: adam.duong@uqtr.ca

#### Abstract

The aim of the present work is to evaluate the influence of graphene oxide (GO) on copolymer nanocomposites hydrogel structure based on acrylamide (AM) and 2-acryloamido-2methylpropane sulfonic acid (AMPS) in the presence of the N, N-methylene-bis-acryl-amide (NMBA) by the free radical copolymerization technique. The influence of poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO as a rheology modifier along with fluid loss controller on the rheological and mechanical properties of brine cement slurry was also investigated. The characterization results confirmed the synthesis of AM monomer and AMPS and showed their grafting with GO surface. The poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO hydrogel improved the rheological properties of the cement slurry as compared to conventional cement slurry. Furthermore, free water and fluid loss of cement slurry declined by adding the copolymer nanocomposites hydrogel at elevated temperatures. Moreover, not only the thickening time of cement slurry dropped but also, the compressive strength increased with a rise of nanocomposites hydrogel concentrations. However, the nanocomposite hydrogels showed a great effect on early compressive strength than the final compressive strength. The results of this investigation revealed the excellent performance of crosslinked structure of copolymer nanocomposites hydrogel due to the linking of sulfonated AMPS and AM on the surface of GO nanosheet in the attendance of NMBA. This renders greater stability to the cement slurry against salinity and temperature changing of well formations during cementing operation. Thus, poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO as a suitable rheology modifier and property enhancer can be applied in oil well cementing.

**Keywords:** Oil well cementing, copolymer nanocomposites hydrogel, graphene oxide, rheological property, compressive strength

Address correspondence to Adam Duong, University of Quebec, Trois Rivieres, Quebec, Canada. E-mail: adam.duong@uqtr.ca

#### **1.Introduction**

The cementing of oil and gas well is a significant operation to create a suitable barrier between the formations and the well casing by making a good cement bonding between formation and casing [1-2]. In the cementing operation, the cement slurry is pumped into the wellbore through the casing to start filling the annular space between the formations and the well casing and return it to the surface [3-4]. The main goals of well cementing are the protection of the casing, the formation zonal isolation, well integrity, no fluid leakage, and endurance against the formation stress, not only throughout drilling operations but also during the lifetime of production of the well [2,5]. The cement slurry must retain its properties during cement operation [4]. Therefore, the performance of production wells greatly appertains to the quality of the cement job and the design of cement slurry in each hole section of the well [3,6-7]. The excessive fluid loss along with the low viscosity of cement slurry can jeopardize cementing operation [8] and cause weaker cement bonding between the formation and casing creating pathways or channels. As a result, the parts of the formation layers remain as a permeable zone, leading to the migration of underground fluids and/or gas to the surface through these pathways or zones [1,9]. Hence, the fluid loss control (FLC) and rheology modifier additives based on the water-soluble polymers are widely used to decline the fluid loss and enhance the rheology properties of cement slurry. These polymers have functional groups in their structures, that can readily adsorb water of slurry [10]. FLC can control water loss and also hinder premature dehydrating of cement slurry [11]. The performance of these fluid loss and rheology modifier additives also depends on the

downhole conditions of the well [8]. In fact, as the well depth increases, thermal resistance becomes a feature that must be considered at elevated temperatures and pressures. Moreover, the well lithology and complexity of underground layers must also be investigated. Besides the existence of poor strength layers of formation along with the presence of salt environment affects the viscosity, stability, and performance of water-soluble polymer as a modifier and fluid loss controller in the cement slurry [9,12-13]. Thus, it is important to select the appropriate polymer as a rheology modifier and a control agent that can control the fluid loss and create sufficient viscosity, gel strength, and salt tolerance while retaining the thermal stability for cement slurry during pumping operations [8,14]. As a consequence, numerous studies have been done to develop polymer materials as a modifier with suitable performance in oil well cementing according to the well conditions [7,10-12,15-17]. For example, Guo et al. [7] synthesized new quaternary polymer AMPS/AM/NDMA/MA that demonstrated good dispersing power, fluid loss control ability, thermal resistance, and salt tolerance ability. Xin et al. [8] reported that a synthetic polymer based on AMPS/AM/AA exhibited great FLC performance. Liu et al. [11] described three types of copolymers, by free-radical copolymerization: AMPS with AM, DMAM, and DEAM. AMPS/DMAM showed suitable water-retaining capacity at a high temperature. Zhu et al. [17] synthesized a superabsorbent composite, poly (AMPS-co-AM)/kaolin, by using a method of radical polymerization. This hydrogel showed good water and salt solution absorbency at a high temperature. In general, hydrogel polymers containing specific functional groups have been readily adsorbed on cement particles. Hydrogels are a sort of hydrophilic polymers with a network structure, which can be constituted by physical and chemical crosslinking with watersoluble monomers, and they can absorb and keep a large volume of water or other aqueous fluids for several hours while being under pressure [17-19]. Amongst the water-soluble polymers, acrylamide-based homopolymer or copolymer, as a rheology modifier or thickener is used in the

oil well cementing, drilling fluid, and enhanced oil recovery [11,20]. However, acrylamide (AM) based polymer has poor shear and salt resistance and low thermal stability [21-22]. It is also not stable against elevated temperatures, due to hydrolyzation of the functional  $NH_2$  group [23]. To overcome these drawbacks, the acrylamide-based polymer gel is usually copolymerized with at least one comonomer as a modifier [24]. AMPS as an ionic comonomer has been observed to ameliorate the rheological, and mechanical properties of AM monomers. AMPS is a type of sulfonated monomer with suitable shear resistance, stability, strong absorbing units, high salt tolerance, and good thermal stability [10,15-16]. This property can be attributed to its highly ionized sulfate groups [25]. AM copolymer with a monomer containing the sulfonate groups can provide high solution stability and salt tolerance, which can be used as a suitable FLC along with rheology modifier in fluid drilling and oil well cementing in water or brine solution [7,10,26-27]. However, current conventional copolymer gel has somehow been limited in oil well-cementing application because of the low gel strength, particularly in the swollen state, and poor ability to withstand layer formation pressure, especially at high well temperatures. Cement slurry is exposed to different temperature gradients and pressures starting from the well surface to the downhole of the well, therefore, the newly developed hydrogel copolymer gel is required to achieve the desired properties of FLC along with being a rheology modifier while sustaining against the downhole conditions [17-18, 28-30].

To ameliorate the strength and thermal stability of conventional copolymer hydrogel structure, nanoparticles like graphene oxide (GO) can be incorporated, because of their outstanding mechanical, thermal, and unique strengthening enhancer properties [18,30-31]. Interestingly, GO shows a positive effect on the mechanical properties of cementitious materials [32]. It is produced by the chemical modification of graphite [33-34]. GO has a great surface area, with plenty of
oxygen functional groups such as epoxide, hydroxyl, on its surface, and carboxyl, carbonyl on its edges [33,35] These provide a wide range of active sites on the surface, causing a better crosslinking with the polymer chains and cement particles [36-37]. Furthermore, the hydrophilic groups of GO result in better dispersity in an aqueous solution [35,38] that can help in improving the mechanical strength of polymer hydrogels and cement composites [36]. Although the addition of GO, increases the cost of materials a little bit but all the advantages associated with GO, make it worth it. GO nanosheets, tend to form agglomerates with increasing concentration which reduces their reinforcing effect [38]. Therefore, the most important challenge is to achieve the uniform dispersion of GO in the copolymer matrix and to study its effect on the network structure of hydrogel and cement-based materials [30,32]. According to the best of our knowledge, there is no report so far on the use of poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO nanocomposite hydrogel as a rheology modifier along with fluid loss controller for use in oil well cementing and electrolyte media. The aim of this research work is to investigate the influence of GO on the strength and structure of copolymer hydrogel system based on acrylamide and 2-acryloamido-2-methyl propane sulfonic acid in the presence of the N, N-methylene-bis-acryl-amide as a crosslinker. The characterization of this copolymer nanocomposites hydrogel was performed. In addition, its effect on the improvement of the rheological properties, the fluid lost, free water, and compressive strength of cement slurry as a viscosity modifier and fluid loss controller was studied for use in oil well cementing in electrolyte media.

#### **2.**Materials and Methods

#### 2.1. Materials

Acrylamide (AM), N, N-methylene-bis-acryl-amide (NMBA), graphite powder, ammonium persulfate (APS), and hydrochloric acid (HCl, 37%) were provided from Sigma-Aldrich. 2-acryloamido-2-methyl propane sulfonic acid (AMPS, 98%) was obtained from Alfa Aesar, Canada. Sulfuric acid (H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, 95%), potassium permanganate (KMnO<sub>4</sub>), phosphoric acid (H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>), hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>), diethyl ether, and acetone were supplied by Fisher Scientific, Canada. Sodium hydroxide (NaOH, pellet model) was purchased from Anachemia, Canada. Well cement class "G" was provided from Cement Kerman Co. The retarder, micro block, dispersant, antifoam was provided from Shandong cementing engineering Co., China.

#### 2.2. GO preparation

GO was prepared by a modified Hummers' method according to the following procedure, 0.5 g of the graphite was mixed in 60 ml of H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, and 6.6 ml of H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> followed by stirring for 10 min. 1.5 g KMnO<sub>4</sub> was then gradually added to the solution and the reaction was heated and stirred at 80°C for another 24 hr. Finally, 90 ml deionized water was added followed by 1 ml H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> into the solution which was then stirred for over 30 min. The final product was a bright yellow solution which was purified by centrifugation for around 60 min at 2500 rpm and washed several times with water to adjust pH to 7-8. The solution was centrifugated for an additional 60 min. The same step was repeated by changing water with ethanol. Finally, ethanol was removed by adding diethyl ether and the solution was poured onto a glass tray and the solvent was allowed to evaporate at room temperature. The sample was then dried in an oven at 80 °C for 24 hr and was milled with mortar.

#### 2.3. Synthesis of copolymer nanocomposites hydrogel

The copolymer nanocomposites hydrogel (AM-co-AMPS)/GO were formed by free-radical crosslinking copolymerization. At first, various amounts of GO (0, 0.05, 0.1, and 0.3 wt.%) were dispersed in 20 ml deionized water by ultrasonic water bath (Branson Co., 60 Hz, 80 W) for 30 min to obtain homogenous dispersions which were then transferred to a 250 ml three-necked flask. Then 8 g of AM, 2 g of AMPS, and 0.008 mol/L of NMBA respectively were added into the three-necked flask, (the ratio of AM/AMPS was constant, 80%: 20%).<sup>[26]</sup> After 10 min, 0.011 mol/L of APS as initiator was dissolved in 5 ml of water and added to the mixture solution. The pH of the reaction was regulated to 7-8 by the addition of HCl and NaOH. The reaction was stirred for another 3 hr by increasing the temperature to 80°C, under inert nitrogen gas and stirring until the viscous solution was produced. This was followed by cooling the reaction mixture to room temperature and precipitating the product by acetone. After that, it was dried in a vacuum oven for 6 h, until it arrived at a constant weight. Finally, it was powdered by a mortar and pestle. The poly (AM-co-AMPS) copolymer hydrogel and poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO copolymer nanocomposites hydrogel have been named as CPH and CPNHG, respectively in this study. The schematic of the copolymer nanocomposite hydrogel structure shows in Figure 1.

# 2.4. Cement slurry preparation

The cement slurry design with an addition of various concentrations of copolymer nanocomposite hydrogel (CPNHG) with GO at 0.1 wt.% is listed in Table 1. Cement slurry was prepared by a blender (The Model 20 Constant Speed Blender, 1 Liter). At first, the different amounts of CPNHG in 50 ml saline water were stirred by a magnetic stirrer and kept for 24 hr. Then CPNHG solution was fed into a blender containing saline water and stirred for 2 min at a low speed (4000 rpm). Subsequently, micro block, dispersant, retarder, and antifoam were charged into the mixer.

The mixture was then stirred for 1 min. The cement powder was added gradually to the mixture slurry, and it was mixed for another 2 min at 12000 rpm. The neat cement (CMT) and CMT/CPNHG slurries were measured according to API RP 10B standard. The saline water was considered with total dissolved solids (TDS) of 7616 mg/L.

# 2.5. Characterization of copolymer nanocomposite hydrogel

# 2.5.1. Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) characterization

FTIR spectra of dried samples were accomplished by Thermo is10 spectrometer, in the range of  $4000-650 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ . The resolution and the scanning number were 4 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 16, respectively.

# 2.5.2. X-ray diffraction (XRD) characterization

Wide-angle XRD analysis of dried samples was carried out at room temperature using a Rigaku diffractometer with Cu-K $\alpha$  radiation ( $\lambda = 1.5418$  Å) in the range 2 $\theta$ =5-70.

## 2.5.3. Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA)

TGA was examined using Perkin Elmer, STA 6000. The dried samples were scanned from 30 °C to 500 °C at 10°C/min.

# 2.5.4. Morphology characterization

Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) was carried out by HITACHI, SUI 510 which was equipped with energy dispersive X-ray (EDX) by software X-MAX (Oxford instruments, 20 mm<sup>2</sup>) for elemental analysis. The dried samples were coated by sputtering the thin layer of gold for good conductivity.

#### **2.6.** The cement slurry systems

#### 2.6.1. Slurry density determination

Slurry density was determined by a 4-scale metal mud balance, OFITE company. The density measurement range is 49 - 172 lbs/ft<sup>3</sup>.

#### 2.6.2. Rheological measurements

Rheological properties of cement slurry (yield point (YP), plastic viscosity (PV), and the gel strength) were evaluated by viscometer "OFITE MODEL 900" OFITE company, through the measurement of the reading value at a shear rate of 300 and 100 rpm. The cement slurry was preheated for 20 min by an atmospheric consistometer at 196°F before adding the viscometer cup. Viscometer reading values as shear stress (lb/100 ft<sup>2</sup>) were also measured at shear rates of 300, 200, 100, 6, and 3 rpm. At the end of the test, the sedimentation of slurry particles in the bottom of the rheology cup was evaluated.

$$PV = (\theta_{300} - \theta_{100}) \times 1.5$$

$$\mathbf{YP} = \mathbf{\theta}_{300} - \mathbf{PV}$$

#### **2.6.3.** Free water and stability measurements

Cement slurry was preheated for 20 min in an atmospheric consistometer (model 1200, chandler engineering company) at 196 °F. Preheated cement slurry was poured into a 250 (cc) graduated cylinder and was allowed to rest at ambient temperature in static conditions. Accumulated free water on top of the cylinder and particles sedimentation of cement slurry were monitored and recorded for 2 hr.

#### 2.6.4. Fluid loss (FL) measurements

The fluid loss test was performed by filter press model 171-01-C, OFITE company. Cement slurry was preheated for 20 min in an atmospheric consistometer (model 1200, chandler engineering company) at 196 °F. Then, the preheated slurry was added to the filter press, to consider to "blowout" before 30 min under a pressure of 1200 psi and at 196 °F. FL is calculated by the following equation.

$$FL=2 V_t \sqrt{30/t}$$

V<sub>t</sub> is the volume of water at the time blow (millimeters), t is the time (minutes).

#### 2.6.5. Thickening time test

Slurry thickening behavior was performed using Model 7322 HPHT consistometers chandler engineering Co at temperature 196 °F and bottom hole pressure of 5946 psi. The thickening time at 30 Bc (Bearden units of consistency) is considered as the time at which the cement slurry is in an unpumpable state and a thickening time of 70 Bc indicates that the cement slurry cannot be pumped anymore. Hence, 70 Bc is considered as the appropriate thickening time.

#### 2.6.6. Compressive strength

There are two methods for the evaluation of cement compressive strength. The first method is known as the crushing method and the second method is by using the ultrasonic cement analyzer measurement (UCA). Cement strength by crushing is performed at atmospheric pressure for 24 hr at temperature 196 °F, by using water bath model WB1130C-1, Thermo Scientific company. The cube samples were crushed and measured by a hydraulic press model 3853, Carver company. For each sample, an average of 3 cubic specimens was made for compressive strength

measurements. UCA was performed by the model 4265, chandler engineering company, to determine the strength of a cement sample at 196 °F and 3000 psi pressure conditions for 24 hr.

## 3. Results and Discussion

# 3.1. The characterization of synthesized copolymer nanocomposites hydrogel

Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) analysis of AM, AMPS, GO, CPH, and CPNHG was done to evaluate the interaction between copolymer chains with GO and was shown in Figures 2 and S1. As shown in Figure 2a, the FTIR spectra of AM show peaks at 3337 and 3163 cm<sup>-1</sup> which are due to the stretching vibration of N-H. In addition, the peaks at 2812, 1663, 1610, 1424, and 1135 cm<sup>-1</sup> correspond to CH<sub>2</sub>, the stretching vibration of C=O, C=C, C-N, and bending and stretching of C-N in AM, respectively [39]. As shown in Figure 2b, AMPS spectra show the peaks at 2986, 1667, 1612, 1372, 1232, and 941 cm<sup>-1</sup> which are related to the C-H vibration, C=O, C=C stretching vibration, bending vibration of C-N, stretching of C-N, and S-O stretching [14,39-40]. In Figure 2c, FTIR spectra of CPH displays peaks at 3339 and 3193 cm<sup>-1</sup> which are ascribed to the stretching vibrations of N-H and O-H. In addition, absorption peaks at 2933 cm<sup>-</sup> <sup>1</sup> owing to the C-H stretching are also observed. It also shows a strong peak at 1649 cm<sup>-1</sup> indicating the stretching vibrations of the C=O and a weak peak at 1451 cm<sup>-1</sup> due to the vibration bond of C=O. The bending vibration of C-N of AMPS emerges at 1321 cm<sup>-1</sup>, and the peak at 1039 cm<sup>-1</sup> is owing to the symmetric S=O stretching of the sulfonate group [11,17,26-27]. This result shows that AM and AMPS are successfully synthesized, and a copolymer has been formed [17].

As highlighted in Figure S1a, in the GO spectra, peak around 3406 cm<sup>-1</sup> is assigned to the hydrogen-bonded hydroxyl group (O-H). The peak at 2954 cm<sup>-1</sup> is related to the C-H stretching

while the peak at 1646 cm<sup>-1</sup> is due to C=C [37]. Whereas the peak that emerged at 1422 cm<sup>-1</sup> is associated to the functional group of the O-H. Moreover, the two peaks at 1287 and 1021 cm<sup>-1</sup> are associated to C-OH bonds and C-O-C stretching respectively [18,37]. As compared to the copolymer hydrogel spectrum with its nanocomposite, as shown in Figure S1(b-e), all the characteristic peaks of CPNHG appeared at lower wavenumber with increasing GO concentrations. However, increasing the GO to 0.3 wt.% has no significant effect on the FTIR spectra of poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO hydrogel. It is clear from Figure S1d, the absorption peaks at 3336 and 3190 cm<sup>-1</sup> are related to the stretching vibrations of amide groups. The peak at 2930 cm<sup>-1</sup> is due to the C-H vibration, while the one at 1647 cm<sup>-1</sup> corresponds to bonding between the stretching vibrations of carbonyl groups and amide N-H and C=C of GO. Additionally, peaks at 1450 and 1320 cm<sup>-1</sup> are attributed to the stretching vibrations of CH<sub>2</sub> and CH respectively. Another peak at 1039 cm<sup>-1</sup> corresponds to the stretching vibrations of S=O [30,37]. Hence, it can be concluded that the linking occurs between AM and AMPS and with the surface of GO, through hydrogen bonding to form cross-linked network structure hydrogel [19,28,37,41].

XRD was carried out to evaluate the dispersion of GO in copolymer nanocomposite. Figure 3(ab) shows the XRD spectra of AM, AMPS, GO, CPH, and CPNHG. As presented in Figure 3 (a), the XRD spectrum of AM, AMPS revealed that the characteristic peak was located at  $2\theta$ =18-20° and in the range of 15-30° respectively. As can also be observed from Figure 3(a and b), CPH depicted a diffraction peak in the range  $2\theta$ =18-20° and 20-30°. Moreover, it can be also seen in Figure 3(b), the XRD spectrum of prepared GO displayed that the main characteristic peak at  $2\theta$ =10.25° and d-spacing was calculated to be 8.61 A° which indicated the attendance of hydrophilic oxygen-containing functional groups on the sheet of GO [35,37]. However, after intercalation of the GO with poly (AM-co-AMPS), the XRD spectrum revealed that the intensity of characteristic peaks decreased sharply in comparison to GO, which indicates the uniform dispersion of the GO nanosheet in the copolymer matrix [37,41]. Furthermore, the broad peaks for copolymer hydrogel nanocomposites, in the range of  $2\theta$ =15-20°, and 20-25° were observed, which correspond to the amorphous nature of AM and AMPS in copolymer hydrogel structure [19,37]. According to these results, GO acts as a crosslinking point and is dispersed uniformly in the copolymer matrix chains, thus assisting in improving the strength and structure of nanocomposites hydrogel.

One of the main challenges regarding the copolymer hydrogel feature is its thermal stability. Hence, the thermal stability of copolymer hydrogel and its nanocomposites hydrogel with different GO concentrations were studied and are presented in Figure S2. As depicted in this figure, thermograms of CPNHG at 0.05, 0.1, and 0.3 wt.% of GO are similar to those of the samples without GO. In the first stage of thermal decomposition, dissociation occurs in the temperature range of 100°C, owing to interlayer water loss in the sample. In the second stage, the weight loss at around 100°C-250°C is related to the dissociation of the low molecular weight copolymer chains, and the functionalities of GO, thus causing a slight decline in the strength of the network structure. The presence of GO along with AMPS resulted in preventing the fast hydrolysis of the amide group in the copolymer network as compared to the sample without GO [42]. The third degradation stage at around 250°C-350°C is owing to the elimination of amide and sulfonic acid groups of copolymers in addition to the functional groups on the GO, which further results in the weakening of the network structure of copolymers hydrogel [26]. The last decomposition that occurs at a temperature above 350 °C is owing to the degradation of the copolymer backbone chains, and decomposition of the GO structure, resulting in complete degradation of the network structure [37,39]. In addition, it was also found from this figure that

the weight loss percentage of the copolymer nanocomposite hydrogel was much lower than the copolymer hydrogel without GO. This is likely to be due to the role of the thermal effect of GO in the copolymer hydrogel structure, which has a strong interaction with AM and AMPS chains of the copolymer matrix [30]. When the amount of the GO further increased to 0.3 wt.%, there isn't any noticeable change in the thermal stability. This is because an increase in GO results in its agglomeration in the matrix of the copolymer and hence weakens the physical interaction of GO with the polymer chains, leading to a weak hydrogel network structure [19]. Therefore, it can be concluded that the GO acts as a multifunctional crosslinker and thermal enhancer when grafted with the AM and AMPS copolymer chains. Besides, the presence of the NMBA improves further the crosslinking density in copolymer network hydrogel and thus improves the strength and thermal stability of the nanocomposite.

The morphology of the GO and copolymer nanocomposites hydrogel with various percentages of GO to better understand the dispersion effect of GO in poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO was investigated by SEM, as presented in Figures 6 and 7. As observed in figure 4a, GO showed the wrinkled and flake-like sheets. Figure 4b shows the energy X-ray spectroscopy (EDX) pattern indicating the presence of C, O, and S, all of which are the major elements for GO [2,19,35,37]. As depicted in Figure 5, the surface of poly (AM-co-AMPS) hydrogel was in the form of discontinuous sheets, which may be related to the structure of the porous network [17]. In contrast, with an addition of the of GO to 0.1 wt.%, CPNHG showed a compact and dense surface with less wrinkles and folding regions which indicates the homogeneous dispersion of GO sheets in the polymer matrix. With an increasing concentration of GO to 0.3 wt.%, the surface morphology of the nanocomposite hydrogel was rougher and denser with high folding regions, indicating a weak surface interaction between GO and copolymer network, which might be due

to the poor dispersion of GO in the copolymer network matrix [19,32]. This behavior is supported by the XRD and TGA results. Furthermore, because of the large surface area of GO, particles of GO tend to stack upon each other resulting in aggregation in the matrix with increasing GO concentration as shown in Figure S3 [28,30,36]. To further describe CPH and CPNHG at 0.1 wt.%. of GO, EDX analysis is shown in Figure S4. It can be seen that C, O, Na, and S elements were dispersed in both copolymer and its nanocomposites hydrogel [37], along with the presence of N in nanocomposites hydrogel. However, the carbon atom concentration in poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO was higher than in the sample without GO. According to this result, it can be concluded that the GO, AM, and AMPS copolymer chains interacted by hydrogen bonds. Moreover, it highlights the fact that GO is well dispersed in the polymer matrix up to 0.1 wt.% and can be considered as a crosslinker agent.

Therefore, according to the above results, GO acting as a crosslinker agent can improve the strength and thermal stability of the copolymer hydrogel based on poly (AM-co-AMPS). Furthermore, CPNHG with optimum GO concentration at 0.1 wt.%, has been chosen as a rheology modifier and fluid loss controller in cement slurry in this research.

# **3.2.** The influence of synthesized copolymer nanocomposites hydrogel on cement slurry systems

The rheology of cement slurry plays a key role in the performance of cement operations. In addition, the viscosity is an effective parameter in cement slurry design, in a way that the cement slurry with low viscosity can be pumped easily. On the other hand, the cement slurry with suitable viscosity can greatly increase the ability of slurry to mud displacement and to create the turbulent flow as a mud cake removal, especially in the wells with high mud viscosity [5]. Indeed, the residual mud on the surface of the formation can prevent the good cement bonding

between formations and casing. Therefore, achieving the optimum viscosity is a highly important factor in the design of cement slurry. To get an insight into this, the effect of incorporation of CPNHG with GO at 0.1 wt.%, as a rheology modifier on rheological properties of the cement slurry based on the Bingham fluid model [1,43] was studied and listed in Table 2. As can be observed from the results of Table 2, the weight of cement slurry increased slightly at high CPNHG concentrations i.e., 1.5% and 2%. It might have been due to the absorbency effect of CPNHG at higher concentrations. In addition, it was found that the incorporation of CPNHG improves the gel strength properties and the stability of cement slurry (at 10 seconds and 10 minutes) because of the effect of CPNHG on the sedimentation inhibition by causing a soar in the suspending ability of the cement particles in the slurry environment [4,9,43-44]. On the other hand, there is no sedimentation, and settling between cement particles and other additives in the slurry at the bottom cup of the viscometer after 10 min with the addition of 1.5 wt.% of CPNHG. Indeed, the cement specific gravity is around 3.14 which is more than an aqueous environment, which causes the cement particles to settle and segregate resulting in an inhomogeneous cement behind the casing [43]. However, the slurry tends to further thicken with an increase in CPNHG concentrations due to the extreme absorbency capability of CPNHG. As a result, the viscosity and gel strength of the liquid phase escalated significantly, which would create a higher amount of gel in the cement slurry, leading to the instability of cement slurry. In addition, the particles settling were observed at the bottom cup of the rheology test after 10 min by increasing the CPNHG, particularly at 2 wt.% [2,9]. Therefore, the rheological properties of CMT/CPNHG should be optimized by choosing the suitable CPNHG concentration as a rheology modifier, to prevent the sudden increase in gel which causes cementing failure during and after the pumping process. It was noteworthy from Table 2 that the plastic viscosity and the yield point tend to rise remarkably from 25.5 cp to 76.5 cp, and 6.5 to 39.5 Ib/100ft<sup>2</sup> as the CPNHG concentrations increase from 0 to 2 wt.%, respectively. This behavior has also been shown in Figure S5. It can be explained by the fact that CPNHG acts as an effective suspension agent which soars the cohesive forces between particles and hinders the sedimentation of cement and other additives to form a stable slurry with less free water and fluid loss [2]. Therefore, CPNHG not only can assist the ability of cement slurry to displace the mud, particularly for the high mud viscosity but also has the great ability to suspend the cement particles. This results in viscosity stability, during the pumping process, thus forming uniform cementing behind the casing [5]. However, an optimum concentration of CPNHG is necessary for this role which is at 1 wt.%. A further increment in the concentration of CPNHG results in an increase in the yield point creating a highly ineffective gel in the cement slurry, thus making the pumping of cement slurry difficult. It is also interesting to note that all the samples show greater yield point and plastic viscosity compared to cement slurry without CPNHG. Thus, the role of the CPNHG, as a rheology modifier, enhances the stability of cement slurry.

Figure 6 depicts the dependency of the shear stress on the shear rate for CMT/CPNHG that was measured at 196 °F. As shown in this figure, the shear stress rises with the addition of CPNHG. This enhancement was also prompted by increasing the shear rate. This increase was mainly ascribed to the interaction between the functional groups of GO and the copolymer chains with the surface cement particles, which causes the resistance to mobility [11,45].

Figure S6 displays the effect of CPNHG on the shear stress of nanocomposites hydrogel at three different shear rates. As can be seen from the figure, the shear stress magnifies with the CPNHG concentrations. It is due to the structure of copolymer nanocomposites, which improves the interaction with cement particles. Also, an enhancement in shear stress of samples was observed as compared to the cement slurry without CPNHG [40,45]. Therefore, these results, show that the fluidity and strength of cement slurry are sensitive to CPNHG concentration. CPNHG gives

more strength to the cement slurry, which can provide greater resistance to the force and deformation created by shear fields.

The high fluid loss and free water cause a weakening of the cement bonding between formation and casing, which makes a channel in the cement sheath. This channel provides a path for the migration of fluid or gas during the wait of cement to the surface, especially from the bottom of the well [1,9]. Based on these problems, the effect of CPNHG concentration on the free water and fluid loss of the cement slurry has also been evaluated as shown in Figure 7. Fluid loss of the samples reduces notably by adding the CPNHG concentrations, as compared to neat cement slurry at temperatures as high as 196 °F and under the pressure of 1200 psi. This result can be explained by crosslinking between the functional groups of the GO and AM and AMPS copolymer chains, to form stable hydrophilic network hydrogel. This network structure can keep higher brine water under pressure and temperature, which can decrease the amount of free water in the brine slurry [7,10,12,46]. On the other hand, the presence of NMBA as a crosslinker agent in the copolymer hydrogel structure boosts the strength of the CPNHG network structure and provides an improvement in fluid loss control performance at temperature as high as 196 °F and pressure of 1200 psi [40]. Therefore, by increasing the CPNHG, the water absorption ability of hydrogel rises, which leads to a decrease in the fluid loss and increased viscosity of the CMT slurry. Besides, it can be seen from Figure 7 that free water loss tends to be close to zero with increasing the CPNHG concentrations [12,46]. It was also found from the sedimentation test that there is no free water separation in the cement slurry during 2 hr, compared to the cement slurry without CPNHG. In addition, cement slurry without CPNHG shows settling behavior [43]. This behavior was also observed in the rheological results. Consequently, the poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO acts as a unique fluid loss controller with multipoint of absorption in its structure

due to the existence of plenty of oxygenated functional groups on the GO surface along with the sulfonic acid group (SO<sub>3</sub>H) of the AMPS in AM base copolymer network hydrogel. This renders the CPNHG to be highly stable under pressure of 1200 psi and at a temperature as high as 196 °F. The thermal stability effect of GO, presence of salt, and shear resistance of AMPS in main chains of the copolymer nanocomposites hydrogel, results in high absorption at the surface of cement particles. This causes a reduction in the liquid loss in the brine cement slurry [7,12,16,19,46].

The thickening time is one of the key parameters in cement design and can be defined as the duration for which the cement slurry will remain liquid as a pumpable fluid during cement operation [14]. Because of this, the effect of the incorporation of CPNHG on the thickening time as a function of the time of slurry pumping is investigated as shown in Figure 8. In this test, the temperature and pressure increase gradually up to 196 °F and 5946 psi, respectively for an early 42 min, and then they remained constant till the end of the test. The thickening time of cement slurry drops with the addition of CPNHG concentrations, compared to neat cement slurry as presented in Figure 8a. It declines from 342 to 301, 279, 262, and 245 minutes for the samples with 0, 0.5, 1, 1.5, and 2 wt.% of CPNHG with GO at 0.1 wt.%, respectively, at 70 Bc. This observation can be ascribed to the fact that CPNHG results in more absorption of brine water in slurry causing an increase in viscosity, thereby accelerating the hydration process. This leads to a decrease in the thickening time and in the time of the pumping process [1,7,47]. It was also found from Figure 8b, that the transition time (time between 30 to 70 Bc) was short which can be probably effective in controlling the fluid or gas migration during and after cement displacement [48]. CPNHG creates a stable solution in the cement slurry. In addition, the presence of GO as a thermal enhancer along with AMPS and NMBA as a modifier monomer and

a cross-linker in copolymer network soars greatly the thermal stability in cement slurry which causes it to withstand elevated temperature and pressure [8,14].

The compressive strength of cement slurry is another basic feature in cement design for determining the cement integrity and its sustainability against the imposed stresses from formations before continuing the drilling operation or the well production time [5]. Therefore, the influence of the addition of copolymer nanocomposites hydrogel on the compressive strength properties of the cement slurry is determined. The results based on the crushing method are shown in Figure S7. Compressive strength boosted slowly from 803 psi to 1032 psi, compared to neat cement slurry, which is likely due to the linking between cement particles with a large surface area of GO in copolymer matrix. This strengthens the calcium silicate hydrate (C-S-H) structure in the cement matrix and enhances the cement strength by decreasing the volume of pores between the cement matrix [2,4,32,36].

Figure S8 shows the compressive strength test by using UCA, which measures the early and final compressive strength which are vital for cementing at 24 hr. This time is known as a wait of cement (WOC) which is a critical time for strengthening the cement slurry before resuming the drilling operations [49]. In this test, the temperature and pressure increase gradually up to 196°F and 3500 psi, respectively for 42 min, and then they become constant at the target temperature for 24 h. The compressive strength starts to develop slightly with the addition of CPNHG during the increasing time. It shows an augmentation from 816 to 1010 psi as the CPNHG concentrations increase from 0 to 2 wt.%, respectively after 24 hr. This effect is mainly due to the linking between GO along with copolymer in the matrix with the cement particles [32-33,47]. In other words, it may be due to the load transferring from cement matrix to GO and copolymer matrix through the distribution of surface stress [13], resulting in an enhancement of the compressive

strength of cement slurry. However, no noticeable effect on compressive strength is observed at 2 wt.% concentration of CPNHG. The obtained results from this test showed that the compressive strength of all the cement slurry with CPNHG is higher than the sample without CPNHG. Interestingly, it was found from the results of the rheological and compressive strength, that CPNHG displays a great performance as a rheology modifier and a fluid loss controller than as a strengthening enhancer on the brine cement slurry. It can be also observed from figure S8 that the early compressive strength increased slightly during the first 5 hr although, the most significant increase of compressive strength was observed between 5 to 10 hr. After this, the compressive strength continues to increase slightly for up to 24 hr but this time showed less effectiveness on final compressive strength. In other words, CPNHG has a great effect on early compressive strength than the final compressive strength. This early development of compressive strength is a key parameter in ensuring the appropriate support of zonal isolation by cementing operation [5]. Consequently, the period between 5 to 10 hr is an important time of WOC for strengthening of CMT slurry and for the better determination of the timeline of cementing operation [48]. This observation is followed by thickening time results. According to these results, the copolymer AM and AMPS in presence of the GO improve the mechanical and compressive strength of cement slurry at temperatures as high as 196 °F. Based on these observations, it seems that the synthesis of crosslinked copolymer hydrogel nanocomposite based on poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO has a significant positive effect on the improvement of the viscosity and fluid loss control as well as stability of the cement slurry while pumping as compared to that with other polymers synthesized from similar monomers [7-8,11-12,17]. However, since these nanocomposite hydrogels are novel materials for use as a rheology modifier and fluid loss controller in oil well cementing and electrolyte media, it is essential to further evaluate them during the development and routine testing for field applications.

#### 4. Conclusions

The influence of GO on the structure strength of copolymer nanocomposites hydrogel based on poly (AM-co-AMPS) was evaluated. Also, the performance of poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO as a rheology modifier and fluid loss controller on the mechanical, compressive strength, and rheological properties of the cement slurry were investigated. The XRD, FTIR, and TGA results indicated that the AM monomer and AMPS were synthesized and grafted on the GO surface. This led to improved thermal stability and strength of copolymer network hydrogel which was related to the good dispersion of GO and its interaction with copolymer chains. In addition, the presence of NMBA boosts the strength of the copolymer hydrogel network structure. The morphology results showed the uniform GO dispersion by 0.1 wt.% in the AM and AMPS copolymer matrix. The results showed that the 1 wt.% of CPNHG including 0.1 wt.% GO improved viscosity properties, control fluid loss value, compressive strength of cement slurry at a temperature as high as 196 °F, as compared to cement slurry without CPNHG. This was because of the existence of plenty of functional units on nanocomposite copolymer structure. The rheological properties of cement slurry were enhanced with an addition of the CPNHG. Besides, CPNHG due to the presence of functional groups on its network structure showed great ability in control of fluid loss and diminished the free water. The poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO decreases the cement thickening time. And also, the improvement of the cement strength was observed which is due to the linking between cement particles and the large surface area of GO in the copolymer matrix. Results of the rheological, fluid loss controller, and compressive strength showed that the crosslinked nanocomposite hydrogel has a great performance as a rheology modifier and a fluid loss controller than as a strengthening enhancer on cement slurry. Therefore, based on these results, poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO hydrogel was found as a good rheology

modifier along with a fluid loss controller with great thermal and salt stability which can be a suitable additive candidate for use in oil well cementing.

## **Statements and Declarations**

Acknowledgments: The authors are grateful to the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (RGPIN-2015-06425), the Canadian Foundation for Innovation, and the Université du Québec à Trois-Rivières.

On behalf of all the co-authors, the corresponding author states that there is no conflict of interest, there are no competing interests of any kind, and this work fully complies with ethical standards.

# References

- Ghajari, A.; Gholinezhad, J.; Soltanian, H. An Improvement to Physical Properties of Heavy Weight Oil Well Cements Using Carbon Nanotubes. *J. Pet. Sci. Technol.* 2014, 4,10-19. DOI: 10.22078/JPST.2014.401.
- [2] Alkhamis, M.; Imqam, A. New Cement Formulations Utilizing Graphene Nanoplatelets to Improve Cement Properties and Long-Term Reliability in Oil Wells. SPE 192342 MS Society of Petroleum Engineer Conference, Saudi Arabia. 2018. DOI:10.2118/192342-MS.
- [3] Raja, R.S.; Siti, H.A.; Nasir, S.; Sonny, I. Uniaxial Compressive Strength of Geopolymer Cement for Oil Well Cement. J. Pet. Explor. Prod. Technol. 2020, 19, 67-70. DOI:10.1007/s13202-019-0704-z.
- [4] Liu, X.; Nair, S.D.; Aughenbaugh, K.; Juenger, M.; Van-Oort, E. Improving the Rheological Properties of Alkali-Activated Geopolymers Using Nonaqueous Fluids for

Well Cementing and Lost Circulation Control Purposes. J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 2020, 195, 107555. DOI: 10.1016/j.petrol.2020.107555.

- [5] Murtaza, M.; Rahman, M.K.; Al-Majed, A.A. Effect of Nano Clay on Mechanical and Rheological Properties of Oil Well Cement Slurry Under HPHT Environment. SPE, International Petroleum Technology Conference, Bangkok, Thailand. 2016. DOI: 10.2523/IPTC-18989-MS.
- [6] Elkatatny, S.; Gajbhiye, R.; Ahmed, A.; Mahmoud A.A. Enhancing the Cement Quality Using Polypropylene Fiber. *J. Pet. Explor. Prod. Technol.* 2020, 10, 1097-1107. DOI: 10.1007/s13202-019-00804-4.
- [7] Guo, S.; Bu, Y. Synthesis and Application of 2-Acrylamido-2-Methyl Propane Sulfonic Acid/Acrylamide/N, N-dimethyl Acrylamide/Maleic Anhydride as a Fluid Loss Control Additive in Oil Well Cementing. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2012. DOI: 10.1002/app.37745.
- [8] Xin, T.; Xuzeng, H.; Haodong, W. Preparation and Characterization of a Novel Amphoteric Polymer for Oil Well Cementing with Superior Performances. *Polym. Polym. Compos.* 2021, 29, 29-39. DOI: 10.1177/0967391119898018.
- [9] Abbas, G.; Irawan, S.; Memon, K.R.; Khan, J. Application of Cellulose-Based Polymers in Oil Well Cementing. J. Pet. Explor. Prod. Technol. 2020, 10, 319-325. DOI: 10.1007/s13202-019-00800-8.
- [10] Li, M.; Xie, D.; Guo, Z.; Lu, Y.; Guo, X. A Novel Terpolymer as Fluid Loss Additive for Oil Well Cement. *Int. J. Polym. Sci.* 2017. DOI: 10.1155/2017/3940394.
- [11] Liu, X.; Rao, P.; Xiao, W.; Xia, Q.; Zhang, W. Synthesis and Performance of Fluid Loss Agents Based on Different Acrylamide Monomers. *J. Pet. Explor. Prod. Technol.* 2015, 5, 409-415. DOI: 10.1007/s13202-015-0154-1.

- [12] Tang, X.; Yuan, B.; Yang, Y.; Xie, Y. Preparation and Performance of AMPS/AA/DMAA/SA Copolymer as a Filtrate Reducer for Oil Well Cementing. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2016, 133,1-9. DOI: 10.1002/APP.43824.
- [13] Mohamadian, N.; Ramhormozi, M.Z.; Wood, D.; Ashena, R. Reinforcement of Oil and Gas Wellbore Cements with a Methyl Methacrylate/Carbon-nanotube Polymer Nanocomposite Additive. *Cem. Concr. Compos.* 2020, 114, 103763-103779. DOI: 10.1016/j.cemconcomp.2020.103763.
- [14] Zhang, R.; Huo, J.H.; Peng, Z.G.; Feng, Q.; Chen, D.; Wang, J. Investigation of Poly (AM/AMPS/MA) on the Retarding Performance of Oil Well Cement. *Appl. Magn. Reson.* 2016, 47, 987-1001. DOI: 10.1007/s00723-016-0814-4.
- [15] Wang, H.; Li, M.; Zheng, Y.; Gu, T. Function Synergy of Cross-Linked Cationic PVA
   Polymer to AMPS-Type Fluid Loss Additive Used for Cement-Based Material. *Int. J. Polym. Sci.* 2020. DOI: 10.1155/2020/5968318.
- [16] Li, M.; Xiao, W., Zhang, H.; Yu, Y., Liu, Z., Xie, D. An Effective Salt-Tolerant Fluid Loss Additive-Suitable for High Temperature Oil Well Cement. J. Dispers. Sci. Technol. 2021, 42, 730-741, DOI: 10.1080/01932691.2019.1709494.
- [17] Zhu, H.; Yao, X. Synthesis and Characterization of Poly (Acrylamide-co-2-Acrylamido-2-methylpropane sulfonic acid)/Kaolin Superabsorbent Composite. *J Macromol. Sci. Part A: Pure Appl. Chem.* 2013, 50, 175-184. DOI: 10.1080/10601325.2013.741891.
- [18] Fan, J.; Shi, Z.; Lian, M.; Li, H.; Yin, J. Mechanically Strong Graphene Oxide/Sodium Alginate/ Polyacrylamide Nanocomposite Hydrogel with Improved Dye Adsorption Capacity. J. Mater. Chem. A. 2013, 1,7433-7443. DOI: 10.1039/C3TA10639J.
- [19] Huang, Y.; Zeng, M.; Wang, J.; Fan, L.; Xu, Q. Preparation and Swelling Properties of Graphene Oxide/Poly (acid-co-acrylamide) Super Absorbent Hydrogel

Nanocomposites. *Colloids. Surf. A.* 2012, 401, 97-106. DOI: 10.1016/j.colsurfa.2012.03.031.

- [20] Jain, R.; Mahto, T.K.; Mahto, V. Rheological Investigations of Water-Based Drilling Fluid System Developed Using Synthesized Nanocomposite. *Korea Aust. Rheol. J.* 2016, 28, 55-65. DOI: 10.1007/s13367-016-0006-7.
- [21] Jamshidi, H.; Rabiee, A. Synthesis and Characterization of Acrylamide-Based Anionic Copolymer and Investigation of Solution Properties. *Adv. Mater. Sci. Eng.* 2014, 6, 1-6.
   DOI: 10.1155/2014/728675
- [22] Cheraghian, S.; Hendraningrat, L. A review on Applications of Nanotechnology in the Enhanced Oil Recovery Part A: Effects of Nanoparticles on Interfacial Tension. *Int. Nano. Letters.* 2016, 6, 129-138. DOI: 10.1007/s40089-015-0170-7.
- Jiang, C.; Xia, X.; Kang, S.; Dong, H.; Sakinejad, P.; Ma, Q.; Tang, Y. Neighboring Group Effect on the Thermal Degradation of Polyacrylamide and its Derivatives. J. Polym. Eng. 2019, 39, 239-247. DOI: 10.1515/polyeng-2018-0274.
- [24] Khakpour, H.; Abdollahi, M.; Nasiri, A. Synthesis, Microstructural Characterization and Hydrophobic Intermolecular Nano-aggregation Behavior of Acrylamide/2- acrylamido-2-methyl-propane Sulfonic Acid/Butyl acrylate co- and Terpolymers. J. Polym. Res. 2015, 22, 189-202. DOI: 10.1007/s10965-015-0828-x.
- [25] Durmaz, S.; Okay, O. Acrylamide/2-acrylamido-2-methylpropane Sulfonic Acid Sodium Salt-Based Hydrogels: Synthesis and Characterization. *Polymer*. 2000, 41, 3693-3704. DOI: 10.1016/S0032-3861(99)00558-3.
- [26] Mohammadi, M.S.; Sahraei, E.; Bayati, B. Synthesis Optimization and Characterization of High Molecular Weight Polymeric Nanoparticles as EOR Agent for Harsh Condition Reservoirs. J. Polym. Res. 2020, 41, 3-11. DOI: 10.1007/s10965-020-2017-9.

- [27] Limparyoon, N.; Seetapan, N.; Kiatkamjornwong, S. Acrylamide/2-acrylamido-2methylpropane Sulfonic Acid and Associated Sodium Salt Superabsorbent Copolymer Nanocomposites with Mica as Fire Retardants. *Polym. Degrad. Stab.* 2011, 96, 1054-1063. DOI: 10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2011.03.012.
- [28] Narimani, A.; Kordnejad, F.; Kaur, P.; Bazgir, S.; Hemmati, M.; Duong, A. Rheological and Thermal Stability of Interpenetrating Polymer Network Hydrogel Based on Polyacrylamide/Hydroxypropyl Guar Reinforced with Graphene Oxide for Application in Oil Recovery. J. Polym. Eng. 2021, 41,788-798. DOI: 10.1515/polyeng-2021-0147.
- [29] Zhang, Y.F.; Du, F.P.; Chen, L.; Yeung, K.W.; Dong, Y.; Law, W.C.; Tsui, G.C.P.; Tang, C.Y. Supramolecular Ionic Polymer/Carbon Nanotube Composite Hydrogels with Enhanced Electromechanical Performance. *Nanotechnol. Rev.* 2020, 9, 478-488. DOI: 10.1515/ntrev-2020-0039.
- [30] Li, B.; Wu, C.; Han, Y.; Ma, X.; Luo, Z. Preparation of Poly (acrylic acid) Grafted Reduced Graphene Oxide/Polyacrylamide Composite Hydrogels with Good Electronic and Mechanical Properties by In-Situ Polymerization. J. Macromol. Sci. Part B: Phys. 2021. DOI: 10.1080/00222348.2021.1887602.
- [31] Wang, J.; Xu, Y.; Xiaopeng, Wu.; Peng, Z.; Hu, S. Advances of Graphene and Graphene
   Oxide-Modified Cementitious Materials. *Nanotechnol. Rev.* 2020, 9, 465-477. DOI: 10.1515/ntrev-2020-0041.
- [32] Lv, S.; Yang, W.; Zhao, H.; Zhou, Q.; Cui, Y. Effect of Polyacrylate/GO Nanocomposites on Properties of Cement Paste. *Mag. Concr. Res.* 2016, 68, 187-196. DOI: 10.1680/macr.15.00090.

- [33] Liu, C.; Huang, X.; Wu, Y.Y.; Deng, X.; Liu, J.; Hui, D. Review on the Research Progress of Cement-Based and Geopolymer Materials Modified by Graphene and Graphene Oxide. *Nanotechnol. Rev.* 2020, 9, 155-169. DOI: 10.1515/ntrev-2020-0014.
- [34] Hummers, W.S.; Offeman, R.E. Preparation of Graphitic Oxide. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 80,1339-1339. DOI: 10.1021/ja01539a017.
- [35] Al-Gaashani, R.; Najjarc, A.; Zakaria, Y.; Mansour, S.; Atieha, M.A. XPS and Structural Studies of High-Quality Graphene Oxide and Reduced Graphene Oxide Prepared by Different Chemical Oxidation Methods. *Ceram. Int.* 2019, 45,14439-14448. DOI: 10.1016/j.ceramint.2019.04.165.
- [36] Suo, Y.; Guo, R.; Xia, H.; Yang, Y.; Yan, F.; Qianmin, M. Study on Modification Mechanism of Workability and Mechanical Properties for Graphene Oxide-Reinforced Cement Composite. *NanoMater. Nanotechnol.* 2020, 10, 1-12. DOI: 10.1177/1847980420912601.
- [37] Boroujeni, K.P.; Tohidiyan, Z.; Fadavi, A.; Eskandari, M.M.; Shahsanaei, H.A.
   Synthesis and Catalytic Application of Poly (2-acrylamido-2-methyl-propanesulfonic Acid-co-Acrylamide) Grafted on Graphene Oxide. *Chem. Select.* 2019, 4, 7734-7744.
   DOI: 10.1002/slct.201900695.
- [38] Moazzami, M.; Sharif, F. Enhancement of Dispersion and Bonding of Graphene-Polymer Through Wet Transfer of Functionalized Graphene Oxide, *EXPRESS Polym. Lett.* 2012, 6, 1017-1031. DOI: 10.3144/expresspolymlett.2012.107.
- [39] Yu, J.; Li, Y.; Lu, Q.; Zheng, J.; Yang, S.; Jin, F.; Wang, Q.; Yang, W. Synthesis, Characterization and Adsorption of Cationic Dyes by CS/P (AMPS- co -AM) Hydrogel Initiated by Glow-Discharge-Electrolysis Plasma. *Iran. Polym. J.* 2016, 25, 423-435. DOI: 10.1007/s13726-016-0434-8.

- [40] Tiemeyer, C.; Plank, J. Synthesis, Characterization, and Working Mechanism of a Synthetic High Temperature (200 °C) Fluid Loss Polymer for Oil Well Cementing Containing Allyloxy-2-hydroxy Propane Sulfonic (AHPS) Acid Monomer. J Appl Polym Sci. 2012. DOI: 10.1002/APP.38262.
- [41] Kheirabadi, M.; Bagheri, R.; Kabir, K.; Ossipov, D.; Jokar, E.; Asadian, E. Improvement in Mechanical Performance of Anionic Hydrogels Using Full-Interpenetrating Polymer Network Reinforced with Graphene Oxide Nanosheets. *Adv. Polym. Technol.* 2016, 35, 1-10. DOI: 10.1002/adv.21563.
- [42] Wang, D.; Tan, J.; Han, Y.; Guo, Y.; An, H. Synthesis and Properties of Temperature-Resistant and Salt-Tolerant Tetra-Acrylamide Copolymer. *J Macromol. Sci. Part A: Pure Appl. Chem.* 2019, 56, 1148-1155. DOI: 10.1080/10601325.2019.1664912.
- [43] Cadix, A.; Moline, V.; Wilson, J. Effect of Fluid Loss Polymers Architecture on Cement Slurry Rheology: Impact of Adsorption and Microstructure. SPE International Conference on Oilfield Chemistry, Galveston, Texas, USA. 2019. DOI: 10.2118/193620-MS.
- [44] Li, M.; Meng, F.; Guo, X. Mechanical Properties and Mechanism of Graphite Oxide Reinforced Oil Well Cement. *Mater. Sci. Forum.* 2016, 847, 445-450. DOI: 10.4028/www.scientific.net/MSF.847.445.
- [45] Salami, O.T.; Plank, J. Influence of Electrolytes on the Performance of a Graft Copolymer Used as Fluid Loss Additive in Oil Well Cement. *J. Pet. Sci. Eng.* 2016, 143, 86-94. DOI: 10.1016/j.petrol.2016.02.021.
- [46] Wu, J.; Li, M.; Zhang, A. Synthesis and Characterization of SSS/HAM/AA Terpolymer as a Fluid Loss Additive for Oil Well Cement. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2018, 46266, 1-8. DOI: 10.1002/APP.46266.

- [47] Song, J.; Xu, M.; Liu, W.; Wang, X.; Wu, Y. Synergistic Effect of Latex Powder and Rubber on the Properties of Oil Well Cement-Based Composites. *Adv. Mater. Sci. Eng.* 2018,1-9. DOI: 10.1155/2018/4843816.
- [48] Cadix, A.; Thant, K.; Neufeld, J.; Nelson, T.; Auneau, L.; Phan, C.; Wilson, J. Short Term Gas Migration Control in Well Cementing: Comparative Behavior of Fluid Loss Control Polymers. SPE International Conference on Oilfield Chemistry, Montgomery, Texas, USA. 2017. DOI: 10.2118/184564-MS
- [49] Mehairi, A.G.; Husein, M.M. Enhancement of Cement Properties by Means of in Situ Grown Nanoparticles. *Constr. Build. Mater.* 2020, 261, 1-14. DOI: 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2020.120496.

Sample Code	CMT	CMT/ CPNHG	CMT/ CPNHG	CMT/ CPNHG	CMT/ CPNHG
		0.5%	1%	1.5%	2%
Well Cement Class G	0.3775	0.3775	0.3775	0.3775	0.3775
(bbl/SK)					
Dispersant (Ib/SK)	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3
Micro Block (gal/SK)	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5
Antifoam (gal/SK)	As needed	As needed	As needed	As needed	As needed
Saline Water (bbl/SK)	0.239	0.239	0.239	0.239	0.239
Retarder (Ib/SK)	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1

|--|

lb/SK: pounds per sack; gal/SK: gallon per sack; bbl/SK barrel per sack

Sample	Slurry	Plastic	Yield	Gel Strength	Gel Strength
	Weight	Viscosity	Point	10 Sec	10 min
	(PCF)	(cp)	$(lb/100ft^2)$	$(lb/100ft^2)$	$(lb/100ft^2)$
CMT	98	25.5	6.5	8.3	10
CMT-CPNHG 0.5%	98	45	20	12	32
CMT-CPNHG 1%	98	57	28	25	53
CMT-CNPHG 1.5%	99	67.5	34.5	33	69
CMT- CNPHG 2%	100	76.5	39.5	44	88

 Table 2. Rheological properties of CMT/CPNHG



Figure 1. The schematic of the copolymer nanocomposite hydrogel structure.



Figure 2. FTIR spectra of a) AM, b) AMPS and c) CPH.



Figure 3. XRD of (a) AM, AMPS, CPH, and (b) GO, CPNHG with (0.05; 0.1; 0.3 wt.%) of GO.



Figure 4. (a) SEM images of GO and (b) EDX of GO.



Figure 5. SEM micrographs of (a) CPH and CPNHG with (b) 0.05, (c) 0.1 and (d) 0.3 wt.% of GO.



Figure 6. Shear stress vs shear rate of CMT/CPNHG.



Figure 7. Influence of CPNHG concentrations on the free water and fluid loss of cement slurry.



Figure 8. Effect of copolymer nanocomposites hydrogel a) on the thickening time and b) transition time of cement slurry.

# 4.4. Supporting information

# **Supporting Information**

# Synthesis and preparation of poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO nanocomposites hydrogel as a rheology modifier and fluid loss controller for use in oil well cementing

# Amir Narimani<sup>a</sup>, Farid Kordnejad<sup>b</sup>, Prabhjyot Kaur<sup>a</sup>,

# Japan Trivedi<sup>c</sup>, Ferhi Najmeddine<sup>a</sup>, Mahmood Hemmati<sup>d</sup>, Adam Duong<sup>a\*</sup>

- <sup>a</sup> Department of Chemistry, Biochemistry, and Physics, Institute de Recherche sur l'Hydrogène, University of Quebec, Trois Rivieres, Quebec, Canada
- <sup>b</sup> Department of Polymer Engineering, Islamic Azad University, South Branch, Tehran, Iran
- <sup>c</sup> Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, School of Petroleum Engineering, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada
- <sup>d</sup> Department of Petroleum Engineering, Islamic Azad University, Science and Research Branch, Tehran, Iran

\*To whom correspondence should be addressed. E-mail: adam.duong@uqtr.ca

Contents		Page
I.	<b>Figure S1.</b> FTIR spectra of a) GO, b) CPH, and CPNHG with c) 0.05; d) 0.1; e) 0.3 wt.% of GO	S2
II.	<b>Figure S2.</b> Thermal stability of CPH and CPNHG with (0.05 to 0.3) wt.% of GO	S2
III.	<b>Figure S3.</b> SEM micrographs agglomeration of CPNHG with GO at 0.3 wt.%	S3
IV.	<b>Figure S4.</b> EDX spectrum and element mapping of a) CPH and, b) CPNHG with 0.1 wt.% of GO.	S3
V.	<b>Figure S5.</b> Influence of CPNHG concentrations on the PV and YP of cement slurry	S4
VI.	Figure S6. Shear stress vs CPNHG concentrations	S4
VII.	<b>Figure S7.</b> Compressive strength vs CPNHG concentrations at 196 °F	S5
VIII.	<b>Figure S8.</b> UCA compressive strength of cement slurry at 196 °F as a function of time	S5



Figure S1. FTIR spectra of a) GO, b) CPH, and CPNHG with c) 0.05; d) 0.1; e) 0.3 wt.% of GO.



Figure S2. Thermal stability of CPH and CPNHG with (0.05 to 0.3) wt.% of GO.



Figure S3. SEM micrographs agglomeration of CPNHG with GO at 0.3 wt.%.



Figure S4. EDX spectrum and element mapping of a) CPH and, b) CPNHG with 0.1 wt.% of GO.



Figure S5. Influence of CPNHG concentrations on the PV and YP of cement slurry.



Figure S6. Shear stress vs CPNHG concentrations.


Figure S7. Compressive strength vs CPNHG concentrations at 196 °F.



Figure S8. UCA compressive strength of cement slurry at 196 °F as a function of time.

#### 4.5. Conclusion

Inspired from the works of chapter 3, we synthesized the poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO nanocomposite hydrogel which was further used to oil well cementing and its possibilities in EOR applications to develop a novel AM-based hydrogel with plenty of functional units on nanocomposite copolymer structure. In addition, we synthesized and characterized the GO by XRD, EDX, and SEM in this chapter. This work gives an insight into the ability to use the functional groups of GO that react with copolymer chains through hydrogen bonds to form crosslinked hydrogel networks with great thermal and salt stability. The influence of synthesized GO on the strength structure of copolymer nanocomposites hydrogel is the ability to absorb and keep a large volume of water or other aqueous fluids for several hours while being under pressure. The characterizations of this copolymer nanocomposites hydrogel were also investigated. All nano samples exhibit high thermal stability, as determined by TGA. The success of this approach highlights the potential of using it as a rheology modifier in designing and engineering fluids in oil well cementing. The work also opens wider access for developing a new hydrogel system.

## **Chapter 5**

# Synthesis, characterization and rheological behavior of HPG graft poly (AM-co AMPS)/GO nanocomposite hydrogel system for enhanced oil recovery

#### **5.1. Introduction**

Excessive water extraction becomes one of the serious challenges pending the life of production wells and oil recovery in mature oil fields that leads to a decline in the oil production efficiency. Hence, several techniques are associated with enhanced oil recovery (EOR) methods to decline unwanted water from the reservoirs. The water shut-off treatment with cross-linked polymer systems is one of the major treatments in this regard. In this chapter, by inspiring from chapters 3 and 4, we synthesized GO and its effect on the hydrogel network structure of graft copolymer nanocomposite based on hydroxypropyl guar (HPG) graft acrylamide (AM) and 2-acryloamido-2-methyl propane sulfonic acid (AMPS) which was reinforced with graphene oxide (GO), and its suitability for the development of the copolymer-based hydrogel systems by chromium triacetate crosslinker to use in EOR applications in electrolyte media, in terms of viscoelastic behavior, viscosity loss, long-term aging, and thermal stability have also been evaluated to specify the flow behavior in the reservoir. Characterizations of graft copolymer were also studied. Finally, the effect of the graft copolymer nanocomposite and cross-linker concentrations, on viscosity, storage modulus, and strength of the hydrogel system were investigated to optimize the gel formation in electrolyte media.

### **5.2. Article 3**

# Synthesis, characterization, and rheological behavior of HPG graft poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO nanocomposite hydrogel system for enhanced oil recovery

Journal of Dispersion Science and Technology

Submitted date: 01-04-2022

#### 5.3. Author's contribution

Amir Narimani: Conceptualization of the project, visualization, and investigation of experiments, all synthesis of monomer and experiments conducted, validation of methodology and curation of data, drafting the original manuscript.

Farid Kordnejad: Investigation in rheology study.

Prof. Mahmood Hemmati: Investigation in EOR study.

**Prof. Adam Duong:** Project administration, supervision, funding acquisition, writing-review, and editing.

### Synthesis, characterization, and rheological behavior of HPG graft poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO nanocomposite hydrogel system for enhanced oil recovery

Amir Narimani<sup>1</sup>, Farid Kordnejad<sup>2</sup>, Mahmood Hemmati<sup>3</sup>, Adam Duong<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Chemistry, Biochemistry, and Physics, Institute de Recherche sur l'Hydrogène, University of Quebec, Trois Rivieres, Quebec, Canada

<sup>2</sup>Department of Polymer Engineering, Islamic Azad University, South Branch, Tehran, Iran

<sup>3</sup>Department of Petroleum Engineering, Islamic Azad University, Science and Research Branch, Tehran, Iran

Author to whom correspondence may be addressed. E-mail: adam.duong@uqtr.ca

#### Abstract

The purpose of this study is to investigate the synthesis of graft copolymer nanocomposite based on hydroxypropyl guar (HPG) graft acrylamide (AM) and 2-acryloamido-2-methyl propane sulfonic acid (AMPS), reinforced with graphene oxide (GO), and study its suitability for the development of the copolymer-based hydrogel systems by chromium triacetate crosslinker to use in oil recovery applications. The characterization outcomes acknowledged the grafting of AM and AMPS onto HPG in the attendance of the GO. The uniform dispersion of GO at 0.1 wt.% was observed in the morphology analysis. Moreover, not only the viscosity but also, the storage and loss modulus of graft copolymer nanocomposites hydrogel improved by adding GO. The effect of graft copolymer nanocomposite and crosslinker concentrations on the performance of hydrogel was also evaluated and optimized by a rheological test. These results showed the outstanding performance of crosslinked hydrogel structure of HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO, owing to the linking of AM with AMPS and grafting on the HPG chains and the surface of GO in attendance of chromium triacetate. This makes the copolymer hydrogel system more stable against salinity, shearing, and high temperature. Therefore, this nanocomposite hydrogel system is potentially useful for oil recovery applications.

**Keywords:** Graft copolymer nanocomposite, graphene oxide, thermal stability, gel system, enhanced oil recovery

128

#### **1. Introduction**

Excessive water extraction becomes one of the serious problems during the life of production wells and oil recovery in mature oil fields that leads to a decline in the oil production efficiency [1-2]. The main reason for water production is the high permeability layers owing to the existence of fractures in the reservoir rocks, which leaves large oil fields without oil production [3-5]. Therefore, various techniques are associated to reduce unwanted water from the reservoirs, including mechanical separation, cement injection, and water shut-off treatment with cross-linked polymer systems [6]. Among the available techniques, an injection cross-linked polymer system comprising of a polymer or copolymer solution and a water-soluble crosslinker is extensively employed in water control treatments [2,7]. Under the temperature and time, polymer chains are linked together by a crosslinker as a bridging agent to generate a three-dimensional hydrophilic network structure. This hydrogel acts as a flow blocking or diverting agent [8-9]. Indeed, a gel polymer system can avoid water production by obstructing the high permeability zones and diverting to the low permeability zones in the reservoir. As well, owing to the slow movement of this sort of gel, it can be employed as a viscosity modifier for oil displacement, by increasing the viscosity of the fluid which helps to decrease the mobility ratio [10-11]. Gel polymer represents a convenient performance when their viscosity stability, gel strength, and thermal stability are at the desired level. Hence, rheological behaviors and thermal properties of the gel polymer solution play an important key in EOR applications [12-13]. As a result, the proper selection of gel polymer system is a key point and it depends on the reservoir conditions including lithology of formation, salinity, water hardness, and temperature [1,3, 14]. All these factors would cause the reduction of the durability and viscosity of hydrogel solutions pending the recovery process [14-15]. Consequently, based on these factors, several studies have been performed to develop an adequate polymer solution and also polymer gel system with suitable performance in EOR with regards to the harsh conditions of the reservoir [2, 5, 6, 12, 16-18]. For example, Mohammadi et al. [2] described the inverse emulsion copolymerization of AMPS and AM to make a high-weight nanostructure polymer mixed with chromium (III) acetate using EOR application. Singh et al. [6] synthesized a graft polymer nanocomposite hydrogel system, based on poly (AM -g-starch)/clay, by using a method of radical polymerization. Alvand et al. [12] reported an improvement in the behavior of sulfonated polyacrylamide with the addition of laponite and chromium (III) as a weak hydrogel system. Li et al. [18] synthesized a new hydro soluble sulfonated copolymer AMPS/DMAEMA/MA that demonstrated good shear and thermal resistance and salt tolerance ability in EOR applications.

Water-soluble polymers are highly applied in EOR applications such as control of water production and polymer flooding [19-21]. Therefore, acrylamide-based homopolymer or copolymer are common polymer solutions for gel systems [14]. In recent years, acrylamide (AM) is widely used, due to its properties to control the excess water production in the EOR process. However, the molecular chain of AM is easy to break when passing through the porous rocks. Moreover, it has poor shear resistance and salinity and it is easily degraded thermally, resulting in a substantial decline in the strength and viscosity of the hydrogel [22-23]. To prevail over these drawbacks of polymer gel based on acrylamide, AM monomers copolymerized with one or two monomers as a modifier have been employed [24]. AMPS as a monomer modifier has the potential to improve the chain stability of AM in harsh conditions of the reservoir [3,24]. The introduction of the sulfonic acid group into AM enhances the salt tolerance ability of AM monomer. Indeed, AMPS is a sort of vinyl monomer including sulfate groups with high durability, and also great salt tolerance which will result in the provision of high molecular weight copolymers that is desirable for EOR applications [25-26-27]. On the other hand, the use of the hydroxypropyl guar (HPG) as a natural polymer is beneficial as it is not only less sensitive to shearing but is also a great viscosity modifier, particularly in hydraulic fracturing [10, 28-29]. HPG chains can be grafted by AM monomer which causes a further increase of shear resistance in the copolymer structure [28-29]. HPG has an outstanding ability to carry the solid particles within the created mechanical fracture in the reservoir during the fracture operation. These particles help to keep the fractures open so that the oil can easily egress from the deeper reservoir to the well surface [30].

The use of methods such as interpenetrating polymer network, copolymerization, and graft copolymerization including natural and functional synthetic polymers has attracted much attention for the fabrication of hydrogel systems because of their ability to improve the properties of the polymers with a large range of applications owing to the combining of two or more polymers along with their desired properties [6, 10, 16-17, 31]. The graft copolymer as a polymer solution reacts with various crosslinkers to make the hydrogel with great thermal, salt, and shear stability, owing to the linking of AM with an ionic comonomer in its matrix and grafted with natural polymer in the backbone [6, 32]. However, this conventional hydrogel is limited, owing to the low network strength when passing into porous media which leads to the reduction of hydrogel viscosity [6,15,31], especially in reservoir conditions. Therefore, introducing nanoparticles into the polymer structure of hydrogel due to their outstanding properties such as improved strength, thermal stability, and salt tolerance [15]

enhances the properties of conventional hydrogels [14-15, 19]. Recently, GO has been highly considered and employed as a thermal and mechanical strength enhancer for hydrogel polymer systems in harsh conditions [33-35]. Due to the hydrophilic nature of the GO and its abundant oxygen functional groups comprising epoxide, hydroxyl, carboxyl, and carbonyl, it can be dispersed in an aqueous solution and employed with hydrophilic polymers as a reinforcer [36-38]. The main attention of this research is to investigate the dispersion effect of GO on graft copolymer nanocomposite as copolymer solution and develop a novel hydrogel system to achieve the desired polymer hydrogel with adequate viscosity, gel strength, and thermal stability. To the best of our knowledge, there is no report for HPG-gpoly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO as a graft copolymer nanocomposite hydrogel system in EOR application and electrolyte media at elevated temperatures. Therefore, in this study, a novel hydrogel was prepared by crosslinking the chromium triacetate as a crosslinker with graft copolymer nanocomposite as a copolymer solution. The HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO graft copolymer nanocomposite was synthesized by the graft copolymerization of AM and AMPS onto the chains of HPG, with the incorporation of the GO, and its characterization was studied. Then, the effect of the incorporation of GO on the rheological behavior of the nanocomposite hydrogel system in terms of viscoelastic behavior, long-term aging, viscosity loss, and thermal stability have also been investigated to determine the flow behavior in the reservoir. Finally, the effect of the graft copolymer nanocomposite and cross-linker concentrations, on viscosity, storage modulus, and strength of the hydrogel system was evaluated to determine an optimum gel formation in electrolyte media and EOR application.

#### 2. Experimental

#### 2.1. Materials

AM, graphite, ammonium persulfate (APS), and hydrochloric acid were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. HPG was supplied by Shandong engineering & technology Co., China. AMPS was purchased from Alfa Aesar, Canada. Chromium triacetate was supplied from Carlo Erba, Italy. Sulfuric acid (H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, 95%), potassium permanganate (KMnO<sub>4</sub>), phosphoric acid (H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>), hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) and acetone were provided from Fisher Scientific, Canada. Sodium chloride (NaCl), and sodium hydroxide were obtained from Anachemia, Canada.

#### 2.2. Preparation of graphene oxide

GO was prepared by a modified Hummer's method. In brief, 0.5 g of the graphite was mixed with 60 ml of H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, and 6.6 ml H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> then stirred for 10 min. 1.5 g of KMnO<sub>4</sub> was then gently added to the mixture and the reaction was continued at 80°C for 24 hr. Thereafter, 90 ml deionized water was added and mixed by dropping 1 ml of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> into the solution for over 30 min. The obtained solution was purified by centrifugation for nearly 60 min at 2500 rpm. The specimen was washed many times by water to regulate pH between7-8 and was finally dried in an oven at 80 °C for 24 hr.

#### 2.3. Synthesis of the HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO

The HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO was synthesized by the free-radical copolymerization. Firstly, 1 g of HPG was added to a 250-mL three-necked flask and mixed until the mixture was homogenized. Then various concentrations (0, 0.05, 0.1, and 0.3 wt.%) of GO were interspersed in 20 mL distilled water and stirred in an ultrasonic bath (Branson Co., 60 Hz, 80 W) for good dispersion of GO solution. After that, these concentrations were added to the three-necked flask and allowed to mix. Subsequently, a 30 mL aqueous solution containing 8 and 2 g of AM and AMPS monomers was poured into the flask and was mixed for 45 min. Thereafter, 0.011 mol/L of APS as an initiator in 5 mL distilled water was added slowly and the pH of the reaction solution was adjusted to 7-8 with sodium hydroxide and hydrochloric acid. The reaction was stirred for another 3hr by increasing the temperature to 80°C, under an inert nitrogen gas atmosphere up to the formation of a viscous solution. The synthesized product was precipitated and washed with acetone to obviate any impurities Afterwards, it was dried in a vacuum oven for 6 hr up to achieving a stable weight and was finally powdered by a mortar pestle.

#### 2.4. Preparation of nanocomposite hydrogel

The nanocomposite hydrogel is prepared by gradually adding different amounts (0.5, 0.7, 0.9, and 1.1 wt.%) of synthesized graft copolymer nanocomposite to the saline solution (NaCl: 15000 ppm) and stirred frequently by a magnetic stirrer to get viscous solutions and kept for 24 hr. After that, the different amounts (0.6, 0.8, 1, and 1.4 wt.%) of chromium triacetate as a crosslinker were provided in water and mixed with the graft copolymer nanocomposite solution. Finally, the reaction was done by heating to 85 °C for nearly 2 hr to produce a uniform gel solution.

#### **2.5. Instruments and characterizations**

X-ray diffraction (XRD) analysis of dried graft copolymer and its nanocomposite was carried out using a Rigaku diffractometer with Cu-K $\alpha$  radiation ( $\lambda = 1.5418$  Å) in the range 2 $\theta$ =5-70. Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectra of dried graft copolymer and its nanocomposites were done by Thermo is10 spectrometer, in the range of 4000-650 cm<sup>-1</sup>. Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) was done using a HITACHI, SUI510 that was equipped with energy dispersive X-ray (EDX) software X-MAX (Oxford instruments, 20 mm<sup>2</sup>) for elemental analysis. Transmission electron microscope (TEM) of graft copolymer nanocomposite was obtained using a PHILIPS EM 208 S.

#### 2.6. Rheological measurements

The rheological behavior of the nanocomposite hydrogel was measured using a rheometer (Paar-Physica, MCR 301) at 115 °C, for both steady and viscoelastic properties, in 25 mm parallel plate geometry and 1 mm gap with a Peltier device for temperature control. The strain amplitude was 1 % with the frequency in the range of 0.01-100 rad/s. To prevent water dissipation, silicone oil was applied to the outer surface. The viscosity stability vs. time for the nanocomposite hydrogel was performed using high temperature/high pressure, GRACE M5600 Rheometer at 115 °C for 51 min and a constant shear rate of 100 1/s and a pressure of 480 psi. Long-term aging of the nanocomposite hydrogels was done by viscosity monitoring. The gel specimens were kept in an oven at 115 °C, for 7 days. Thereafter, the influence of the loss viscosity of specimens on long-term thermal stability was investigated.

#### 2.7. Thermal stability measurement

Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) of dried hydrogels was evaluated with the Perkin Elmer, STA 6000. Specimens were heated from 30 to 700 °C at a heating rate of 10 °C/min under a nitrogen atmosphere.

#### 3. Results and Discussion

#### **3.1.** Characterization of graft copolymer nanocomposite

Figure 1 depicts the synthetic route to the preparation of graft copolymer nanocomposite as a copolymer solution for fabricating the hydrogel system, by grafting copolymerization of AM and AMPS monomers onto HPG chains with the incorporation of GO as a multifunctional crosslinker agent and reinforcer along with the APS as an initiator. In fact, APS is decomposed by heating to engender the sulfate radicals then it initiates to develop chains between AM and AMPS monomers with the HPG chains. During chain propagation, GO acts as a crosslinking agent through the strong hydrogen bond formation among the GO functional groups and graft copolymer chains to form a three-dimensional network [33, 39].

The structural characterization of GO, HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS), and HPG-g- poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO was performed by XRD to investigate the dispersion of GO in graft copolymer as highlighted in Figure 2. XRD spectrum of GO reveals that the principal characteristic peak is located at  $2\theta$ =10.25, and an interlayer spacing at 0.86 nm, corresponding to the presence of oxygen-comprising functional groups on the sheet of GO [40-42]. In the case of the graft copolymer, the XRD pattern showed a diffraction peak shift in the range of  $2\theta$ =20-25° which is related to the amorphous characteristic of graft copolymer structure. However, after the incorporation of GO with HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS), the characteristic diffraction peak declined compared to GO, implying a good dispersion of the GO in the graft copolymer network [37, 39-40]. Moreover, the broad peaks of the amorphous structure were apperceived in the range of  $2\theta$ =20-25° [40, 43]. According to these results, (i) graft copolymer nanocomposite was synthesized, (ii) GO was uniformly

dispersed in the graft copolymer matrix, and (iii) it could act as a crosslinking point, then helping in enhancing the strength and structure of graft copolymer nanocomposite.

Figure 3 displays the FTIR spectra of GO, HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS), and HPG-g- poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO to study the interaction between graft copolymer chains with the functional group of GO. As highlighted in the Figure 3, GO exhibited bands at 3407, 2952, 1647, 1422, 1281, and 1021 cm<sup>-1</sup>, are related to O-H hydroxyl groups, C-H, C=C, O-H, C-OH, and C-O-C respectively [34, 40], indicating the creation of the multifunctional groups on GO surface to enhance the dispersion and interaction of GO with copolymer matrix.<sup>[44]</sup> In the spectrum of the graft copolymer, the bands at 3388 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 3225 cm<sup>-1</sup> are attributed to the O-H bond of the hydroxyl group of HPG and N-H of the amide group [28]. In addition, C-H stretching is apperceived at 2956 cm<sup>-1</sup>. The band at 1653 cm<sup>-1</sup> is assigned to the C=O stretching and also the CH<sub>2</sub> band emerged at 1421 cm<sup>-1</sup>. Moreover, the band observed at 1319 cm<sup>-1</sup> is ascribed to the N-H vibration of AM and C-N of AMPS. Meanwhile, the band at 1067 cm<sup>-1</sup> is due to the S=O of the sulfonate group [18, 26, 28, 45]. These observations indicated the grafting of AM and AMPS on the HPG backbone, demonstrating the formation of the network structure in which the graft copolymer was successfully synthesized [28,45-46]. In comparison to the graft copolymer nanocomposites, the graft copolymer without GO, revealed a lower wavenumber in spectra, which can be explained by the formation of interaction between GO and chains of graft copolymer matrix. It can be seen from FTIR spectrums of graft copolymer nanocomposite with 0.1 wt.% of GO, the characteristic peaks at 3381 and 3216 cm<sup>-1</sup> were observed that implied the hydrogen bonding between GO and graft copolymer chains occurred by N-H of the amide group and O-H deformation vibration of GO [36,44]. The other peak emerged at 2955 cm<sup>-1</sup>, implying the stretching vibration of CH<sub>2</sub>. Furthermore, the characteristic peak at 1650 cm<sup>-1</sup> corresponds to the amide N-H and C=C of GO. As well, there are peaks at 1421 cm<sup>-1</sup>, due to the C-H bending vibration, and C-O-C stretching around 1057 cm<sup>-1</sup> for graft copolymer nanocomposite [14, 47]. An increment of the GO to 0.3 wt.% shows no substantial influence on the FTIR spectra of graft copolymer nanocomposite. However, the broad peaks at about 1645 and 1588 cm<sup>-1</sup> were observed which shifted to a lower wavelength [39]. Therefore, obtained results confirmed that the monomers grafted onto HPG chains, and the linking occurred between chains of graft copolymer with the functional groups of GO surface, by hydrogen bonding to make the three-dimensional structure [37, 40, 42-43].

The morphology of prepared GO, HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS), and HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO to study the dispersion of GO in graft copolymer nanocomposite were studied by SEM and TEM. As shown in Figures 4a and b, GO demonstrated the wrinkle and flake-like sheets. Figure 4c displays the EDX pattern which implies the attendance of C, O, and S, which are the main elements for GO [40-43]. SEM image of the graft copolymer nanocomposite is shown in Figure 5 (a-c). Compared to the morphologies of the nano samples with the sample without GO, a compact and dense surface was observed for the nano sample with 0.1 wt.% of GO, which was ascribed to the interaction between graft copolymer chains with oxygen-containing groups of the GO, resulting in an improvement of network strength [33,43]. However, with soaring GO concentration to 0.3 wt.%, the morphology of the nanocomposite surface was denser and rougher with great fold areas, implying the poor interaction between GO and the graft copolymer chains [31,39,43]. This is also acknowledged by the TEM image of the HPG-g- poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO at 0.3 wt.% of GO in Figure 6. It was obvious from Figure 6 that by increasing GO up to 0.3 wt.% GO, the

poor dispersion of GO was observed which indicates that excess GO tends to agglomerate in the matrix [6, 42, 44]. To further evaluate the elemental composition of synthesized HPG-gpoly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO with 0.1 wt.% of GO, the EDX analysis is highlighted in Figure 7. It demonstrated the presence of C, O, N, Na, and S elements map, thus suggesting the presence of nanoparticles in the graft copolymer matrix, indicating the sample was synthesized [40]. As a result, GO is well dispersed up to 0.1 wt.% in the graft copolymer matrix and it interacts with chains of graft copolymer matrix. Indeed, the graft copolymer chains were most likely located on the GO surface [47]. According to the above results, graft copolymer nanocomposite of AM and AMPS onto HPG chains with an attendance of GO was synthesized to engender a graft copolymer nanocomposite solution with a strong multifunctional network structure. Hence, HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO with 0.1 wt.% of GO can be potentially used as a copolymer solution of hydrogel system in EOR application at elevated temperatures.

#### 3.2. Rheological behavior of nanocomposites hydrogel

The rheology of polymer gel solutions plays an essential role in hydrogel performance, especially in porous media like oil reservoirs. Polymer gel solution with low viscosity can be injected easily but, it might lead to lower efficiency. On the other hand, the polymer gel solution with high viscosity may be pumped with difficulty and cannot flow easily in the porous media of the reservoir. Therefore, achieving the desired viscosity with suitable gel strength is highly important in the design and performance of cross-linked gel systems [10,12]. According to this, the effect of incorporation of GO on the viscosity behavior versus shear rate for hydrogels was evaluated at 115 °C. In these experiments, graft copolymer nanocomposite, and cross-linker concentration for hydrogel samples are kept constant at 0.7

and 0.8 wt.%, respectively. As shown in Figure 8a, the viscosity was improved with an addition of the GO, at a low-shear rate. This enhancement was noticeable as the concentration of GO increases up to 0.1 wt.%. This increment was likely ascribed to the linking between GO with the chains of the graft copolymer matrix, owing to the uniform dispersion of GO in the graft copolymer matrix, which improves the resistance to the mobility of graft copolymer chains, leading to an enhancement in the viscosity [14, 48-49]. In fact, the large surface area of GO, can act as a physical crosslinking agent to improve the strength of nanocomposite hydrogel structure [37, 50]. However, a slight increase in the viscosity was also shown with an augmentation of GO to 0.3 wt.%, because the nanoparticle tends to agglomerate [15]. In addition, the nanocomposites hydrogel shows less dependency of viscosity to shear rate as compared to hydrogel without GO. These outcomes display that the network strength of polymer gel solutions is sensitive to GO loading. GO nanosheets give greater strength to the network of graft nanocomposites hydrogel to form the stable structure to resist stretch stress and deformation generated by shearing fields as compared to the hydrogel without GO [49]. It was also observed from Figure 8a, that all samples of gel systems displayed the non-Newtonian and shear thinning behavior, with an increasing shear rate, implying the pseudoplastic fluid behavior [12, 21]. An increase in the shear rate and temperature at 115 °C leads to the disentanglement of the graft copolymer nanocomposite chains and their easier movement, resulting in a lower viscosity [14]. It means that the graft copolymer nanocomposite chains are oriented further along with the flow [14, 49].

The properties of hydrogels are intermediate between viscous and elastic liquids which shows viscoelastic behavior [7]. Therefore, the viscoelastic behavior of the graft copolymer nanocomposite hydrogel in this study was also evaluated. Figure 8 (b-c) displays the

influence of GO on the storage and loss modulus for the hydrogel system composed of the 0.7 wt.% of graft copolymer nanocomposite and 0.8 wt.% of the crosslinker with the applied frequency. The storage and loss modulus of nanocomposite hydrogel is enhanced with an addition of GO, by increasing the angular frequency. This behavior can be explained by the fact that at low frequency, the polymer chains had enough time to unwind and to form the network structure. Thus, a vast amount of relaxation occurred, leading to an enhancement in the rheology behavior of samples. However, at high frequency, this action time was shorter, and the disentanglements of matrix chains increased [48]. This enhancement was noticeable with the addition of 0.1 wt.% GO, which was owing to the uniform dispersion of GO in the graft copolymer matrix [47]. This reinforces the strength of the three-dimensional structure of nanocomposite hydrogel, thereby improving the viscoelastic properties [7,33,36]. However, this effect was not remarkable with the rise of GO contents to 0.3 wt.%. Therefore, a high concentration of GO causes the agglomeration of GO particles that make non-uniform dispersion in the graft copolymer matrix, resulting in a decreased strength of the hydrogel network and the elastic behavior [51]. Interestingly, from this Figure 8, the storage modulus (G') value is greater than that of the loss modulus (G"), implying that the elastic nature is dominant over its vicious nature. It means that the gel formation may have already commenced in the system. Hence, these obtained results revealed that polymer gel has great rubbery nature at concentrations 0.1 wt.% of GO, at low frequencies [16, 49, 52].

As shown in Figure 8, an improvement in the viscoelastic properties of nanocomposite hydrogels was observed as compared to the neat hydrogel at all the shear rates. This enhancement was mainly owing to the hydrophilic functional groups of GO that cross-linked with chains of graft copolymer matrix, by hydrogen bonding, causing the nanocomposites

hydrogel to display good strength and rheological characteristics in electorate media [11, 37]. Likewise, not only neat hydrogel but also nanocomposite hydrogels exhibited terminal behavior, indicating the rheological behavior of materials to transition from liquid-like at low frequencies to solid-like at high frequencies [11,14,50]. Hence, according to these results, AM-based graft copolymer hydrogel showed a strong crosslinked structure with good rubbery behavior in an electrolyte media with a salinity of 15000 ppm, thereby incorporating HPG and AMPS into its matrix that is linked with the GO surface, to increase its salt tolerance and shear stability. As a result, HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO hydrogel with 0.1 wt.% of GO renders great performance as a polymer gel system in the EOR process.

The viscosity stability of hydrogel is a significant rheological factor in EOR, which is defined as the ability of a polymer gel solution to keep its viscosity to the shear rate with respect to time [2]. For this purpose, the viscosity stability of nanocomposite hydrogels was examined and compared with the sample without GO at a temperature as high as 115 °C. The graft copolymer nanocomposite and cross-linker concentration for all hydrogel samples are held constant at 0.7 and 0.8 wt.%, respectively. It can be seen from Figure 9, the viscosity stability of both the samples reduced with time, particularly in the early 15 minutes. The same effect was shown with increasing temperature to reach the target temperature. Afterward, the viscosity became steady and no remarkable reduction in viscosity was apperceived with time. By comparing the viscosity stability of samples, it can be observed that the nanocomposite hydrogel with GO had greater viscosity stability and gel strength than hydrogel without GO in electrolyte media, which is likely due to the linking of GO with graft copolymer chains. It highlights the fact that the attendance of GO as a multifunctional crosslinker accompanied with AMPS and HPG as a sulfonated monomer and viscosity modifier in the network

structure of the acrylamide-based copolymer nanocomposite hydrogel, results in an improvement of the viscosity stability against the created shear fields in salinity environment [10, 49].

Loss of viscosity of polymer gel solutions is the main factor in the EOR process, particularly in long-term aging under harsh reservoir conditions. Hence, the impact of long-term aging on the viscosity behavior of conventional hydrogel was investigated and compared with its nanocomposite hydrogel, in an electrolyte media and is shown in Figure 10. The graft copolymer nanocomposite and cross-linker concentration for all hydrogel samples are kept constant at 0.7 and 0.8 wt.%, respectively. According to this figure, the shear viscosity lessens with increasing shear rate. However, nanocomposite hydrogels show higher viscosity and thermal stability as compared to the hydrogel without GO. This improvement was noticeable for hydrogel with 0.1 wt.% of GO compared to all other samples. It can be explained by the attendance of chromium triacetate and GO as crosslinkers in hydrogels which strengthen the network structure by increasing the crosslinking density and preventing the rapid degradation of acrylamide molecules [15,53]. This enhancement in the nanocomposite hydrogel network causes a reduction in the accessibility of divalent cations including Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Mg<sup>2+</sup> in the AM chains [10, 12]. Consequently, GO, as a thermal enhancer, improves greatly the viscosity of loss in the polymer gel solution for long terms aging. Therefore, this result presents the HPGg-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO hydrogel system can be highly stable at high temperatures.

#### 3.3. Thermal stability of nanocomposite hydrogel

The thermal stability of the hydrogel system is another main factor in the EOR process, which affects the viscosity and stability of hydrogel performance. Based on this issue, the thermal stability of HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS) hydrogel (0.7 wt.% graft copolymer and 0.8 wt.%

of crosslinker) was studied and compared with HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO nanocomposite hydrogel (0.7 wt.% graft copolymer nanocomposite (containing 0.1 wt.% GO) and 0.8 wt.% of crosslinker). As highlighted in Figure 11, the thermogram of the HPGg- poly (AM-co-AMPS) hydrogel displays five essential decomposition steps. The first step of weight loss appeared up to 100 °C, owing to water evaporation. The second step emerged from 100 to 240 °C, which is likely related to the thermal dissociation of amide and carboxylate side groups, and also decrease in the linking of graft copolymer chains with a crosslinker, causing a reduced network structure strength. However, the presence of AMPS in the copolymer chain assists in impeding the quick hydrolysis of the amide group in the hydrogel network [17, 52]. Another weight loss step occurred between 240 to 350 °C, which suggested the amide and sulfonic acid groups of the copolymer network were degraded [2, 18]. Then, the decomposition step, between 350-500 °C was observed due to the breakage of the graft copolymer chains. The last dissociation stage, above 500 °C, indicates the complete decomposition of the graft copolymer network and also the destruction of the crosslinked structure [18, 40, 45]. In contrast, the thermogram of the graft copolymer nanocomposite hydrogel demonstrates a noticeable extension of degradation temperature. It is mainly due to the grafting of AM monomer and sulfonated group AMPS onto HPG and also the homogeneous dispersion of the GO. GO acts as a thermal crosslinking agent in the graft copolymer matrix and creates a strong network structure which causes the great enhancement of the strength and thermal stability of network nanocomposite hydrogel as compared to hydrogel without GO [32-33,39, 44]. This behavior was supported by the loss of viscosity. According to these results, it appears that the synthesized graft copolymer nanocomposites hydrogel has a notable impact on improving thermal and viscosity stability during pumping

in porous media. Although further evaluation can be essential during routine expansion and testing for fields operations.

# 3.4. Effect of graft copolymer nanocomposite and crosslinker concentrations on hydrogel system

The optimization of polymer and crosslinker concentrations are key parameters in the gel system that can affect the performance of polymer gel solution during pumping into the reservoir [6]. Based on this, the effect of graft copolymer nanocomposite concentrations on viscosity, and storage modulus of hydrogel was also examined and are shown in Figures 12 (a and b). Samples were prepared with various percentages (from 0.5 to 1.1 wt.%) of graft copolymer nanocomposite (containing 0.1 wt.% of GO), at a constant concentration of crosslinker (0.8 wt.%) at four shear rate and frequency. It is observed from Figure 12a that gel viscosity increased remarkably with the growing the graft copolymer nanocomposite concentration to 0.7 wt.% and then continued to further soar up to 0.9 wt.%. This is mainly because of the greater availability of negative charge sites of graft copolymer nanocomposite chains, which leads to an enhancement in the number of links between Cr<sup>3+</sup> ions of crosslinker and graft copolymer nanocomposite chains; causing the increment of viscosity and an improvement in the gel strength [5, 9, 17]. On the other hand, these results also revealed that when the graft copolymer concentration increases in the gel network, caused by soaring the functional groups in the network and an increase in physical entanglement of graft copolymer nanocomposite chains. This restricts the polymer chains mobility, resulting in a further increase of the viscosity, and decrease in the gelation time [16, 51]. However, by increasing the shear rate, the viscosity of the hydrogel decreased, suggesting the hydrogel system displays pseudoplastic behavior [6]. Therefore, hydrogel samples including the graft

copolymer nanocomposite at 0.7 and 0.9 wt.% showed greater strength and viscosity versus shear rate than all others, that can resist against deformation force when it passes through the slender paths of the reservoir [3,6]. It was also found from Figure 12b that at a lower concentration of graft copolymer nanocomposites (0.5 wt.%), there is no increase in the storage modulus. This is because of the existence of insufficient molecules of graft copolymer nanocomposite that can react with chromium triacetate, resulting in free chromium in the system [51]. In contrast, with the growing of graft copolymer concentration to 0.9 wt.%, there is a high number of available crosslinking sites and functional units for reaction with a crosslinker resulting in the increasing of storage modulus, suggesting further elastic behavior of hydrogel [5,19]. Also, higher storage modules were obtained at a higher concentration of graft copolymer nanocomposite at 1.1 wt.%. This was due to increasing intermolecular entanglements, and hydrogen bonds between the graft copolymer nanocomposite chains, resulting in a reduction in the gelation time of the hydrogels [1], which causes difficulties during gel injection and pumping into the porous rock.

Figure 13 represents the effect of different crosslinker concentrations (0.5, 0.8, 1, and 1.4 wt.%) by keeping constant the graft copolymer nanocomposite (containing 0.1 wt.% of GO) at 0.7%, on viscosity and gel strength of hydrogel system at four shear rates. As shown in Figure 13, viscosity augments with an increase in the crosslinker to 1 wt.%. It can be explained by the fact that by increasing the crosslinker, the number of links between the  $Cr^{3+}$  ions of the crosslinker and the graft copolymer nanocomposite chains rises [9,51]. As a result, further crosslinker points reacted to form a stable network structure, resulting in an increase in gel strength and it declines the gelling time [4]. On the contrary, an increment in the viscosity of hydrogel samples was decreased by further soaring in crosslinker to 1.4 wt.%. It

is interesting to note that hydrogel with a cross-linker at 1.4 wt.% displays instability in its network structure. This behavior may be due to the attendance of extra Cr<sup>3+</sup> ions, which results in greater constriction forces of crosslinking than the expansion forces in the gel network, causing the volume of the polymer gel and copolymer chains to reduce and the gel network to collapse [2, 4, 9]. Therefore, it is evident that an enhancement in viscosity depends on crosslinker concentration. Therefore, based on these results, the variations between these two parameters lead to a variety of hydrogel systems. It seems that the storage and viscosity of nanocomposite hydrogel increased by growing the graft copolymer nanocomposite and crosslinker concentrations thus, the 0.7 wt.% of graft copolymer nanocomposite containing GO and the cross-linker 0.8 wt.% can be selected as optimum values to enhance the strength performance of cross-linked copolymer hydrogel for injection into the reservoir.

#### 4. Conclusion

The HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO was synthesized by graft copolymerization of AM and AMPS onto HPG in presence of GO and its ability as a copolymer nanocomposite gel system using chromium triacetate was investigated in EOR applications. The obtained results from XRD and FTIR indicated the AM monomer and AMPS in presence of GO were copolymerized and grafted onto HPG chains. The morphology results displayed the uniform GO distribution at 0.1 wt.% in the graft copolymer matrix. As well, the impact of GO on the improvement of the graft copolymer chains. Rheological results revealed that all hydrogel samples were sensitive to the interaction between GO concentration with chains of the graft copolymer. Moreover, GO enhanced viscosity and thermal stability of nanocomposite hydrogel at a temperature as high as 115 °C, and improved its rheological performance,

compared to the hydrogel without GO. Besides, the loss viscosity of nanocomposite hydrogel was lesser, compared to the sample without GO. Furthermore, the rheology behaviors of the gel system were highly affected by the concentrations of graft copolymer nanocomposites and crosslinker. As well, the novel nanocomposite hydrogel system showed a high strength network, due to the abundance of functional units on graft copolymer nanocomposite structure to react with the crosslinker. Hence, according to these results, HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS) /GO hydrogel was found as a suitable hydrogel system with great viscosity and thermal stability which can be beneficial for use in enhanced oil application.

#### Funding

The authors are grateful to the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (RGPIN-2015-06425), the Canadian Foundation for Innovation, and the Université du Québec à Trois-Rivières.

#### **Disclosure statement**

The authors state that there is no competing interest in this article.

#### References

- Salehi, M. B.; Vasheghani-Farahani, E.; Sefti, M. V; Moghadam, A. M.; Naderi, H.
  Rheological and Transport Properties of Sulfonated Polyacrylamide Hydrogels for
  Water Shutoff in Porous Media. *Polym. Adv. Technol,* 2014, 5, 396-405. DOI: 10.1002/pat.3254.
- [2] Mohammadi, M. S.; Sahraei, E.; Bayati, B. Gelation Studies of High Molecular Weight Polymeric Nanoparticles for Application in Fractured Oil Reservoirs with

Harsh Conditions. *Energy Sources A: Recovery Util. Environ. Eff.* DOI:10.1080/15567036.2020.1788672.

- [3] Heidari, A.; Vasheghani-Farahani, E. Preformed Particle Gels of Sulfonated Polyacrylamide: Preparation, Characterization, and Application as Permeability Modifier. *Iran. Polym. J.* 2019, 28,1001-1013. DOI:10.1007/s13726-019-00759-7.
- [4] Hasankhani, G. M.; Madani, M.; Esmaeilzadeh, F.; Mowla, D.; Daryasafar, A. An Experimental Investigation of Polyacrylamide and Sulfonated Polyacrylamides-Based Gels Crosslinked with Cr (III)-acetate for Water Shutoff in Fractured Oil Reservoirs. *J. Dispers. Sci. Technol.* 2018, 39,1780-1789. DOI:10.1080/01932691.2018.1462712.
- [5] Koohi, A. D.; Seftie, M.V.; Ghalam, A. Z.; Moghadam, A. M.; Sabet, S. Z. Rheological Characteristics of Sulphonated Polyacrylamide/Chromium. *Iran. Polym. J.* 2010, 19, 757-770.
- [6] Singh, R.; Mahto, V. Synthesis, Characterization and Evaluation of Polyacrylamide Graft Starch/Clay Nanocomposite Hydrogel System for Enhanced Oil Recovery. *Pet. Sci.* 2017,14, 765-779. DOI:10.1007/s12182-017- 0185-y.
- [7] Zareie, C.; Vafaie-Sefti, M.; Vasheghani-Farahani, E.; Salehi, M. B. A.
  Polyacrylamide Hydrogel for Application at High Temperature and Salinity
  Tolerance in Temporary Well Plugging. *Iran. Polym. J.* 2018, 27, 577-587.
  DOI:10.1007/s13726-018-0634-5.
- [8] Elkarsani, K. S. M.; Al-Muntasheri, G. A.; Sultan, A. S.; Hussein, I. A. Performance of PAM/PEI Gel System for Water Shutoff in High-Temperature Reservoirs: Laboratory Study. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2015, 132, 1-10. DOI: 10.1002/app.41869.

- [9] Al-Hajri, S.; Mahmoodi, S. M.; Akbari, S.; Abdulelah, H. Gelation Behavior as a Function of Concentration of Sodium Thiosulfate for PAM Gels Cross-linked with Chromium. J. Pet. Explor. Prod. Technol. 2019, 9,1539-1546 DOI:10.1007/s13202-018-0566-9.
- [10] Narimani, A.; Kordnejad, F.; Kaur, P.; Bazgir, S.; Hemmati, M.; Duong, A. Rheological and Thermal Stability of Interpenetrating Polymer Network Hydrogel Based on Polyacrylamide/Hydroxypropyl Guar Reinforced with Graphene Oxide for Application in Oil Recovery. J. Polym. Eng. 2021, 41, 788-798. DOI:10.1515/polyeng-2021-0147.
- [11] Alvand, E.; Aalaie, J.; Hemmati, M.; Sajjadian, V. A. Rheological and Thermal Stability of Novel Weak Gels Based on Sulfonated Polyacrylamide/Scleroglucan/Chromium Triacetate. *Polym. Int.* 2017, 66, 477-484. DOI: 10.1002/pi.5287.
- [12] Alvand, E.; Aalaie, J.; Mahmood, H; Sajjadian, V. A. Thermal Stability, Adsorption and Rheological Behaviors of Sulfonated Polyacrylamide/Chromium Triacetate/Laponite Nanocomposite Weak Gels. *Macromol. Res.* 2017, 25, 27-37. DOI: 10.1007/s13233-017-5005-0.
- [13] Dang, T. Q. C.; Chen, Z.; Nguyen, T. B. N.; Bae, W. Rheological Modeling and Numerical Simulation of HPAM Polymer Viscosity in Porous Media. *Energy Sources A: Recovery Util. Environ. Eff.* 2015, 37, 2189-2197. DOI: 10.1080/15567036.2011.624156.
- [14] Haruna, M. A.; Pervaiz, S.; Hu, Z.; Nourafkan, E.; Wen, D. Improved Rheology and High-Temperature Stability of Hydrolyzed Polyacrylamide Using Graphene Oxide Nanosheet. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2019, 47582, 1-13. DOI: 10.1002/app.47582.

- [15] Hu, Z.; Haruna, M.; Gao, H.; Nourafkan, E. Rheological Properties of Partially Hydrolyzed Polyacrylamide Seeded by Nanoparticles. *J. Ind. Eng. Chem.* 2017, 56, 3456-3463. DOI: 10.1021/acs.iecr.6b05036.
- [16] Rahmatpour, A.; Soleimani, P. Synthesis and Characterization of Novel Semi-IPN Nanocomposite Hydrogels Based on Guar Gum, Partially Hydrolyzed Polyacrylamide, and Pristine Montmorillonite. *Polym. Bull.* 2021, 78, 5923-5952. DOI: 10.1007/s00289-020-03408-9.
- [17] Wang, D.; Tan, J.; Han, Y.; Guo, Y.; An, H. Synthesis and Properties of Temperature-Resistant and Salt-Tolerant Tetra-Acrylamide Copolymer. *J. Macromol. Sci. Part A: Pure Appl. Chem.* 2019, 56, 1148-1155. DOI: 10.1080/10601325.2019.1664912.
- [18] Li, F.; Zhu, W. X.; Yu, D.; Song, H.; Wang, K. Rheological Properties and Enhanced Oil Recovery Performance of a Novel Sulfonate Polyacrylamide. *J. Macromol. Sci. Part A: Pure Appl. Chem.* 2018, 55, 449-454. DOI: 10.1080/10601325.2018.1470462.
- [19] Aalaie.; J, Alvand, E.; Hemmati, M.; Sajjadian, V.A. Preparation and Probing of the Steady Shear Flow and Viscoelastic Properties of Weakly Crosslinked Hydrogels Based on Sulfonated Polyacrylamide for Oil Recovery Applications. *Polym. Sci. Ser. A.* 2015, 57, 680-687. DOI: 10.1134/S0965545X15050016
- [20] Zhang, P.; Wang, W.; Zhou, Y.; Ruan, G.; Yu, H.; Ji, W. Preparation and Solution Properties of a Novel Cationic Hydrophobically Modified Polyacrylamide for Enhanced Oil Recovery. J. Macromol. Sci. Part A: Pure Appl. Chem. 2018, 55, 764-769. DOI: 10.1080/10601325.2018.1526042.

- Wei, B.; Romero-Zero, L.; Rodrigue, D. Mechanical Properties, and Flow Behavior of Polymers for Enhanced Oil Recovery. *J. Macromol. Sci. Phys.* 2014, 53, 625-644.
   DOI: 10.1080/00222348.2013.857546.
- [22] Cheraghian, S.; Hendraningrat, L. A Review on Applications of Nanotechnology in the Enhanced Oil Recovery Part A: Effects of Nanoparticles on Interfacial Tension. *Int. Nano. Lett.* 2016, 6, 1-10. DOI: 10.1007/s40089-015-0170-7.
- [23] Jiang, C.; Xia, X.; Kang, S.; Dong, H.; Sakinejad, P.; Ma, Q.; Tang, Y. Neighboring Group Effect on the Thermal Degradation of Polyacrylamide and its Derivatives. J. Polym. Eng. 2019, 39, 239-247. DOI:10.1515/POLYENG-2018-0274.
- [24] Khakpour, H.; Abdollahi1, M.; Nasiri, A. Synthesis, Microstructural Characterization and Hydrophobic Intermolecular Nano-aggregation Behavior of Acrylamide/2-Acrylamido-2-Methy-1-Propane Sulfonic Acid/Butyl Acrylate co- and Terpolymers. J. Polym. Res. 2015, 22, 189-202. DOI:10.1007/s10965-015-0828-x.
- [25] Li, M.; Xie, D.; Guo, Z.; Lu, Y.; Guo, X. A Novel Terpolymer as Fluid Loss Additive for Oil Well Cement. *Int. J. Polym. Sci.* 2017, Article ID (3940394), 1-8. DOI: 10.1155/2017/3940394.
- [26] Mohammadi, M. S.; Sahraei, E.; Bayati, B. Synthesis Optimization and Characterization of High Molecular Weight Polymeric Nanoparticles as EOR Agent for Harsh Condition Reservoirs. *J. Polym. Res.* 2020, 27, 1-11. DOI: 10.1007/s10965-020-2017-9.
- [27] Durmaz, S.; Okay, O. Acrylamide/2-Acrylamido-2-Methylpropane Sulfonic Acid Sodium Salt-Based Hydrogels: Synthesis and Characterization. *Polymer*. 2000, 41, 3693-3704. DOI:10.1016/S0032-3861(99)00558-3.

- [28] Nayak, B. R.; Singh, R. P. 2001. Development of Graft Copolymer Flocculating Agents Based on Hydroxypropyl Guar Gum and Acrylamide. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2001, 81, 1776-1785. DOI:10.1002/app.1610.
- [29] Zhu, J.; Guan, S.; Hu, Q.; Gao. G.; Xu, K.; Wang, P. Tough, and pH-Sensitive Hydroxypropyl Guar Gum/Polyacrylamide Hybrid Double-Network Hydrogel. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2016, 306, 953-960. DOI: 10.1016/j.cej.2016.08.026.
- [30] Wang, S.; Tang, H.; Guo, J.; Wang, K. Effect of pH on the Rheological Properties of Borate Crosslinked Hydroxypropyl Guar Gum Hydrogel and Hydroxypropyl Guar Gum. *Carbohydr. Polym.* 2016, 147, 455-463. DOI: 10.1016/j.carbpol.2016.04.029.
- [31] Jafarigol, E.; Salehi, M. B.; Mortaheb, H. R. Preparation and Assessment of Electroconductive Poly (Acrylamide-co-Acrylic Acid) Carboxymethyl Cellulose/Reduced Graphene Oxide Hydrogel with High Viscoelasticity. *Chem. Eng. Res. Des.* 2020, 162, 74-84. DOI: 10.1016/j.cherd.2020.07.020.
- [32] Atassi, Y.; Said, M.; Tally, M.; Kouba, L. Synthesis and Characterization of Chitosan-g-poly (AMPS-co-AA-co-AM)/Ground Basalt Composite Hydrogel: Antibacterial Activity. *Polym. Bull.* 2020, 77, 5281-5302. DOI: 10.1007/s00289-019-03017-1.
- [33] Zhang, H.; Zhai, D.; He, Y. Graphene Oxide/Polyacrylamide/Carboxymethyl Cellulose Sodium Nanocomposite Hydrogel with Enhanced Mechanical Strength: Preparation, Characterization and the Swelling Behavior. *RSC. Adv.* 2014, 4, 44600-44609. DOI:10.1039/C4RA07576E.
- [34] Moazzami, M.; Sharif, F. Enhancement of Dispersion and Bonding of Graphene-Polymer Through Wet Transfer of Functionalized Graphene Oxide. *EXPRESS. Polym. Lett.* 2012, 6, 1017-1031. DOI: 10.3144/expresspolymlett.2012.107.

- [35] Liu, X.; Shao, X. Y.; Fang, G. B.; Hai, H.; Wan, Z. G. Preparation, and Properties of Chemically Reduced Graphene Oxide/Copolymer Polyamide Nanocomposite Hydrogels. *e Polymer*. 2017, 17, 3-14. DOI:10.1515/epoly-2016-0094.
- [36] Fan, J.; Shi, Z.; Lian, M.; Li, H.; Yin, J. Mechanically Strong Graphene Oxide/Sodium Alginate/Polyacrylamide Nanocomposite Hydrogel with Improved Dye Adsorption Capacity. J. Mater. Chem. A. 2013, 1,7433-7443. DOI: 10.1039/C3TA10639J.
- [37] Kheirabadi, M.; Bagheri, R.; Kabiri, K.; Ossipov, D.; Jokar, E.; Asadian, E. Improvement in Mechanical Performance of Anionic Hydrogels Using Full-Interpenetrating Polymer Network Reinforced with Graphene Oxide Nanosheets. *Adv. Polym. Technol.* 2016, 35, 1-10. DOI:10.1002/adv.21563.
- [38] Nguyen, B. D.; Ngo, T. K.; Buil, T. H.; Pham, D. K.; Dinh, X. L.; Nguyen, P. T. The Impact of Graphene Oxide Particles on Viscosity Stabilization for Diluted Polymer Solutions Using in Enhanced Oil Recovery at HTHP Offshore Reservoirs. *Adv. Nat. Sci.: Nanosci. Nanotechnol.* 2015, 6, 1-8. DOI:10.1088/2043-6262/6/1/015012.
- [39] Dai, H.; Zhang, Y.; Ma, L.; Zhang, H.; Huang, H. Synthesis and Response of Pineapple Peel Carboxymethyl Cellulose-g-poly (Acrylic Acid-co-Acrylamide)/Graphene Oxide Hydrogels. *Carbohydr. Polym.* 2019, 215, 366-376. DOI: 10.1016/j.carbpol.2019.03.090.
- [40] Boroujeni, K. P.; Tohidiyan, Z.; Fadavi, A.; Eskandari, M. M., Shahsanaei, H. A. Synthesis and Catalytic Application of poly (2-Acrylamido-2-Methyl-1-Propanesulfonic Acid-co-Acrylamide) Grafted on Graphene Oxide. *Chemistry. Select.* 2019, 4, 7734-7744. DOI:10.1002/slct.201900695.

- [41] Al-Gaashani, R.; Najjarc, A.; Zakaria, Y.; Mansour, S.; Atieha, M. A. XPS and Structural Studies of High-Quality Graphene Oxide and Reduced Graphene Oxide Prepared by Different Chemical Oxidation Methods. *Ceram. Int.* 2019, 45, 14439-14448. DOI: 10.1016/j.ceramint.2019.04.165.
- [42] Narimani, A.; Kordnejad, F.; Kaur, P.; Trivedi, J.; Najmeddine, F.; Hemmati, M.; Duong, A. Synthesis and Preparation of poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO Nanocomposites Hydrogel as a Rheology Modifier and Fluid Loss Controller for Use in Oil Well Cementing. *J. Dispers. Sci. Technol.* DOI: 10.1080/01932691.2022.2039687. Published online: Feb, 21, 2022.
- [43] Huang, Y.; Zeng, M.; Wang, J.; Fan, L.; Xu, Q. Preparation and Swelling Properties of Graphene Oxide /Poly (Acid-co-Acrylamide) Super Absorbent Hydrogel Nanocomposites. *Colloids Surf. A: Physicochem. Eng. Asp.* 2012, 401, 97-106. DOI:10.1016/j.colsurfa.2012.03.031.
- [44] Jin, T.; Yin, H.; Easton, C. E.; Seeber, A.; Hao, X.; Huang, C.; Zeng, R. New Strategy of Improving the Dispersibility of Acrylamide-Functionalized Graphene Oxide in Aqueous Solution by RAFT Copolymerization of Acrylamide and Acrylic Acid. *Eur. Polym. J.* 2019, 117, 148-158. DOI: 10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2019.05.029.
- [45] Soliman, F. M.; Yang, W.; Guo, H.; Shinger, M. I.; Idris, A. M.; Hassan, E. S. Preparation of Carboxymethyl Cellulose-g-Poly (Acrylic Acid-2-Acrylamido-2-Methylpropane Sulfonic Acid)/Attapulgite Superabsorbent Composite. *Am. J. Polym. Sci. Technol.* 2016, 2, 11-19. DOI: 10.11648/j.ajpst.20160201.12.
- [46] Zhu, H.; Yao, X. Synthesis and Characterization of poly (Acrylamide-co-2acrylamido-2-methylpropane Sulfonic Acid)/Kaolin Superabsorbent Composite. J.

Macromol. Sci. Part A: Pure Appl. Chem. 2013, 50, 175-184. DOI: 10.1080/10601325.2013.741891.

- [47] Liu, R.; Liang, S.; Tang, X. Z.; Yan, D.; Li, X.; Yu, Z. Z. Tough and Highly Stretchable Graphene Oxide/Polyacrylamide Nanocomposite Hydrogels. J. Mater. Chem. 2012, 22, 14160-14167. DOI: 10.1039/C2JM32541A.
- [48] Haraguchi, K.; Takehisa, T.; Fan, S. Effects of Clay Content on the Properties of Nanocomposite Hydrogels Composed of Poly (N-isopropyl Acryl Amide) and Clay. *Macromol.* 2002, 35, 10162-10171. DOI: 10.1021/ma021301r.
- [49] Liu, Y.; Liu, L.; Wang, Y.; Zhua, G.; Tan, W. The Rheological Behavior of Graphite Oxide/Cationic Polyacrylamide Suspensions. *RSC Adv.* 2016, 6, 102938-102946.
   DOI:10.1039/C6RA18527D.
- [50] Tarash, S.; Nazockdast, H.; Sodeifian, G. Reinforcing Effect of Graphene Oxide on Mechanical Properties, Self-Healing Performance, and Recoverability of Double Network Hydrogel Based on K-carrageenan and Polyacrylamide. *Polymer*. 2019, 183, 121837. DOI: 10.1016/j.polymer.2019.121837.
- [51] Salimi, F.; Vafaie, M.; Jarrahian, K.; Rafipoor, M.; Ghorashi, S. S. Preparation and Investigation of the Physical and Chemical Properties of Clay-Based Polyacrylamide/Cr (III) Hydrogels as a Water Shut-off Agent in Oil Reservoir. *Korean J. Chem. Eng.* 2014, 31, 986-993. DOI:10.1007/s11814-014-0023-5.
- [52] Singh, R.; Kant, K.; Mahto, V. Preparation, Characterization and Core Flood Investigation of Polyacrylamide/Clay Nanocomposite Hydrogel System for Enhanced Oil Recovery. J Macromol. Sci. Part B. Physics. 2016, 55, 1051-1067. DOI:10.1080/00222348.2016.1238332.
[53] Haruna, M. A.; Gardy, J.; Yao, G.; Hu, Z.; Hondow, N.; Wen, D. Nanoparticle Modified Polyacrylamide for Enhanced Oil Recovery at Harsh Conditions. *Fuel.* 2020, 268, 1-19. DOI: 10.1016/j.fuel.2020.117186.



Figure 1. a) Schematic of the preparation procedure of HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO;

b) TEM of HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO at 0.1 wt.% of GO.



Figure 2. XRD of GO, graft copolymer, and graft copolymer nanocomposites.



Figure 3. FTIR spectra of a) GO, graft copolymer nanocomposite b)0; c) 0.1 and d) 0.3

wt.% of GO.



Figure 4. (a) SEM, (b) TEM and (c) EDX of graphene oxide.



Figure 5. SEM images of HPG-g- poly (AMPS-co-AM)/GO a)0; b) 0.1; c) 0.3

wt.% of GO.



Figure 6. TEM images of HPG-g- poly (AMPS-co-AM)/GO at 0.3 wt.% of GO.



Figure7. EDX spectrum and element mapping of HPG-g- poly (AMPS-co-

AM)/GO.



Figure 8. Influence of GO on a) viscosity vs. shear rate of hydrogels; b) storage and

c) loss modulus vs. frequency.



Figure 9. The influence of time on the viscosity stability.



Figure 10. Viscosity vs shear rate of hydrogel after aging.



Figure 11. Thermal stability of hydrogel and nanocomposite hydrogel.



Figure 12. Effect of graft copolymer nanocomposites concentration on a) gel viscosity and

b) on the storage modulus.



Figure 13. Influence of cross-linker concentration on gel viscosity.

#### 5.4. Conclusion

In this chapter, the study serves a dual purpose (i) investigate the synthesis of graft copolymer nanocomposite based on hydroxypropyl guar (HPG) graft acrylamide (AM) and 2acryloamido-2-methyl propane sulfonic acid (AMPS), reinforced with graphene oxide (GO) and (ii) study its ability for the development of the copolymer-based hydrogel systems by crosslinker to use in EOR applications. The existence of GO nanosheet and its uniform distribution throughout the graft copolymer nanocomposite was also determined using XRD, FTIR, SEM, EDX, and TEM. The rheological results presented the great performance of crosslinked hydrogel structure of HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO, due to the linking of AM with AMPS and grafting on the HPG chains and the surface of GO in presence of chromium triacetate. Thermal stability results revealed a greater enhancement of the resistance to temperature for HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO hydrogel as compared with the sample without GO by TGA. The influence of graft copolymer nanocomposite and crosslinker concentrations on the performance of hydrogel was also studied and optimized. This work enlightens the design of a novel graft copolymer hydrogel system with high shearing stability and temperatures in EOR applications.

## **Chapter 6**

**Conclusions and Perspectives** 

#### **6.1.** Conclusions

Intense research has been focused on the development of hydrogel systems for the advancements in EOR technology. This steep rise in demands can be perceived due to the exponential growth in global demand and shortage of availability of current energy sources. Energy crisis being the most affected sector, new materials and systems need to be developed to harvest and store energies efficiently. Among the various classes of materials used, gel polymer is one of the great materials to address these issues due to its versatility in structural engineering. In the thesis, this approach has been applied to expand various novel hydrogel nanocomposite characterization and properties of HPAM/HPG by IPN technique in presence of GO and also AM-based hydrogel system by graft copolymerization of AM with AMPS grafted on HPG chains and GO surface that introduces the desired properties of the strength and viscosity stability in harsh condition of the reservoir. The performance of all nano hydrogels was also evaluated by rheological tests at high salinities and temperatures. Chapter 1 introduced definitions, a brief literature review on previous works of literature and the project overview, including the general aim and specific objectives. This chapter give an idea of the objectives that are focused on the various projects undertaken in this thesis. These include (i) design an approach on addressing the issues such as enhanced oil recovery and its applications, (ii) interpenetrating polymer network and graft copolymerization technique for fabricating the polymer solution, (iii) construction of hydrogel polymers to prove the concept of forming three-dimensional structure using watersoluble polymers and cross-linker, (iv) development of AM-based gel system using the modifier monomers or natural polymers in presence of chromium triacetate for the extent of a new class of cross-linked hydrogel polymer, (v) synthesis of a GO nanosheet which consists of multifunctional sites, (vi) development of strength and viscosity of gel polymers

based on nanoparticles for using in EOR applications. Chapter 2 presented the materials and methods required for the development of the project.

#### 6.1.1. HPAM/HPG/GO semi IPN hydrogel system

To fulfill these objectives, adequate strategies were implemented to construct hydrogel systems with specific properties desired. For the semi IPN hydrogel systems in chapter 3, the mixing and reaction were employed between HPAM and HPG chains in attendance of GO as a thermal reinforcer by chemical cross-linker through hydrogen bonds. GO was selected depending on the desired properties. The obtained results have demonstrated the dependency of GO on improving the thermal and viscosity stability that was relevant to the good dispersion of GO and its interaction with polymer chains. FTIR results showed the interactions of GO surface with chains of HPAM/HPG matrix by hydrogen bonding to form the network structure. Understanding the uniform dispersion in the hydrogel matrix was performed by SEM. The conductivity test for further understanding of uniform dispersion of GO in the matrix to form a network structure of GOs was also done. The GO should be uniformly dispersed in the matrix to ensure the stability and homogeneity of nanofluids, resulting in an increase in the shear viscosity of the IPN hydrogel. It was observed that the addition of 0.5 wt.% of GO, did not cause much improvement in the rheology behavior of the HPAM/HPG solution. The increased temperatures caused a decrease in the viscosity of all the samples. However, the IPN nanocomposite hydrogel showed higher thermal stability than the sample without GO. The shear viscosity of HPAM/HPG/GO, after 51 min was stable, at both temperatures 200 and 240 °F, which suggests the potential applicability of semi-gel polymeric systems for oil recovery applications. Long-term aging of the nano samples was improved as compared with the sample without GO, particularly at 0.1 wt.% of GO. Therefore, it can be concluded from

these results that the HPAM/HPG/GO nanocomposite hydrogel presents suitable thermal and viscosity stability which may be beneficial for use in a high-temperature reservoir. This chapter gives an insight to the scientific community on HPAM/HPG hydrogel with the helping of GO as a multifunctional agent which can be used to prepare a new class of gel polymers.

### 6.1.2. Poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO copolymer nanocomposite hydrogel systems

Most of the gel polymer solutions known to date have been mainly made with acrylamide. However, its application is imitated in harsh conditions such as high temperature, salinity and shear stability. Hence, it is necessary to modify its structure to overcome such limitations/drawbacks. In order to investigate the potential of AMPS as one of the sulfonated monomer modifiers together with GO for thermal and strength enhancement, a novel copolymer nanocomposite hydrogel based on poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO was synthesized. The synthesized copolymer hydrogel system was described in chapter 4.

This chapter mainly focuses on the synthesis and characterization of the novel hydrogel as a fluid loss controller and rheology modifier for use in oil well cementing. In addition, the influence of GO on the strength structure of copolymer nanocomposites hydrogel based on poly (AM-co-AMPS) was evaluated. The XRD, FTIR, and TGA results indicated that the AM monomer and AMPS were synthesized and grafted on the GO surface. In addition, the attendance of NMBA as a cross-linker boosts the strength of the copolymer hydrogel network structure. The morphology results showed the uniform GO dispersion in the AM and AMPS copolymer matrix. Thermal analyses were also performed on all the samples synthesized by TGA. Moreover, the results displayed that the addition of the 1 wt.% of copolymer nanocomposite hydrogel as a rheology modifier improved viscosity property, control fluid loss value, compressive strength of cement slurry, as compared to cement slurry without nanocomposite copolymer hydrogel. However, obtained results of the rheological, fluid loss controller, and compressive strength display that the crosslinked nanocomposite hydrogel has a great performance as a rheology modifier and a fluid loss controller than as a strengthening enhancer on cement slurry. This study has opened a new door for the research on synthesized GO in hydrogel copolymer systems based on AM and AMPS, making it a promising candidate for gel polymers. Abundant functionality group in hydrogel structure makes great performance in the EOR.

# 6.1.3. HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO graft copolymer nanocomposite hydrogel system

The next objective of the thesis was to focus on the effect of prepared GO and its performance in novel hydrogel polymers systems. Chapter 5 discusses the development of the network structure of hydrogel system based on HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS)/GO via graft polymerization technique using graft copolymerization of AM and AMPS onto HPG in presence of GO, and the study of its ability as a copolymer nanocomposite gel system using chromium triacetate was investigated in EOR applications. The synthesized GO was selected as a thermal reinforcer and multifunctional crosslinker. The structure and morphology of the prepared GO were characterized by scanning electron microscopy, scanning, transmission electron microscopy, FTIR and XRD. The frequency sweep tests showed that graft copolymer nanocomposite hydrogel has a predominant elastic behavior over the whole frequency range. The addition of GO improved the elastic response of the graft copolymer solution, whereas increasing GO showed an opposite effect. Differences in behavior corresponded to the interactions between the surface of the GO and the chains of

the hydrogel matrix. GO nanosheet led to the formation of a gel structure, which was confirmed by the dominant storage modulus over the loss modulus (G'>G'') in the frequency range. The reduction in the incremental viscosity stability observed with the increased GO concentrations corresponded to the formation and aggregation of GO and weaken the interaction between GO and graft copolymer chains. As expected, GO enhanced viscosity and thermal stability of nanocomposite hydrogel at a temperature as high as 115 °C, and improved its rheological performance, compared to the hydrogel without GO. Furthermore, these results encouraged us to investigate the optimized gel formation in electrolyte media, then the rheology behaviors of the gel system were highly affected by the concentrations of graft copolymer nanocomposites and crosslinker. According to the results, it is concluded that HPG-g-poly (AM-co-AMPS) /GO hydrogel was developed in this study as potential injection agents which can enhance oil recovery owing to its greater viscosity and thermal stability at high temperatures.

#### **6.2.** Perspectives

This research has focused on various aspects, such as the development of a new class of polymeric materials, viscosity stability in electrolyte media and high temperature that address issues related to hydrogel systems for EOR applications. However, the following recommendations can be made for further study on the use of surface modification and developing the gel polymer system in oil recovery.

 Inspired by the novel full IPN hydrogel, synthesis of novel extended AM and AMPS with crosslinker and HPG with borate as a crosslinker can be accomplished. These new full IPN hydrogel can be an asset for the replacement of semi IPN thereby improving the desired properties of the material developed in EOR applications.

- The copolymer solution developed in chapter 5 can be further investigated for its other properties using the NMBA as a preformed particle gel. The work highlights that the network structure enhances by graft copolymerization AM and AMPS with HPG. Thus, an effort on developing new hydrogel as a copolymer solution can also be focused upon to attain various other interesting properties and can be applied in polymer flooding and also hydraulic fracturing with low concertation.
- More research is required to find the effective particle size, concentrations by using the reduced graphene oxide and its effect on the IPN or graft copolymer hydrogel structure to achieve the great cross-linked hydrogel structure with high multifunctional groups on the structure to absorb and hold a large volume of water or other aqueous fluids for several hours while being under pressure.
- In order to further develop hydrogel systems, some other interesting cross linker can also be applied with novel HPG-g-poly (AMPS-co-AM)/GO as a polymer solution. One such promising cross linker is to use the organic crosslinker-like polyethyleneimine (PEI) through covalent bonds that have interesting mechanical strength along with a suitable gel time for reservoirs of more than 125 °C to ensure proper treatment of the deeper zone of producing water.
- Another interesting class of nanoparticles that can be developed gel polymer system in the high-temperature application is to apply GO-g-modified CNT as a great thermal and multifunctional crosslinker. The degree of dispersion of GO/CNT in the polymer solution and its interfacial interaction play an important role in enhancing the properties of the polymer nanohybrids.

- One interesting area for future study consideration is the use of combinations of nanostructured materials including GO/CNT-based fluids with high thermal stability for hydrate formation. This will be of benefit to the oil and gas industry.
- However, more research is required to further understand the effect of these sorts of nanocomposite hydrogels in the reservoir in terms of operation by core flow testing, compatibility tests and contact angle test.
- The effect of oil composition and the content of divalent cations on the performance of the hydrogel require investigation.